

Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture University of Pavia

Phosphate Recovery from Aerobic Wastewater Bio-P Sludge through Precipitation Process: Understanding, Experimentation and Optimization

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Saba Daneshgar

Supervisor: Prof. Andrea G. Capodaglio

Ph.D. Cycle XXXI Pavia, Italy © Saba Daneshgar, 2019

Supervisor:

Prof. Andrea G. Capodaglio Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture (DICAr) University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Ph.D. Tutor:

Prof. Stefano Sibilla Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture (DICAr) University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Ph.D. Coordinator:

Prof. Ferdinando Auricchio Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture (DICAr) University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Dean:

Prof. Lalo Magni Faculty of Engineering University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Rector:

Prof. Fabio Rugge University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

Italian translation of the thesis title:

Recupero di Fosfati dai Fanghi Bio-P di Acque Reflue Aerobici attraverso il Processo di Precipitazione: Comprensione, Sperimentazione e Ottimizzazione.

Please refer to this thesis as following:

Daneshgar, S., 2019. Phosphate Recovery from Aerobic Wastewater Bio-P Sludge through Precipitation Process: Understanding, Experimentation and Optimization, PhD Thesis, Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy.

The author and supervisor give the authorization to consult and to copy parts of this work for personal use only. Every other use is subject to copyright laws. Permission to reproduce any material contained in this work should be obtained from the author.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank Prof. Andrea G. Capodaglio, my supervisor, who gave me this opportunity to do my Ph.D. in his research group at the University of Pavia. Without his help and support this thesis could have not been developed. It was a true privilege for me to work with such an amazing and supportive professor.

My sincere thanks to Prof. Armando Buttafava, a fantastic chemist, whose guidance and support during the entire Ph.D. program makes this thesis the way it is. Words are inapt to explain how much I am grateful for his advice and assist. His patience and remarkable effort throughout the project are truly appreciated.

Special thanks to Prof. Arianna Callegari who helped me a lot during the past three years with her advice and comments on my work. Her amiable and kind personality made my stay in this group an enjoyable and unforgettable experience.

Many thanks to Prof. David Vaccari for his sincere collaboration in the first part of this thesis and sharing his deep knowledge and experience with me during this project.

I also would like to thank Daniele Molognoni who selflessly helped me in the beginning of my Ph.D. study to adapt to the new working environment and taught me a lot of things.

I am also grateful to Prof. Peter Vanrolleghem at the Laval Université, Quebec, Canada, who supported me a lot during my six-month visiting stay at his group modelEAU. Peter is such an amazing person to work with and it was my honor to spend my visiting research period collaborating with him. I also appreciate all the support of Prof. Céline Vaneeckhaute whose expertise in the field of chemical modeling helped me a lot during my project. I was so privileged to get a chance to know her.

I was very pleased to have a wonderful friend during these past three years, Daniele Cecconet, who was my Ph.D. fellow in this group. He has an admirable character and we experienced lots of enjoyable and cheerful moments together. He made a pleasant atmosphere in our working environment, which is something you barely find anymore these days. I would like to thank him for his friendship, companionship, and support.

A lot of thanks to all my friends, with whom I spent great moments during these years. They are all important parts of my life that reinforced my energy and strength to continue my work.

I also would like to acknowledge the CARIPLO foundation that financed this project and to express my sincere thanks to responsible persons of the NOSEDO WRRF for their collaboration during this project.

Of course, many thanks to Prof. Céline Vaneeckhaute and Prof. David Vaccari for their revision on this Ph.D. thesis.

I also would like to express my gratitude to my lovely family, to my father and to my mother, who selflessly supported me with their love during all these years of being away from home and to my amazing sister that has been always like a true friend for me.

Last, but not definitely the least, many thanks to my lovely and fantastic wife, Negar, who was always with me in all happy and sad moments during my Ph.D. She always encouraged me to aim for the ambitious goals in my life and truly believed in me and in my skills. Words cannot explain how much lucky and grateful I am to have such an amazing person in my life. "Education is an admirable thing, but it is well to remember from time to time that nothing that is worth knowing can be taught."

> Oscar Wilde 1854-1900

Abstract

Struvite precipitation process is one the most effective approaches for recovery of phosphorus in the form of a valuable product, which could be used as a fertilizer. Despite struvite added value as a product, its application at full scale is not very common worldwide due to its economic concern of requiring the addition of Mg and NaOH to the system. The process of struvite precipitation is generally applied to the dewatered sludge after anaerobic digestion where the concentration of phosphorus is sufficiently high. Although it could be possible to use the aerobic sludge taken from the activated sludge process in which phosphorus release is happening in the anaerobic stage and a luxury uptake occurs in the aerobic zone.

Lab-scale experimentation was carried out in this thesis on the process of struvite precipitation using the aerobic sludge taken from Nosedo WRRF, Milan, Italy. The impact of different reaction parameters has been studied on the process of struvite precipitation. Particular attention was paid to the effect of pH, Mg:NH₄:P molar ratio and presence of calcium. The results showed that abundant amount of Mg and NH₄ are required for significant struvite precipitation. The analysis of precipitates using FTIR, XRD, TGA-MS, ICP-AES and Elemental analysis showed the presence of struvite in notable amounts for the experiments with 5:5:1 molar ratio at pH=8.5 and 9.0. in addition, the use of Ca(OH)₂ as an economic pH adjustment reagent showed a decent potential for obtaining an amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) precipitates alternatively to the pure struvite.

Chemical equilibrium modeling and statistical optimization of the process of struvite precipitation were conducted using PHREEQC software and Response Surface Methodology (RSM) respectively with Saturation Index and P removal % as response variables. The results showed that struvite, ACP and calcite are three main solid phases that could precipitate in operating conditions of the experiments. It is also noted that the only parameter affecting significantly on the P removal was the pH while Ca:Mg and NH₄:P were also significantly important for the struvite SI. It can be concluded that as the pH increases the P removal also increases but the possibility of struvite precipitation diminishes since the struvite SI is decreasing.

Pilot-scale study of the phosphate precipitation process was implemented using synthetic solution with the characteristics of aerobic sludge. The effect of pH and retention time of the reaction were studied. The pH of the reactor was controlled at two points using PID-Time Proportional control system. The result of the pH control was very satisfactory and kept the pH level sufficiently stable during the entire experimentation. The results demonstrated that P removal is not much dependent on the retention time and is decreasing rapidly with the start of the reaction and then reaches at the stable level where it does not improve anymore. It was also observed that RT of 60 minutes is enough for reaction completion but not for substantial crystal growth. The FTIR results showed the possibility of having a ACP-rich product. In addition, using sodium alginate demonstrated a potential for increasing struvite precipitation possibility by reducing calcium concentration by 20% and improving the Mg:Ca ratio.

Riassunto

Il processo di precipitazione della Struvite è uno dei metodi più efficaci per il recupero del fosforo (P) sotto forma di un prodotto di grande valore, che può essere usato come fertilizzante. Nonostante il valore aggiunto della struvite, la applicazione del processo di precipitazione su vasta scala non è molto comune a causa del costo dovuto alla necessaria aggiunta di Mg e NaOH. La precipitazione della struvite viene generalmente applicata al fango disidratato, in seguito alla digestione anaerobica, dove la concentrazione di fosforo è sufficientemente elevata. In alternativa è possibile utilizzare il fango aerobico prelevato dal processo a fanghi attivi, in cui avviene un rilascio di fosforo nella zona anaerobica e un "luxury uptake" nella zona aerobica.

In questa tesi è stata svolta una sperimentazione a scala di laboratorio sulla precipitazione della struvite utilizzando il fango aerobico prelevato dall'impianto di trattamento acque reflue di Nosedo (Milano, Italia). L'impatto di diversi parametri di reazione è stato studiato. Particolare attenzione è stata posta sull'effetto del pH, del rapporto molare Mg:NH₄:P, e della presenza di calcio. I risultati hanno mostrato che sono necessarie abbondanti quantità di Mg e NH₄ per la significativa precipitazione della struvite. L'analisi dei precipitati usando FTIR, XRD, TGA-MS, ICP-AES ed Elemental Analysis ha mostrato la presenza di struvite in quantità notevoli per gli esperimenti con rapporto molare 5:5:1 a pH = 8,5 e 9,0. Inoltre, l'uso di Ca(OH)₂ come reagente economico per l'aggiustamento del pH ha mostrato un discreto potenziale per ottenere precipitati ricchi di fosfato di calcio amorfo (ACP) alternativi alla struvite pura.

La modellizzazione dell'equilibrio chimico e l'ottimizzazione statistica del processo sono state condotte utilizzando rispettivamente il software PHREEQC e la RSM per due variabili; Struvite Saturation Index e P removal %. I risultati hanno mostrato che la struvite, il ACP e la calcite sono tre principali solidi che possono precipitare nelle condizioni operative degli esperimenti. Si è notato inoltre che l'unico parametro che influisce in modo significativo sulla rimozione del P è il pH, mentre i rapporti molari Ca:Mg e NH₄:P erano anche significativamente importanti per la SI. Si può concludere che all'aumentare del pH aumenta anche la rimozione del P, ma diminuisce la possibilità di precipitazione di struvite da quando la SI sta diminuendo.

Lo studio su scala pilota del processo è stato implementato utilizzando una soluzione sintetica con le caratteristiche del fango aerobico. Sono stati studiati l'effetto del pH e il tempo di ritenzione della reazione (RT). Il pH era controllato all'interno del reattore usando il sistema di controllo PID-Time Proportional. Il risultato è stato molto soddisfacente nel mantenere il pH stabile. I risultati hanno dimostrato che la rimozione del P non dipende significativamente dal tempo di ritenzione; il fosforo diminuisce rapidamente dall'inizio della reazione e raggiunge rapidamente un livello stabile. È stato anche osservato che un RT di 60 minuti è sufficiente per il completamento della reazione, ma non per una crescita cristallina sostanziale. I risultati della FTIR hanno mostrato la possibilità di ottenere un prodotto ricco di ACP. Inoltre, l'uso di alginato di sodio ha mostrato un potenziale per aumentare la possibilità di precipitare di struvite riducendo la concentrazione di calcio del 20% e migliorando il rapporto Mg:Ca.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
ABSTRACT	VI
RIASSUNTO	VIII
TABLE OF CONTENTS	x
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
LIST OF TABLES	XIX
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XXII
1. INTRODUCTION AND THESIS DESCRIPTION	2
1.1. Scientific Background	2
1.2. OBJECTIVES	4
1.3. NOVELTY AND ORIGINALITY	5
1.4. Thesis Description	
1.5. References	
2. THE POTENTIAL PHOSPHORUS CRISIS: RESOURCE CONSERVA	TION AND
POSSIBLE ESCAPE TECHNOLOGIES: A REVIEW	
2.1. INTRODUCTION	
2.2. Phosphorus Rock Reserves	20
2.2.1. Current Phosphorus Production, Consumption and Resources	21
2.2.2. Future Trends	24
2.3. Phosphorus Cycle	27
2.3.1. Streamlining the Human P Cycle	
2.4. Environmental Effects of Phosphorus Pollution	
2.4.1. Phosphorus Removal	

2.5. Phosphorus Recovery	
2.5.1. Struvite Crystallization	
2.5.2. P Recovery by Assimilation	
2.5.3. Membrane Technologies	
2.6. CONSIDERATIONS ON THE ENERGY-NUTRIENT NEXUS IN WRRFS	
2.7. Conclusions	40
2.8. References	40
3. SIMULATIONS AND LABORATORY TESTS FOR ASSESSING PHOSE	PHORUS
RECOVERY EFFICIENCY FROM SEWAGE SLUDGE	52
3.1. INTRODUCTION	
3.2 THE PHOSPHORUS RESOURCES ISSUE	53
	55
2.4. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.4. MATERIALS AND INETHODS	
3.4.1. Model Description	
3.4.2. Experimental Setup	
3.5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
3.6. CONCLUSIONS	
3.7. References	67
4. IMPACT OF PH AND IONIC MOLAR RATIOS ON PHOSPHORUS FO	ORMS
PRECIPITATION AND RECOVERY FROM DIFFERENT WASTEWATER	SLUDGES74
4.1. INTRODUCTION	75
4.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
4.2.1. Synthetic Struvite	
4.2.2. Sludge characteristics	
4.2.3. Equipment and Analytical tools	
4.2.4. Chemical Equilibrium modeling for SI calculation	
4.2.5. Extended-aeration Sludge Experimental Setup	

4.3.1. Synthetic Struvite	81
4.3.2. Analysis of Precipitates	83
4.3.3. Effect of Different Reaction Parameters on Oxidation Sludge	
4.3.4. Using Ca(OH) $_2$ as pH adjustment reagent	93
4.4. DISCUSSION	
4.5. Conclusions	
4.6. References	
5. STATISTICAL OPTIMIZATION OF STRUVITE PRECIPITATION FRO	М
WASTEWATER SLUDGE BY COMBINING CHEMICAL MODELING AN	ND RESPONSE
SURFACE METHODOLOGY (RSM)	103
5.1. INTRODUCTION	104
5.2. Struvite chemistry, kinetics and thermodynamics	105
5.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	107
5.3.1. Sludge characteristics	
5.3.2. Analytical methods	
5.3.3. Experimental setup	
5.3.4. Chemical equilibrium modeling using PHREEQC	
5.3.5. Statistical modeling	
5.4. Results and discussion	111
5.4.1. Chemical equilibrium modeling	
5.4.2. Analysis of the final precipitates	
5.4.3. Statistical modeling	
5.5. Conclusions	121
5.6. References	
6. PILOT-SCALE STUDY OF PHOSPHATE PRECIPITATION PROCESS	FROM

SYNTHETIC AEROBIC SLUDGE	
--------------------------	--

6.1. INTRODUCTION	
6.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	

6.2.1. Synthetic Aerobic Sludge130
6.2.2. Pilot Setup
6.2.3. Equipment and Analytical Tools132
6.2.4. pH Control System
6.2.5. Experimental Setup
6.3. RESULTS
6.3.1. pH control
6.3.2. Effect of pH
6.3.3. Effect of Retention Time
6.3.4. Analysis of the Precipitates139
6.4. CONCLUSIONS
6.5. Future Studies
6.6. References
7. CONCLUSIONS

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Discovery of phosphate rock reserves in the last century (based on Sheldon, 1987). The y-axis indicates the cumulative amount of P reserves discovered up to the year on x-axis. 20
Figure 2.2. Global P production and consumption shares (based on IFA, 2016) 22
Figure 2.3. Global production of phosphate rock (blue) coupled with world population (red) in time [Vaccari, 2015]
Figure 2.4. Geographical distribution of the world's known PR reserves (based on Jasinski, 2014).
Figure 2.5. Historical trend for per capita phosphate rock production (based on Vaccari, 2015).
Figure 2.6. Natural phosphorus cycle in aquatic and terrestrial environments (based on [Filippelli, 2013, Pierrou, 1976)
Figure 2.7. The natural and anthropogenic (agricultural) phosphorus cycles
Figure 2.8. (a) Open phosphorus cycle, (b) Closed phosphorus cycle with recovery process (based on Childers et al., 2011, Desmidt et al., 2015)
Figure 2.9. Possible phosphorus recovery locations in a conventional WRRF, S: Sludge phase, L: Liquid phase, A: sludge Ash (based on Desmidt et al., 2015, Cornel and Shaum, 2009)
Figure 3.1. The natural and anthropogenic (agricultural) phosphorus cycles
Figure 3.2. Possible phosphorus recovery locations in a conventional wastewater treatment plant (WRRF) (based on Mew 2011, Scholz and Wellmer, 2013)
Figure 3.3. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectra of the precipitates obtained at different levels of pH
Figure 3.4. Theoretical saturation index (SI) values calculated by PHREEQC for possible solid phases
Figure 4.1. Process flow diagram of Nosedo (top) and Pavia (bottom) WRRFs78
Figure 4.2. Synthetic lab-produced Struvite78
Figure 4.3. Experimental setup of the struvite precipitation process
Figure 4.4. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of synthetic struvite
Figure 4.5. XRD analysis pattern of synthetic struvite

Figure 4.6. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) of precipitates from AD sludge sample
Figure 4.7. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of precipitates from denitrification sludge sample
Figure 4.8. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of precipitates from aerobic sludge sample 87
Figure 4.9. FTIR of Na ₂ HPO ₄
Figure 4.10. FTIR total spectral range, and detail of spectrum used for the analysis (1200-2000 cm ⁻¹)
Figure 4.11. XRD pattern for the experiment with 5:5:1 of molar ratio at pH=8.5 (black), with 3:3:1 of molar ratio at pH=8.5 (red), compared to synthetic struvite (red dots), inside circle: broad peak associated to the amorphous phase
Figure 4.12. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents 92
Figure 4.13. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis for the experiments without any additives with only NaOH for pH adjustment, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents
Figure 4.14. XRD pattern for experiments with 5:5:1 molar ratio at pH=8.5 using Ca(OH) ₂ (green), comparing to the one using NaOH (black) and synthetic struvite (red dots), inside circleshows the broad peak associated to P amorphous phase
Figure 4.15. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis for the experiments with Ca(OH) ₂ for pH adjustment, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents
Figure 5.1. Box-Behnken design for 3 factors 110
Figure 5.2. FTIR spectra (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) of precipitates from aerobic sludge sample 113
Figure 5.3. ICP-AES analysis of the final precipitates
Figure 5.4. Residuals versus fitted values for response variables, a) SI, b) P removal % 116
Figure 5.5. A saddle point obtained for the response variables
Figure 5.6. Predictor variables coded values versus their distance from the stationary point, a) SI, b) P removal %
Figure 5.7. Estimated response variables vs distance from stationary point
Figure 5.8. Response surface perspectives for SI based on predictor variables
Figure 5.9. Response surface perspectives for P removal percentage based on predictor variables.
Figure 6.1. Scheme of the pilot plant
Figure 6.2. The scheme of the Arduino circuit used for pH control system

Figure 6.3. Nucleation, growth and aggregation of the crystals inside reaction zone135
Figure 6.4. Controlled pH using PID-Time Proportional control vs the desired value of pH as the set point
Figure 6.5. Phosphorus concentration trend with respect to the time of the reaction
Figure 6.6. Cumulative NaOH added to the system for pH control with respect to the time of the reaction
Figure 6.7. Amount of NaOH added to the solution after 3 retention times
Figure 6.8. Weight of the retianed solids collected during after filtration
Figure 6.9. FTIR spectrum of one of the samples taken from the pilot reactor

List of Tables

Table 2.1. PR production and reserves as beneficiated PR, 2014 data (based on Jasinski, 2014).
Table 2.2. Known processes for phosphorus recovery from wastewater and sewage sludge (basedon Sartorius et al., 2012)
Table 3.1. PR production and reserves as beneficiated PR, 2014 data (Daneshgar et al., 2018).54
Table 3.2. Some commercially available technologies for P recovery (from Daneshgar et al., 2018)
Table 3.3. Wastewater sludge characteristics
Table 3.4. List of solid phases and reactions present/added to the PHREEQC database. 61
Table 3.5. Results of experimental tests and PHREEQC modeling
Table 4.1. Possible solid phases precipitating in the P recovery process. 77
Table 4.2. Sludge samples characteristics. 79
Table 4.3. Different molar ratios for Mg ²⁺ : NH ₄ ⁺ : P used in the study. 81
Table 4.4. FTIR result curves and P removal percentage results for tests with ionic molar ratiosindicated, at different pH
Table 4.5. FTIR and P removal percentage results for experiments without any additives usingonly NaOH for pH adjustment.90
Table 4.6. FTIR and P removal percentage results for the experiments with Ca(OH)2 for pHadjustment.93
Table 5.1. Wastewater sludge characteristics 107
Table 5.2. List of solid phases included in the database of PHREEQC software with theircorresponding K _{sp} values108
Table 5.3. values of predictor variables with their coded values in the Box-Behnken design 110
Table 5.4. PHREEQC model results 111
Table 5. 5. Comparison of the predicted results by PHREEQC with the measured values 112
Table 5.6. ANOVA for the Saturation Index (SI) 115
Table 5.7. ANOVA for P removal percentage

Table 5.8. Optimum values (or ranges) for predictor variables	121
Table 6.1. Ziegler-Nichols coefficients for Poportional, Integral, and Derivative terms	134
Table 6.2. Experiments conducted in this study with their corresponding pH and RT	135

List of Abbreviations

°C	Degree of Celsius
ACP	Amorphous Calcium Phosphate
AD	Anaerobic Digestion
Al	Aluminum
AIP	Aluminum Phosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BBD	Box-Behnken Design
BES	Bio-Electrochemical System
Bio-P	Biological Phosphorus
BOD	Biological Oxygen Demand
BMPs	Best Management Practices
С	Carbon
Ca	Calcium
сар	Capita
CaP	Calcium Phosphate
CHS	Calciumsilicatehydrate
cm	Centimeter
DCP	Dicalcium Phosphate
DCPD	Dicalcium Phosphate Dihydrate
DO	Dissolved Oxygen
DTGA	Derivative Thermal Gravimetric Analysis
3	Error
EBPR	Enhanced Biological Phosphorus Removal
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
EU	European Union
Fe	Iron
FeP	Iron Phosphate
FO	Forward Osmosis
FOMBR	Forward Osmotic Membrane Bioreactor
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
g	gram
GWh	Giga Watt per hour
Н	Hydrogen
НАР	Hydroxyapatite
hr	hour
IAP	Ion Activity Product
ICP-AES	Inductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission Spectroscopy
IFDC	International Federation Development Center
IFA	International Fertilizer Agency
kg	Kilogram

K _d	Derivative Coefficient
Ki	Integral Coefficient
Kp	Proportional Coefficient
K _{sp}	Equilibrium Solubility Product
kWh	Kilo Watt per hour
L	Liter
m/z	Mass-to-Charge ratio
m ²	Squared Meter
MEC	Microbial Electrolysis Cell
MF	Microfiltration
MFC	Microbial Fuel Cell
mg	milli gram
Mg	Magnesium
MS	Mass Spectroscopy
Mt	Mega tonne
mW	milli Watt
Ν	Nitrogen
NF	Nanofiltration
nm	nanometer
OCP	Octacalcium Phosphate
OMBR	Osmotic Membrane Bioreactor
OP	Orthophosphate
Р	Phosphorus
PAOs	Polyphosphate Accumulating Organisms
PHA	Polyhydroxyalkanoates
PID	Proportional Integral Derivative
PR	Phosphate Rock
P rem.	Phosphorus Removal
R/C	Resource to Consumption
RMSE	Root Mean Squared Error
RO	Reverse Osmosis
RSM	Response Surface Methodology
RT	Retention Time
SI	Saturation Index
SOD	Sediment Oxygen Demand
SP	Set Point
Std. Err.	Standard Error
T _d	Derivative Time
Ti	Integration Time
ТСР	Tricalcium Phosphate
TGA	Thermal Gravimetric Analysis
ТР	Total Phosphorus
TSP	Triple Superphosphate
UF	Ultrafiltration
UN	United Nations

USGS	United States Geological Survey
UV-Vis	Ultraviolet Visible
VFAs	Volatile Fatty Acids
WFD	Water Framework Directive
WRRF	Wastewater Resource Recovery Facility
XRD	X-ray Diffraction
yr	Year



Introduction and Thesis Description

1. Introduction and Thesis Description

1.1. Scientific Background

Nutrients removal from water and wastewater streams has received many attentions during the past decades due to the problems that excessive amounts of nutrients cause to the aquatic environments. Eutrophication, which is the excessive growth of aquatic plants due to high levels of nutrients concentration, is a major concern. It leads to oxygen depletion that would put the life of all aquatic organisms at risk [1,2]. Therefore, high level of nutrients removal is necessary to avoid their environmental impacts. This could be a more critical problem in the so-called "sensitive areas" where more stringent wastewater treatment is required [3]. These areas, and particularly in the case of this thesis the entire Northern Italy, require high level of nutrients removal specially Nitrogen (N) and Phosphorus (P) due to the European Water Framework Directive [3] that defined low limits of nutrients in wastewater discharges.

Phosphorus, being an important element for all living organisms, will be depleted inevitably although this process is not imminent yet [4]. Phosphate rock, which is the main source of phosphorus, is not distributed evenly around the world. Around 73% of phosphate rock reserves are in Morocco and Western Sahara followed by China which represents only 5.4% [5]. In addition, a large amount of phosphate rock resources in the world that is around 300 billion tones, are not technically and economically available [6]. East Asia, Africa and North America are the biggest producers of phosphate rock with 42%, 21% and 14% respectively [7]. However, with the dramatic growth of the global population the demand for producing more food is rising. This leads to an increasing need for phosphorus-containing fertilizers in food production industry.

As a consequence of both environmental concern and resource depletion, there must be special attention on P removal and recovery technologies from wastewater.

Around 20 to 30 % of P is removed through conventional biological aerobic treatment. A rule of thumb for all biologists and environmental engineers is that the ratio of 100:5:1 for BOD:N:P (Biodegradable Oxygen Demand (BOD)) must be met. However, these removal rates are not sufficiently high for meeting the strict regulations in the sensitive areas and consequently some specific P removal process is required. The oldest approach for this aim, which is still being used substantially, is the process of chemical precipitation initially used in 1950s [8]. Usually, Iron (Fe), Aluminum (Al) or Calcium (Ca) salts are applied for achieving P removal producing a P-rich sludge which by the way due to its high metal content cannot be used directly in agriculture and needs further treatment. P removal with chemical precipitation could decrease the effluent P concentration to as low as 0.05 mg/l [9]. Biological phosphorus removal was discovered and then developed in the 1950s and 1960s [10,11,12]. It is based on the activity of some specific bacteria called Polyphosphate Accumulating Organisms (PAOs). The mechanism of bio-P removal process basically consists of two steps; a P release in the anaerobic zone followed by a luxury uptake of

P in the aerobic zone. Bio-P process can achieve 75 to 93% of phosphorus removal in the final effluent [12]. Although bio-P removal has some great advantages over chemical precipitation such as no need for chemicals and lower sludge production, its P-containing sludge cannot be landfilled under current regulations in Europe. Therefore, there is a need for implementation of some specific processes to recover P as a valuable product that can be used directly after treatment. EURAU, 2012 [13] estimated a potential P recovery of 300000 tons/year for the E.U., which corresponds to an economic value of around 300 million Euros.

Struvite precipitation is a common approach for P recovery that uses the chemical precipitation method with the aim of producing a valuable product to be used as a fertilizer. However, struvite is not the only way of phosphorus recovery since other compounds such as calcium phosphate could also precipitate in such process. Struvite is a white mineral with the chemical formula of MgNH₄PO₄.6H₂O that in an alkaline environment with sufficient amount of constituent ions could precipitate easily. For many decades, struvite was considered as a major problem in wastewater treatment systems due to its precipitation in equipment such as pumps, valves, pipes etc. [14]. However, because of its low solubility in neutral and alkaline conditions (and therefore, slow release of nutrients in neutral/alkaline soils) and high nutrients content (N and P), it can be utilized as a fertilizer in the agricultural section. Therefore, there has been a growing attention towards its recovery from wastewater streams as a mean of recovering P in the form of a valuable product. The process of struvite precipitation could be affected by many factors and because of this its implementation and control to achieve an efficient P recovery has been always a challenge for researchers and engineers. The most important factor to consider is the pH of the solution. Struvite precipitation is working optimally in the pH range of 7-11 [15]. Molar ratio of the constituent ions (Mg:NH4:P) could be another significant factor. However, one of the more challenging factors on the efficiency of the process is the presence of some competitive ions particularly Calcium (Ca). Calcium could react with the phosphate ion and form different calcium phosphate salts. Calcium phosphate compounds could also be used in the fertilizer industry although not as effective as struvite [16]. Calcium can also go through the reaction with carbonate (CO_3^{2-}) and precipitate as calcite (CaCO₃), especially in high pH levels. The precipitation of such minerals in the system, could significantly affect the purity of the final product. In addition, physical parameters such as retention time, agitation rate, the presence of seeding materials could be also important.

Most of the studies on phosphorus recovery have been conducted on anaerobic sludges. Nevertheless, as reported in Angela et al., 2011 [17], aerobic sludges could also have the potential for P recovery. In conventional biological aerobic treatments, the sludge usually has 2-3% of P content. However, in enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR) systems, a significant P release is happening by the PAOs in the anaerobic zone, which is followed by a P luxury uptake in the aerobic stage. In this condition, the increased concentration of P could be a great potential

for its recovery in the form of struvite or calcium phosphate compounds. Maurer et al., 1999 [18] investigated the possibility of chemical precipitation in an EBPR system and suggested that P precipitation and EBPR relate to each other and effective EPBR process could lead to higher P precipitation. The EBPR process has been studied for many years and has been implemented in many cases throughout the world. It has showed effective P removal performance [19] and it is relatively an economic and sustainable process. However, there are some important and challenging aspects to consider. To have a precise operation and control of the EBPR system, a very accurate process control system would be required, which includes mathematical models to implement a predictive control scheme [20]. Furthermore, the microbial populations involved in the process are highly site-specific and can have diverse set of characteristics depending on the treatment plant, which makes the calibration and validation of such models dependent on the specific set of data obtained for each plant. One other thing to note, is that biological sludge, per se, cannot be used directly as a ready-to-use fertilizer due to its organic P content, which cannot be used directly by the crops. Consequently, the application of P precipitation using the P-rich sludge produced during the anaerobic stage of an EBPR process could be an effective way of recovering P in a valuable way.

The Nosedo wastewater treatment plant that is the subject of this thesis, is located near the city of Milan, Italy and is serving the city with a capacity of 1 million p.e. Its annual sludge production is 50,000 tons/year with an estimated P content of around 1400 tons/year. The plant includes a nitrification/denitrification process with aerobic sludge stabilization. High dilution of the entering wastewater has made the plant to suffer from low organic strength. Consequently, its operational control becomes difficult. The plant does not have sludge treatment line and through an extended aeration process keeps the sludge production at minimum. In the pre-denitrification basins of the plant, the anaerobic conditions are often observed followed by a P uptake in the further aerobic stages. Therefore, a consistent EBPR condition can be regulated and optimized through appropriate modifications of flows and recycles thus making the situation suitable for P precipitation process.

This thesis is projected with the goal of studying the possibility of implementing P recovery through struvite precipitation process for the aerobic sludge of Nosedo wastewater treatment plant. Impact of different parameters on the process efficiency have also been studied throughout the project and the process has been modeled and optimized using chemical and statistical modeling tools. Finally, a pilot-scale installation of the process has been studied based on the lab-scale experimental results.

1.2. Objectives

The primary objective of this thesis is to investigate the process of struvite crystallization as an efficient method for P recovery in the form of a valuable ready-to-use fertilizer. This work tends

to study this process and the possibility of its implementation for a large wastewater treatment plant using the aeration sludge taken from the biological treatment stage.

The specific in-detail objectives of this thesis can be defined as following:

- 1. Studying the importance of phosphorus recovery and reviewing the state-of-art studies on different technologies available for achieving that.
- 2. Investigating the possibility of struvite precipitation from different types of sludge (anaerobic and aerobic).
- 3. Studying the chemistry and thermodynamics of struvite precipitation process and investigating the effect of different reaction parameters on the performance of the process.
- 4. Modeling and optimization of the struvite precipitation process from aerobic sludge firstly, to identify the significant parameters affecting the process and secondly, to achieve the optimum conditions under which high phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite can be obtained.
- 5. Developing a pilot plant for phosphorus recovery process from aerobic sludge and studying the impact of operating conditions on the process at pilot scale.

1.3. Novelty and Originality

Phosphorus recovery through precipitation process has been studied for many years. Most of these studies have focused on the dewatered sludge after the anaerobic digestion where the concentration of phosphorus is sufficiently high for achieving effective precipitation [8,21-25]. However, this specific type of sludge is not always available at WRRFs. Some WRRFs, such as the one in the subject of this study (NOSEDO WRRF), do not have the anaerobic sludge treatment facility. In this study, the possibility of implementing phosphorus recovery process for such a WRRF without anaerobic sludge treatment has been investigated. In this case, if the plant had the enhanced biological phosphorus removal line, it would be possible to use the sludge taken from the anaerobic stage of that. Nosedo WRRF, on the other hand has a conventional denitrification and nitrification/oxidation treatment line. Therefore, with an upgrade of the plant to include EBPR process, the phosphorus recovery could be implemented for that. In this study it is showed that the sludge taken from the oxidation pond of the Nosedo WRRF, after being under anaerobic condition for 1-2 days, could have up to 37-40 mg/l of phosphorus that is enough for phosphate precipitation process.

The most favorable product of phosphorus recovery process in most studies is struvite. In the case of anaerobic digestion sludge, adding Mg and adjusting the pH would facilitate the precipitation process of struvite. Contrary to that, the concentration of ammonium is not very high in the sludge taken from oxidation pond. Therefore, the NH₄ would also need to be added in order to achieve struvite precipitation. In addition, the concentration of calcium is relatively

high in this sludge, making it a competitive ion for phosphate precipitation since it could easily react with phosphate ion and precipitate as different calcium phosphate compounds. The effects of pH, Mg:NH₄:P and presence of Ca are investigated in details for aerobic sludge to compare it with conventional anaerobic sludge that is being used for this recovery approach.

In this study, it is showed that producing struvite from aerobic sludge would not be economically efficient since high amount of Mg and NH₄ need to be added to the solution as well as NaOH for pH adjustment. Alternatively, the production of amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) is economically feasible. An ACP-rich precipitate was obtained using NaOH for pH adjustment without any further chemical addition. NaOH still is an expensive chemical. Therefore, Ca(OH)₂ was used as a pH adjustment alternative which is considerably less expensive than NaOH. Interestingly, an ACP-rich precipitate could still be produced.

Modeling and optimization of the phosphate recovery process has also been studied before. Most of the studies are focused on the chemical equilibrium modeling using chemical speciation tools such as Visual MINTEQ or PHREEQC [26-28]. There are also a few studies using statistical tools (for example response surface methodology (RSM)) for optimization of the process [29-32]. Both approaches showed great potential for improving process efficiencies and optimizing the process parameters. However, there is a lack of any investigation on using a combination of both approaches. In nearly all the available studies, the response variables of the process are experimental phosphorus or ammonium removal percentages. In this study, a chemical equilibrium tool is used to model the equilibrium condition of the process and to calculate the struvite saturation index (SI) as an indicator of the possibility of struvite precipitation. Then this value is used as a response variable for RSM optimization. In this case, the SI could be a good indicator to see how efficient the process could be for phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite. This is more critical in the case of aerobic sludge which is highly influenced by the presence of calcium and the amount of struvite precipitation is not significantly high.

A pilot scale reactor is implemented in this study to investigate the phosphate recovery process in larger scales. In all the previous pilot scale studies for phosphorus recovery anaerobic sludge is used [33-37]. As the real aerobic sludge was not available for large pilot implementation at the time of the study, a synthetic solution was made based on the samples taken from the oxidation pond of the Nosedo WRRF. The pilot study used a PID-Time proportional control system for pH control using Arduino microcontroller. Although the idea of using such a control system for pH is not new, it has never been applied to the phosphorus recovery pilot reactors. The PID-Time proportional system showed great results while it is not very complex and not expensive to implement.

Struvite precipitation was highly affected by the presence of Ca as a competitive ion, and particularly by the competition of calcium phosphate compounds (mainly ACP) and calcite precipitation. It was observed that, to achieve significant struvite precipitation in tests with aerobic sludge, high amounts of Mg and NH₄ addition would be needed, which unfortunately

would make the process economically inefficient. In addition, the cost of adding NaOH, needed for pH adjustment was also relatively high [38]. Moreover, the cost of struvite precipitation is also dependent on the initial phosphate concentration in wastewater and increases considerably with concentration below 200-300 mg/L [39,40]. In most of the reported experiments of this study, the final precipitates obtained were a mixture of struvite, ACP, and calcite, with the highest content for ACP. It was also determined through ICP and Elemental Analysis that precipitating aerobic sludge would lead to an ACP-rich precipitate. Although studies showed that calcium phosphate minerals could be utilized as fertilizers as well, these turned out not to be as efficient as pure struvite [15], as their P-available content in soils was lower than the latter but was still acceptable [41]. Calcium phosphate compounds are also difficult to settle [42,43]. In terms of effects on soil, the Ca:Mg molar ratio in final precipitates could impact its structure. Lower ratios imply higher struvite content in precipitates, and this would generally be considered a more favorable condition, depending on the specific soil characteristics of the application site. However, for some soils, a higher ratio would be considered more suitable, as it would improve their drainage properties [44]. Generally, the production cost of calcium phosphate fertilizers is lower than struvite fertilizers [45], since less added chemicals are needed. Therefore, an ACP-rich precipitate would significantly reduce the cost of fertilizer production, since ACP could still precipitate in significant amounts at very low values of Mg and NH₄ molar ratios. However, the use of ACP-rich precipitate as fertilizer would depend on specific regulations on fertilizer quality by local authorities. Heavy metal impurities in calcium phosphate fertilizers are generally higher than in struvite fertilizers [46], where they are usually below the limits for heavy metal content [47]. Nevertheless, this is a situation that ought to be verified on a case-by-case basis. Furthermore, in municipal WRRFs, P recovery by precipitation showed great potential of reducing the amounts of final excess sludge to be further treated, estimated at 8 to 31% [48,49]. However, due to the very limited studies available on phosphate precipitation from aerobic sludges, it is hard to compare their potential reduction to that achievable with anaerobic digestion dewatered sludge.

The study showed that there is a great potential in using aerobic sludge for recovering phosphorus in the form of struvite or calcium phosphate. Since aerobic sludge contains generally less P than its AD counterpart, the former has long remained outside the focus of attention as far as phosphorus recovery through precipitation processes is concerned. Nonetheless, this study showed that obtaining a precipitate that is rich in calcium phosphate (ACP) with small quantities of struvite from aerobic sludge liquor is highly feasible. Struvite precipitation, despite sporting many advantages, such as fertilizer recovery, and reducing nutrients pollution by simultaneous N and P removal, is usually not an economically sustainable full-scale approach, even for anaerobic sludges, as the current market price of recovered struvite is still relatively low compared to other P-containing fertilizers [50]. As illustrated before, process economics are even worse in the case of aerobic sludge struvite precipitation, due to the significant requirements of
Mg and NH₄ addition. Obtaining a calcium phosphate-rich product as final precipitate could be considered as a way to move forward in future studies and practice on phosphorus recovery. For many WRRFs, such as Nosedo, lacking AD sludge processing, this study highlights alternative possibilities to implement economically feasible phosphate recovery. Optimization of biological treatment processes in such WRRFs (i.e., full implementation of Bio-P processes) could lead to optimum anaerobic phosphorus release that would enhance the efficiency of phosphate precipitation from liquid sludge.

To sum up all the aspects of the study, the novelty of this thesis could be entitled as "an economic approach for phosphorus recovery from aerobic sludge of a WRRF without anaerobic sludge treatment facility" that showed a great potential also in a pilot scale reactor.

1.4. Thesis Description

This thesis is presented in a paper-based format. All the papers have been written by the first author Saba Daneshgar and have been reviewed by Prof. Andrea G. Capodaglio who was the supervisor of this Ph.D. program. All the experimental parts of the projects have been conducted by Saba Daneshgar in collaboration with Prof. Armando Buttafava. Chemical Modeling and statistical optimization of the struvite precipitation process have been studied during a six-month visiting research period that Saba Daneshgar has spent at Université Laval, Quebec, Canada in collaboration with Prof. Peter Vanrolleghem at his research group modelEAU.

Chapter 2 investigates the phosphorus scarcity issue and describes the current situation of phosphate rock (PR) consumption and production. It covers in-depth review of PR reserves and resources and how they are distributed unevenly around the world. It also gets through the future scenarios of the phosphorus situation and demonstrates its inevitable complete depletion. Then, it studies the phosphorus cycle and the intervention of human in this cycle. The natural phosphorus cycle as well as its mechanism in transferring phosphorus between different environments are explained thoroughly. The chapter shows the role of human in opening this cycle by discharging phosphorus containing materials in water bodies. It emphasizes on the importance of closing this cycle by implementing phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. It reviews state-of-art studies on different phosphorus removal and recovery technologies and explains some of them in details. Struvite precipitation is reviewed as one of the most important and widely used approaches. Membrane bioreactors and assimilation by algae are two recent and promising technologies for phosphorus recovery that are presented in this chapter. Finally, the chapter highlights some considerations related to energy-nutrients nexus and how important it is to consider minimum energy consumption along with nutrients recovery. It shows that apart from the mathematical modeling and optimization of the process to make it more energyefficient, on-site energy generation is a promising and sustainable effort for recovering the

energy from WRRFs. This literature review is presented in a paper titled "The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review".

Chapter 3 studies the use of a chemical equilibrium modeling software in order to predict the P removal percentage and equilibrium conditions of the process including saturation index values for possible solid phases precipitating in such a system. It presents the use of PHREEQC chemical equilibrium modeling tool. The model predicts the saturation index for Struvite, Amorphous Calcium Phosphate (ACP) and Calcite as the three-main precipitating solid phases in the operating condition of the experiments. It will also calculate the phosphorus removal percentage and the amount of phosphorus precipitated in the system based on the ion speciation results. It shows how powerful and helpful the chemical equilibrium modeling tool could be to predict the system that could be useful for design and development of the process in pilot-scale which was a further important stage of the thesis. The results are written as a paper titled "Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge".

In Chapter 4, an in-depth study of the struvite precipitation process has been explored demonstrating the experimental results of the process using different types of sludges; aerobic and anaerobic. An extensive analysis of precipitates using different analytical tools have been presented in this chapter to identify the solid phases precipitating during the process. The obtained precipitates were analyzed using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR), Thermal Gravimetric Analysis (TGA) combined with Quadrupolar Mass Spectroscopy (MS), X-ray Diffraction (XRD), Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-AES) and Elemental Analysis. First, the analysis has been conducted to confront the precipitation obtained from anaerobic sludge, oxidation pond sludge and denitrification pond sludge. Based on this analysis, the chapter showed that using aerobic sludge for struvite precipitation might be less effective than anaerobic sludge and will lead to precipitate more calcium phosphate compounds, but still could be a way to recover phosphorus as a valuable by-product. Then the chapter focuses on the aerobic sludge to investigate the conditions under which struvite precipitation is observed significantly. Finally, the possibility of using an economic pH adjustment reagent $(Ca(OH)_2)$ has been studied that showed a great potential in achieving an ACP-rich precipitate instead of pure struvite that could still be used as an alternative fertilizer. The aim is to be able to recover phosphorus in a more economical way as a product that could be further used for other purposes since Ca(OH)₂ is less expensive than NaOH (45 Euro/tonne compared to 440 Euro/tonne of NaOH) [48,51,52] and in this case the ACP-rich product could be produced without Mg and NH₄ addition. This chapter has been portrayed as a paper with the title: "Impact of pH and ionic molar ratios on phosphorus forms precipitation and recovery from different wastewater sludges".

In the next step of the project, a modeling and optimization approach for the process of struvite precipitation from aerobic sludge has been studied in *Chapter 5*. This approach combines the use of chemical equilibrium modeling (described in *Chapter 3*) with a statistical optimization method called Response Surface Methodology (RSM). The aim of this study was to identify the significant parameters affecting the efficiency of the process including pH and different molar ratios between struvite constituent ions and calcium. Molar ratios of Ca:Mg and NH₄:P were considered as predictor variables as well as the pH. They have been used to fit a second order model for SI and P removal percentage, which were taken as the response variables of the model. The purpose of this study was to obtain the optimal conditions of these parameters so that highly efficient P recovery in the form of valuable products could be achieved. Ridge analysis has also been used to achieve the optimal condition by identifying the direction to move from the stationary point of the system that could lead to optimal values for predictors. The results have been demonstrated in the fourth paper called "Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)".

Lastly, a pilot-scale phosphate precipitation process using synthetic solution based on the characteristics of real aerobic sludge has been implemented to study the effectiveness of the process in larger scale. The experimental setup and operating conditions of the pilot were designed based on the previous works on the aerobic sludge that were described in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5. A 200 L cone-shaped reactor has been implemented and the influent solution was fed to the reactor. pH of the influent was controlled using continuous NaOH solution added to the stream at the top of the reactor where solution enters to basify it. The system was also equipped with a PID-Time proportional pH control system to keep the level of pH at desired value inside the reactor (reaction zone) where acidification occurs due to the H⁺ release from the crystallization reaction. The impact of pH and reaction retention time have been studied as two important parameters affecting the process of struvite precipitation. Three RT of 30, 60, and 120 have been studied at pH=8.5 and 9.0. P concentration was measured frequently during the experimentation. A sample of crystal suspension was also collected every time and then filtered and dried for FTIR analysis. The samples have also been checked qualitatively for enlargement of crystals during reaction. The preliminary results of pilot study are presented in *Chapter 6* titled: "Pilot-Scale Study of Phosphate Precipitation Process from Synthetic Aerobic Sludge".

As a future study, the project of pilot plant will be continued by conducting several experiments for different Mg:NH₄:P molar ratios at various pH levels and retention times. In addition, the possibility of using Ca(OH)₂ as an economic pH adjustment reagent will be studied in pilot-scale. It will be also complemented with an in-depth analysis of the obtained precipitates to prepare the results for a further submission of the paper.

1.5. References

- 1. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A.G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Science and Technology* **1993**, 28(3-5), 69-78.
- Capodaglio, A.G.; Muraca, A.; Becchi, G. Accounting for water quality effects of future urbanization: Diffuse pollution loads estimates and control in Mantua's Lakes (Italy). *Water Science and Technology* 2003, 47(7-8), 291-298.
- Council Directive 91/271/EEC, Official Journal of the European Communities, 1991, 135/40. Available online: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:31991L0271&from=EN (accessed on 20 April 2017).
- Daneshgar, S.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A. G.; Vaccari, D. The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review. *Resources* 2018a, 7(2), 37.
- Jasinski, S.M. Phosphate Rock, USGS Mineral Commodities Summary. Available online: http://minerals. usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/phosphate_rock/ (accessed on 15 March 2017).
- Notholt, A.J.G.; Sheldon, R.P.; Davidson, D.F. Phosphate Deposits of the World. Volume 2: Phosphate Rock Resources; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1989.
- 7. IFA. International Fertilizer Association Production and International Trade Report. **2016**. Available online: https://fertilizer.org/Statistics (accessed on 20 March 2017).
- 8. Morse, G.K.; Brett, S.W.; Guy, J.A.; Lester, J.N. Review: Phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. *The Science of Total Environment* **1998**, 212, 69-81.
- 9. Yang, L.; Zhou, H.; Moccia, R. Membrane Filtration Coupled with Chemical Precipitation to Treat Recirculating Aquaculture System Effluent. *J. Environ. Qual.* **2006**, 35, 2419–2424.
- 10. Levin, G.V.; Shapiro, J. Metabolic uptake of phosphorus by wastewater organisms. *J Water Pollut Control Fed* **1965**, 37, 800-821.
- 11. Greenburg, A.E.; Levin, G.; Kauffman, W.J. The effect of phosphorus removal on the activated sludge process. *Sewage Ind Wastes* **1955**, 27, 227.
- 12. Barnard, J.L. A Review of Biological Phosphorus Removal in the Activated Sludge Process. *Water SA* **1976**, 2, 136–144.
- 13. EUREAU (2012) EUREAU POSITION PAPER on how the revision of the Fertiliser Regulation should promote sustainable use of sludge in agriculture https://www.eureau.org (accessed on 10 July 2016)
- 14. Parsons, S.A. Recent scientific and technical developments: Struvite precipitation. *CEEP Scope Newsl.* **2001**, 41, 15–22.
- 15. Johnston, A.E.; Richards, I.R. Effectiveness of different precipitated phosphate as phosphorus source for plants. *Soil Use and Management* **2003**, 19, 45-49,

- 16. Angela, M.; Biscans, B., Sperandio, M. Biologically induced phosphorus precipitation in aerobic granular sludge process. *Water Research*, **2011**, 45 (12). pp. 3776-3786.
- 17. Cost-Effective and Eco-Friendly Struvite Wastewater Treatment Products. Available online: http://www. struvite.info (accessed on 8 April 2018).
- Maurer, M.; Abramovich, D.; Siegrist, H.; Gujer, W. Kinetics of biologically induced phosphorus precipitation in wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, **1999**, 33 (2), 484-493.
- 19. Oleszkiewicz, J.A.; Barnard, J.L. Nutrient Removal Technology in North America and the European Union: A Review. *Water Qual. Res. J. Canada*, **2006**, 41, 449–462
- 20. Oehmen, A.; Lemos, P.C.; Carvalho, G.; Yuan, Z.; Keller, J.; Blackall, L.L.; Reis, M. A.M. Advances in enhanced biological phosphorus removal: From micro to macro scale. *Water Res.*, **2007**, 41, 2271-2300.
- 21. Battistoni, P.; Boccadoro, R.; Pavan, P.; Cecchi, F. Struvite crystallization in sludge dewatering supernatant using air stripping: the new full-scale plant at Treviso (Italy) sewage works. in: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on phosphorus Recovery for Recycling from Sewage and Animal Wastes, Noordwijkerhout, Holland, March 12–14, **2001**.
- 22. Yoshino, M.; Yao, M.; Tsuno, H.; Somiya, I. Removal and recovery of phosphate and ammonium as struvite from supernatant in anaerobic digestion, *Water Science and Technology*, **2003**, 48 (1) 171–178.
- 23. Wu, Q.Z.; Bishop, P.L. Enhancing struvite crystallization from anaerobic supernatant, *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science*, **2004**, 3, 21–29.
- Britton, A.; Koch, F.A.; Mavinic, D.S.; Adnan, A.; Oldham, A.; Udala, B. Pilot scale struvite recovery from anaerobic digester supernatant at an enhanced biological phosphorus removal wastewater treatment plant, *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science*, 2005, 4, 265–277.
- 25. Iqbal, M.; Bhuiyan, H.; Mavinic, D.S. Assessing struvite precipitation in a pilot scale fluidized bed crystallizer, *Environmental Technology*, **2008**, 29 (11), 1157–1167.
- Harada, H.; Shimizu, Y.; Miyagoshi, Y.; Matsui, S.; Matsuda, T.; Nagasaka, T. Predicting struvite formation for phosphorus recovery from human urine using an equilibrium model. *Water Science and Technology*, **2006**, 54(8), 247–255.
- 27. Lee, S. H.; Yoo, B. H.; Lim, S. J.; Kim, T. H.; Kim, S. K.; Kim, J. Y. Development and validation of an equilibrium model for struvite formation with calcium co-precipitation. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **2013**, 372, 129–137.
- Türker, M.; Çelen, I. Removal of ammonia as struvite from anaerobic digester effluents and recycling of magnesium and phosphate. *Bioresource Technology*, **2007**, 98(8), 1529– 1534.

- 29. Capdevielle, A.; Sýkorová, E.; Biscans, B.; Béline, F.; Daumer, M. L. Optimization of struvite precipitation in synthetic biologically treated swine wastewater-Determination of the optimal process parameters. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **2013**, 244–245, 357–369.
- 30. de Luna, M. D. G.; Abarca, R. R. M.; Su, C. C.; Huang, Y. H.; Lu, M. C. Multivariate optimization of phosphate removal and recovery from aqueous solution by struvite crystallization in a fluidized-bed reactor. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, **2015**, 55(2), 496–505.
- 31. Shalaby, M. S. Modeling and Optimization of Phosphate Recovery from Industrial Wastewater and Precipitation of Solid Fertilizer using Experimental Design Methodology. Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Quarterly Journal, **2015**, 29(1), 35–46.
- 32. Ye, X.; Ye, Z. L.; Lou, Y.; Pan, S.; Wang, X.; Wang, M. K.; Chen, S. A comprehensive understanding of saturation index and upflow velocity in a pilot-scale fluidized bed reactor for struvite recovery from swine wastewater. *Powder Technology*, **2016**, 295, 16– 26.
- 33. Le Corre, K.S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Jefferson, B.; Parsons, S.A. Struvite crustallisation and recovery using a stainless-steel structure as a seed material. *Water Research*, **2007**, 41, 2449-2456.
- 34. Song, Y.; Qiu, G.; Yuan, P.; Cui, X.; Peng, J.; Zeng, P.; Duan, L.; Xiang, L.; Qian, F. Nutrients removal and recovery from anaerobically digested swine wastewater by struvite crystallization without chemical additions. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **2011**, 190, 140-149.
- Pastor, L.; Mangin, D.; Barat, R.; Seco, A. A pilot-scale study of struvite precipitation in a stirred tank reactor: conditions influencing the process. *Bioresource Technology*, **2008**, 99, 6285-6291.
- 36. Bowers, K.E.; Westerman, P.W. Performance of cone-shaped fluidized bed struvite crystallizers in removing phosphorus from wastewater. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers*, **2005**, 48(3), 1227-1234.
- Suzuki, K.; Tanaka, Y.; Kuroda, K.; Hanajima, D.; Fukumoto, Y.; Yasuda, T.; Waki, M. Removal and recovery of phosphorus from swine wastewater by demonstration crystallization reactor and struvite accumulation device. *Bioresource Technology*, 2007, 98, 1573-1578.
- 38. Jaffer, Y.; Clark, T.A.; Pearce, P.; Parsons, S.A. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. *Water Resource*, **2002**, 36, 1834–1842.
- 39. Crutchik, D.; Garrido, J.M. Struvite crystallization versus amorphous magnesium and calcium phosphate precipitation during the treatment of a saline industrial wastewater. *Water Science and Technology*, **2011**, 64, 2460–2467.

- Dockhorn, T. About the economy of phosphorus recovery. In International Conference on Nutrient Recovery from Wastewater Streams, Vancouver, Canada, 2009; IWA Publishing: London, UK, 2009; pp. 145–158, ISBN 9781843392323.
- 41. De-Bashan, L.E.; Bashan, Y. Recent advances in removing phosphorus from wastewater and its future use as fertilizer (1997–2003). *Water Resource*, **2004**, 38, 4222–4246.
- 42. Da Cruz, S.G.; Monte, D.M.; Dutra, A.J.B. Electroflotation of precipitated phosphate from synthetic solution. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, **2017**, 34, 821–830.
- 43. Liu, J.C.; Chang, C.J. Precipitation flotation of phosphate from water. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, **2009**, 34, 215–219.
- 44. Muster, T.H.; Douglas, G.B.; Sherman, N.; Seeber, A.; Wright, N.; Guzukara, Y. Towards effective phosphorus recycling from wastewater: Quantity and quality. *Chemosphere*, **2013**, 91, 676–684.
- 45. Egle, L.; Rechberger, H.; Krampe, J.; Zessner, M. Phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater: An integrated comparative technological, environmental and economic assessment of P recovery technologies. *Science of Total Environment*, **2016**, 571, 522–542.
- 46. Forrest, A.L.; Fattah, K.P.; Mavinic, D.S.; Koch, F.A. Optimizing struvite production for phosphate recovery in WWTP. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*. **2008**, 134, 395–402.
- 47. Muhmood, A.; Wu, S.; Lu, J.; Ajmal, Z.; Luo, H.; Dong, R. Nutrient recovery from anaerobically digested chicken slurry via struvite: Performance optimization and interactions with heavy metals and pathogens. *Science of Total Environment*, **2018**, 635, 1–9.
- 48. Woods, N.C.; Sock, S.M.; Daigger G.T. Phosphorus recovery technology modeling and feasibility evaluation for municipal wastewater treatment plants. *Environmental Technology*, **1999**, 20 (7), 663- 679.
- Le Corre, K.S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S.A. Phosphorus Recovery from Wastewater by Struvite Crystallization: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 2009, 39, 433–477.
- Mayer, B.K.; Baker, L.; Boyer, T.H.; Drechsel, P.; Gifford, M.; Hanjra, M.A.; Parameswaran,
 P.; Stoltzfus, J.; Westerhoff, P.; Rittmann, B.E. Total value of phosphorus recovery.
 Environmental Science and Technology, 2016, 50, 6606–6620.
- Birnhack, L.; Nir, O.; Telzhenski, M.; Lahav, O. A new algorithm for design, operation and cost assessment of struvite (MgNH₄PO₄) precipitation processes, *Environmental Technology*, **2015**, 36:15, 1892-1901.
- 52. Lehmann, O.; Birnhack, L.; Lahav, O. Design aspects of calcite-dissolution reactors applied for post treatment of desalinated water. *Desalination*, **2013**, 314, 1–9.

<u>Chapter 2</u>

The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review

A modified version has been published in *Resources*, 2018, 7, 37.

Saba Daneshgar¹, Arianna Callegari¹, Andrea G. Capodaglio^{1,*} and David Vaccari²

¹ Dept. Of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, 27100 PAVIA, Italy; saba.daneshgar@unipv.it, arianna.callegari@unipv.it, andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it

² Dept. of Civil, Environmental and Ocean Engineering, Stevens Institute of technology, Hoboken, NJ; dvaccari@stevens.edu

* Correspondence: andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it; Tel.: +39-0382-985591

Abstract

Phosphorus is an essential nutrient for every organism on the Earth, yet it is also a potential environmental pollutant, which may cause eutrophication of water bodies. Wastewater treatment plants worldwide are struggling to eliminate phosphorus from effluents, at great cost, yet current research suggests that the world may deplete the more available phosphorus reserves by around 2300. This, in addition to environmental concerns, evokes the need for new phosphorus recovery techniques to be developed, to meet future generations needs for renewable phosphorus supply. Many studies have been, and are, carried out on phosphorus recovery from wastewater and its sludge, due to their high phosphorus content. Chemical precipitation is the main process for achieving a phosphorus-containing mineral suitable for reuse as a fertilizer, such as struvite. This paper reviews the current status and future trends of phosphorus production and consumption, and summarizes current recovery technologies, discussing their possible integration into wastewater treatment processes, according to a more sustainable water-energy-nutrient nexus.

Keywords: phosphorus; scarcity; nitrogen; wastewater; eutrophication; recovery

2.1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is a non-metal in the 15th group of the periodic table or "nitrogen family" and is one of the most indispensable materials for everyday life, affecting each and every organism on Earth. The elemental form of phosphorus can be mainly found in two different physical forms; white (or yellow) phosphorus and red phosphorus. These two allotropes have miscellaneous physical and chemical characteristics. White phosphorus, which is widely in the form P₄, has considerably high reactivity, due to its tetrahedral structure causing ring strain. On the contrary red phosphorus can be transformed into white phosphorus by heating it up to 300 °C in the absence of oxygen, or under direct exposure to sunlight. Phosphorus, however, is never found free in its elemental form in nature due to its high reactivity; instead, phosphorus-containing minerals (mainly as phosphate) are dispersed worldwide, predominantly in sedimentary rocks. P-containing minerals may store notable amounts of phosphate, usually 15–20%. This leads to a phosphate rock P content close to 2.7–3.7% by weight (phosphate minerals comprise approximately 18.5% P by weight), which is remarkable, considering that the typical sedimentary rock only contains about 0.2% P (w/w).

Phosphorus is a vital component of all living organisms, as it is a building substance of DNA and RNA (in form of phosphate ion PO_4^{3-}), plays essential roles in energy transfer through living cells as a component of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and, as phospholipids, contributes to the formation of cell membranes. Besides that, a considerable amount of phosphorus is contained in living beings' bodies, mainly in bones and teeth, mostly as calcium hydroxyapatite $Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$ [2]. Around 650 g of phosphorus can be found in the average human body [3]; only its calcium content, apart from the four organic elements of oxygen, carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen, is higher than that.

Phosphorus has no stable gaseous form and, because of this, only appears in the atmosphere adsorbed on particulate matter, which is rapidly removed from the atmosphere by precipitation, either wet or dry, processes. Therefore, the amount of P present in the atmosphere at any time is low. However, studies on the presence of phosphine (PH₃) gas, which is known as a trace atmospheric gas constituent, were recently carried out [4]. Phosphine is a volatile, toxic gas that can be found around the globe at different, usually very low, concentrations. This is due to the fact that this compound can be oxidized very easily in air [5]. While it is believed that phosphine may have an important role in the biogeochemical phosphorus cycle [4], there is still a need for more extended studies on its origins and impacts on such cycle. In soils, however, phosphorus is widely present in different forms; soluble, mineral, adsorbed and organic. The soluble fraction represents a very low per centage of total P, but it is the only form (free orthophosphate ions PO_4^{3-}) that plants and crops can use for growth. Insoluble P, which consists of organic and mineral P, is instead the dominant P form

in soils: the dominance of aluminum/iron phosphates and calcium phosphate forms limits its solubility in acid and alkaline soils, respectively. Phosphate forms excreted by living organisms are released in soils as organic phosphates. These are then broken down to inorganic fraction by microorganisms during a long mineralization process. Activity of these microorganisms is highly dependent on soil temperature and moisture content. Hence, being the amount of soluble P in soils quantitatively negligible, total phosphorus (TP) is almost solely dependent on its mineral, adsorbed and organic fractions. In aquatic environments, to relatively low concentrations of Al/Fe/Ca ions, P ions are much more available than in soils. Industrial wastes, detergents and domestic sewage are considerable sources of phosphate ions to waters, therefore high available amounts of phosphate ions, could stimulate growth of plants and phytoplankton in water bodies.

This paper summarizes the most recent information about phosphorus use trends and resources forecasting and discusses some of the proposed technologies for recovery of this essential element from wastewater.

2.2. Phosphorus Rock Reserves

Phosphorus is distributed around the world mostly in the form of minerals contained in sedimentary rocks (very little is of igneous origin); however, high-quality deposits that are de facto economically exploitable are not homogeneously available. Sedimentary deposits are formed from a combination of physical and chemical conditions associated with coastal upwelling zones, coupled with geological sea level changes. The rare combination of these conditions makes phosphate deposits unevenly distributed around the world. As a result, "*few prospects exist for new discoveries of phosphate rock*" [6]. This is consistent with the very few significant increases in known P reserves in the last century, and only in a few locations in the world [7], as shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1. Discovery of phosphate rock reserves in the last century (based on [7]). The y-axis indicates the cumulative amount of P reserves discovered up to the year on x-axis.

The most common group of phosphorus-containing minerals is apatite. Apatite minerals are calcium phosphate compounds (5 calcium ions bonded to three phosphate ions) bonded to one of the F^- , CI^- or OH^- ions, commonly known as fluorapatite, chlorapatite and hydroxyapatite. Among these, fluorapatite ($Ca_5(PO_4)_3F$) constitutes the largest amount of deposits of currently mined phosphate rocks. Phosphate rocks may contain some impurities, as well: of particular concern are cadmium and radionuclides including uranium and its decay products.

The application of phosphate-containing minerals can be categorized in two main streams: agricultural and nonagricultural. About 95% of all TP production around the world is utilized in the agricultural sector, mainly as fertilizers. Phosphorus and nitrogen are the two most important elements used in the inorganic fertilizers industry. In addition to fertilizers, P-containing minerals are also used in animal feed additives production.

In the nonagricultural sector, phosphorus is used in wide range of applications, from the food sector (as additives, i.e., polyphosphates) to actual industrial use, to preparation of household products. Soft drinks ingredients, detergents and cleansers, metal surface treatment and corrosion inhibition are just some examples of the many possible applications of this element. It is, however, important to emphasize that these constitute less than 5% of TP consumption in the world.

2.2.1. Current Phosphorus Production, Consumption and Resources

Phosphate rock as taken out of the ground, if it contains enough P to be considered as a usable source, is called ore. Ore is subjected to initial processing called beneficiation, which increases its purity: in a sedimentary phosphate ore, for example, beneficiation will remove much of the associated sand and clay. The resulting product is called phosphate rock (PR).

Traditionally, chemists used a weighting method for the determination of phosphorus content in fertilizers, in terms of P_2O_5 . Nowadays, P content is still conventionally expressed in P_2O_5 equivalent: phosphate rock typically contains 30-32% P_2O_5 and, since P_2O_5 itself consists of 43.6% P, this range corresponds nominally to 13-14% P, by weight.

According to the International Fertilizer Association (IFA) [8] data, world total PR production in 2014 was around 197 Mt PR. Assuming a nominal 30% P_2O_5 content, this would correspond to about 26 Mt P, with the biggest share produced in East Asia (42%, mainly in China), followed by North Africa (Morocco) and North America (US), with 21% and 14% respectively. Figure 2.2 illustrates regional shares of PR production in 2014. In the late 1980s, a peak in PR mining was observed, due to an excessive fertilizers' use in the Soviet Union during those years, which was then followed by a considerable use decrease in the early 1990s (Figure 2.3). The latter occurred due to reduction of inorganic fertilizer use by developed countries, due to new awareness of phosphorus harmful effects on the environment, and especially to reduced

fertilizers demand following the dissolution of the Soviet Bloc [9]. In the last decade, however, increased per-capita demand by developing countries due to dietary changes brought by increased generalized wealth, coupled with steady global population increase, has resulted in unprecedented levels of fertilizers production and consumption.



Figure 2.2. Global P production and consumption shares (based on [8]).



Figure 2.3. Global production of phosphate rock (blue) coupled with world population (red) in time [10].

World total phosphate rock reserves in 2014 (Table 2.1) were reported as 68,776 Mt (about 9000 Mt as P), of which 73% (50,000 Mt) just in Morocco and Western Sahara [11]. China currently holds the second biggest global reserves at 3700 Mt PR, which however represent only 5.4% of the world total. Figure 2.4 shows the geographical distribution of phosphate rock reserves [11]. Although total global phosphate resources are estimated at more than 300 billion tonnes, a great part of these are not available for extraction under current economic

and technological conditions. For instance, deposits comparable to present Moroccan reserves have been detected in the continental shelves of the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans [12]; however, at the moment there is no economically profitable method for ocean mining, and the exploitation of these deposits remains prohibitive for reasonable consideration.

Source	Production		Reserves		R/C
	(Mt/yr)	(%)	(Mt)	(%)	(yrs)
Morocco & Western	20	12	50.000	72	1667
Sahara	50	15	30,000	75	1007
China	100	45	3,700	5.4	37
United States	25.3	12	1,100	1.6	40
MENA-M/WS*	25.7	12	8,166	12	318
Rest of the world	37.2	17	5,810	8	156
World total	218		68,776		315
As P**	28.6		9,005		

Table 2.1. PR production and reserves as beneficiated PR, 2014 data (based on [11]).

Mt = megatonnes = million metric tonnes = Tg. * Middle East and North Africa not including Morocco and Western Sahara. ** Assuming PR is 30% P 2 O 5. NOTE: USGS data differ from IFA estimates [8] about total world PR production, however, data shown herein are internally consistent (i.e., are related to the same set).



Figure 2.4. Geographical distribution of the world's known PR reserves (based on [11]).

North Africa, based on high production from its huge amount of reserves, has the highest export of phosphate worldwide, representing nearly 53% of all imports by other regions [8]. North America, in spite of a high production rate and a still considerable amount of reserves,

is highly dependent on imports, due to the declining internal availability of PR and the Country's high consumption rate. Also, East Asian Countries, despite substantial amounts of PR production, have high consumption rates due to high population, which leads the region to import. Worldwide, however, Europe is the region most dependent on imports, which represent 86% of its total demand [8] since local production is very low. The uneven global distribution of reserves, production control and population growth could therefore potentially induce critical and unprecedented international tensions, when the perception of the "announced" P crisis will hit the public.

2.2.2. Future Trends

Phosphate rock is a finite, irreplaceable, nonrenewable resource [13]. The future trend of PR production and consumption and, consequently, the question of whether (and when) it will be totally depleted in the future, is currently one of the most controversial issues among researchers. As global population is expected to grow drastically, demand for phosphorus will increase due to the unavoidable need to produce more food. Nevertheless, there is still a huge amount of phosphate resources unexploited because of the lack of feasible and not over-expensive methods to extract them. Generally, there are two main views which address the issue of phosphorus scarcity [14].

The first view claims that the rate of consumption will eventually regulate the rate of reserve depletion, leading to a fairly static reserve situation. Forecasting approaches based on this assumption are the "ratio of reserves to consumption" (R/C ratio) to estimate the "lifetime" of available reserves. This of course assumes that both numerator and denominator are static, both of which are highly unlikely assumptions. Nevertheless, applying the R/C ratio could be useful as a general indication of *when* concern about resources could be warranted.

Before 2010 the R/C ratio for global phosphorus was estimated at just over a century [15]. However, in that year the International Fertilizer Development Center (IFDC) published revised estimates that were much larger than the previous [16]. According to some researchers, this "expansion" of reserve estimates does not have a strongly proven basis [17], nevertheless it has been accepted by most global institutions concerned. Accounting for the new estimates, the R/C ratio stands now at almost 300 years, a slightly reassuring figure. It might however be considered that any foreseen timeline for depletion, short of a very, very long time should be worrisome, and suggests that, at the very least, present wasteful use should be controlled, and actions for recovery researched and implemented.

Interestingly, the expanded estimate of global PR reserves is based largely on a paper published by the Morocco Phosphate Company, (OCP SA) [18]. It is, however, also interesting to note that, in 2006, the president and CEO of the same company stated: "With the anticipated requirements for phosphate for agricultural and industrial uses, the world is likely to run out in the near future of low-cost recoverable phosphate rock" [19].

Another forecasting approach, with underlying assumptions similar to the former, consists of the application of the Hubbert Curve [13]. This is based on the assumption that PR production will follow a Gaussian distribution, peaking when half of the reserves are consumed. This point is called "peak phosphorus". Cordell et al. [20] predicted that peak phosphorus would occur around year 2035. When the revised reserve numbers were included, the peak was extended only to around 2070. The peak phosphorus concept has been criticized from several points of view. Mew [21], pointed out that the Hubbert Curve is intended to be applied to resources, such as oil, for which there are other feasible alternatives. Thus, the method may be considered to be useful for modeling production from an individual source (such as one country), for which other countries may serve as alternative sources. Its application to global production, whether for phosphorus or oil, has never been scientifically validated. Vaccari and Strigul [22] show that the Hubbert curve worked when applied to USA PR production, but that the peak could not have been accurately "predicted" until after it had occurred! As Mew points out, these criticisms do not contradict the need to start a global discussion on how humanity could "use the finite resources of phosphate that exist, in the most efficient way possible." On the other side, the second approach criticizes the first one in some aspects. Primarily, it points out that this only considers PR proven reserves, and not other possible resources in estimating available phosphorus. Scholz and Wellmer [23] point out that resources that are unexploitable under current economic and technological conditions may become available in the future. While this cannot be denied *a priori*, it could also be said that, dealing with an irreplaceable and essential resource, it would be at least prudent to act on the basis of current conditions and available knowledge.

Both sides of the debate, however, recognize that phosphorus scarcity is not only dependent on just the rate of resources depletion. Other factors such as potential geopolitical instability of supplier countries, market price, time and effort it takes to extract phosphate rock, all of which lead PR to have highly variable value in the global society, are of great importance.

The historical trends of PR production should become clearer examining global production trends (Figure 2.3), from which the per capita production illustrated in Figure 2.5 can be derived. Some of the interesting historical events that become evident from Figure 2.5 are:

(1) There was a large per-capita PR increase after World War II through the 1970s, which could be attributed to the "green revolution" of the time;

(2) These high levels stabilized from 1975 to 1991 at an average of 30.1 kg PR per capita, per year;

(3) This was followed by a 24% reduction for reasons described in Section 2.1, to about 22.8 kg PR/cap/yr from 1993 to 2006;

(4) In the last decade, the per capita consumption recovered to about 31.0 kg PR/cap/yr. This may be due to improved diet in historically undernourished regions, and due to an

increased amount of meat in the diet of nations such as China that have experienced rapid economic development.



Figure 2.5. Historical trend for per capita phosphate rock production (based on [10]).

The world's population has been increasing approximately according to a linear trend for the last 50 years, adding between 70 and 87 million people per year onto the globe. Since 1997, the rate has been more stable, between 77 and 81 million people per year. Nevertheless, the UN estimates the annual population growth rate to decline steadily from this point forward. If the current level of per capita PR production rate is applied to the median UN population projection, the current reserves would last until the year 2315. However, if population growth rate continues to stay similar to the current rate (as forecasted in the UN "high" population estimate), they would only last until 2170.

There are reasons to be concerned about the short-term vulnerability of phosphorus supply, as well. Some of the major producers have an R/C ratio of only a few decades (Table 2.1). Specifically, two of the top three producers, China and the US, have an R/C ratio of less than 30 years. Thus, both can be expected to be running low of P in a similar time frame, when they will have to compete with each other for other sources, which are likely to include Morocco. Several investigators have looked at this situation on a country-by-country basis. Walan et al. [24] predicts that "exports will depend heavily on Morocco in the future." Cooper et al. [25] predicted that "70% of global production is currently produced from reserves which will be depleted within 100 years," and that "Morocco, with nearly 77% of global reserves, will need to increase production by 700% by 2075 in order to meet most of this deficit." The situation looks dangerously similar to that in which the world found itself at the inception of the first oil crisis, with the difference that also China is now a major economic and military powerhouse.

The data indicate that a crisis in phosphorus resources is not yet imminent. Nevertheless, P scarcity, whether it occurs decades or in centuries from now, would be catastrophic for humanity. Although all future scenarios involve substantial assumptions, these could go either way: the catastrophe could be forestalled, or the situation could become even worse. This risk suggests that society should begin now to modify current wasteful practices concerning management of P resources, especially given that many of these practices result in environmental problems that affect us still today.

2.3. Phosphorus Cycle

Potential interventions to conserve known phosphorus resources require an understanding of the P flow through modern agricultural ecosystem. As P cannot be found in the atmosphere, due to the lack of stable gaseous forms, its cycle involves mainly transfer of this element between rocks, water, soil, sediments and organisms.

In the natural phosphorus cycle (Figure 2.6), rocks release phosphate ions and other minerals due to weathering, these are then distributed into soil and water. In soils, phosphate is absorbed by plants, and subsequently uptaken by animals consuming the latter. Through the process of animal excretion (and decomposition of dead animals and plants), phosphate returns to the soil. Natural terrestrial ecosystems tend to recycle phosphorus many times before it washes out of the local environment. For example, Leopold [26] reports that an atom of phosphorus can be cycled locally about 47 times before being lost. Even after finding its way to aquatic water bodies, phosphorus may recycle between the water column and sediments repeatedly.



Figure 2.6. Natural phosphorus cycle in aquatic and terrestrial environments (based on [27,28]).

Eventually, phosphorus-containing substances flow to the ocean via rivers, estuaries and coastal waters. Other sources to the ocean include hydrothermal inputs and low-temperature reactions between sea waters and sea-floor. The phosphorus delivered into the oceans can be categorized in two forms; dissolved and particulate. Particulate phosphorus, due to high pH of seawater and its buffering property, is barely soluble and is found mostly sedimented on the bottom of the oceans and seas. Hence, it does not participate in the active phosphorus cycle until it is returned to the land by tectonic forces.

Dissolved phosphorus, once released into the oceans, is immediately absorbed by phytoplankton and aquatic plants, and therefore its concentration near the water surface is approximately zero. When phytoplankton and other organisms die, they sink transporting nutrients into deeper strata. Some may be sequestered in sediments, but a portion of them returns to the surface by upwelling currents along continental margins, where this phenomenon is favored by prevailing winds, creating as a consequence well-known fishery area, such as those off the western coast of South America and North Africa. It also results in higher P concentrations in coastal sediments, which would, in geologic time, lead to the formation of new, high-concentration phosphate rock (the existing formations are approximately ten to hundred million years old). Sedimented oceanic phosphorus may form again deep phosphate rocks during the process of diagenesis. This process is significantly slow, with a time scale of the order 10^8-10^9 years [28,29]: based on these considerations, the phosphorus cycle can be considered one of the slowest biogeochemical cycles among all elements.

2.3.1. Streamlining the Human P Cycle

Humans intervene in the phosphorus cycle by many ways. The anthropogenic phosphorus cycle resembles the natural one (Figure 2.7), except it uses only the higher concentration mineral phosphorus deposits (phosphate rock) more intensively. The total anthropogenic flux of phosphorus is about three times the natural flux, that is about 29 against 10 Mt/yr [9] and, in this accelerated cycle, only a negligible fraction of the phosphorus is recycled. In addition, the anthropogenic cycle, mainly targeted to the production of food for human consumption, significantly "leaks" phosphorus along the way, resulting in the fact that only about 16% of the mined phosphorus is consumed by humans, in the end. The most significant leaks are erosion and leaching from cropland, improper disposal of animal waste, and production of food waste, all of which could have negative environmental impacts. Targeted efforts at reducing P wastage could therefore potentially increase the duration of existing reserves by a factor of about 8.



Figure 2.7. The natural and anthropogenic (agricultural) phosphorus cycles.

Reduction of food waste may have the potential to conserve significant amounts of phosphorus. Reducing losses from agricultural land could be equally important, but more difficult to achieve, as this is usually attempted by implementing voluntary Best Management Practices (BMPs), which are mainly aimed at the control of nutrients and pollutants (pesticides) leaching to surface waters. Losses via animal waste could be reduced either by reducing the incidence of meat consumption in human diet, or by more effectively recycling animal waste. Recycling could be applied at other parts of the cycle, such as from crop waste, harvest waste, food waste, and human waste.

Recycling of human wastes will be specifically discussed below. However, it should be understood that since only about 16% [11] of mined phosphorus is actually consumed in the human diet, even if 100% recycling of human waste could be attained, this would only reduce our dependence on mined phosphorus by 16%, as all the previous forms of environmental P leaching would not have been addressed. Nevertheless, even such a relatively small recovery and recycling of phosphorus could be an important intervention in the realm of global P consumption. Figure 2.8 shows the effect of human intervention on open phosphorus cycle (a) and how this cycle can be closed by applying phosphorus recovery processes for wastewater and sewage sludge (b).



Figure 2.8. (a) Open phosphorus cycle, (b) Closed phosphorus cycle with recovery process (based on [3,30]).

2.4. Environmental Effects of Phosphorus Pollution

Mankind, breaking the natural phosphorus cycle, is releasing more phosphorus-containing wastes into the rivers and seas. The acceleration of natural cycle has already caused disastrous problems in aquatic and marine ecosystems, represented in primis by the eutrophication phenomenon.

In the presence of a high enough amount of phosphorus in surface waters, nitrogen will in fact temporarily become a limiting agent for aquatic plants and algae growth. In this case, nitrogen-fixing organisms such as bluegreen bacteria will start to overdevelop to bring back the system into an equilibrium with the increased amount of available P. Accumulated, internal water body loadings could maintain excessive phosphorus levels even after external pollution sources had been eliminated [31-33].

The produced, dead biomass often accumulates in the sediment of freshwater bodies, contributing in the long term to sediment oxygen demand, depleting oxygen content in the water column. In addition, large quantities of suspended photosynthetic biomass could cause large daily swings of dissolved oxygen (DO) and pH (linked to dissolved CO₂). In marine environments subject to nutrient runoff from coastal lands, biomass may settle into deeper layers, resulting in fast oxygen depletion (hypoxia) and acidification due to dissolved CO₂. All these effects are indicated under the term eutrophication and are considered a water quality degradation (pollution) issue that can induce additional negative ecological impacts. For this reason, at present, much effort is being devoted to the removal of N & P from wastewater discharges, especially in low exchange water bodies [34-36], as foreseen by current environmental protection regulations (in the EU, the Water Framework Directive, WFD). Such

removal can occur both with physicochemical and biological processes [37,38] however, is it costly and perhaps not completely necessary in view of the new paradigms on wastewater management, stressing resource recovery according to circular economy principles [39-41].

In most cases, this is due to excessively high concentration of phosphorus in water bodies. "Harmful algal bloom" may also produce toxic, or taste-and-odor compounds, in drinking water sources.

Photosynthetic reactions remove carbonates from water. Potentially, alkalinity shifts to hydroxide form, raising the solution pH. For example, water with alkalinity of 100 mg/L CaCO₃ would theoretically have a pH of 11.3 if all carbonates were removed. In real systems, this may be buffered to a certain degree due to exchange of CO₂ with the atmosphere. During the night the opposite happens, as CO₂ is generated by algal respiration, lowering the pH. Such potentially significant pH swings could be detrimental to indigenous biota and may cause leaching of heavy metals from the sediments. In addition, high pH would cause ammonium to convert to the ammonia form, more toxic to fish.

In oceans (as well as in deep, stratified lakes) photosynthesis and respiration reactions are to some extent spatially separated. Photosynthesis occurs within the surface water layers, where light can penetrate. Phytoplankton then sinks where its degradation consumes oxygen and reduces pH. The low oxygen condition is known as hypoxia, and more popularly as "dead zone" if oxygen levels are low enough to stress or eliminate fisheries. Additionally, if deep waters are occasionally brought to the surface due to coastal upwelling, then the resulting low pH conditions can inhibit growth of organisms such as mollusks and crustaceans that form shells incorporating calcium carbonate.

2.4.1. Phosphorus Removal

The P issue is clearly a double-edged problem: it concerns both phosphorus potential resource depletion, and environmental pollution. As mentioned above, there are several interventions that could conserve phosphorus, reduce its discharge to the environment, or both. The focus henceforth should be on technologies and approaches allowing for recovery of phosphorus from wastewater and its byproducts.

Raw wastewater contains somewhere in the range of 4.0–16.0 mg P/L. About 20–30% of this is removed during conventional biological aerobic treatment without any use of specific P-removal processes though anabolic uptake (i.e., the incorporation of P in new cellular material). This would leave a nominal 3.0 to 12.0 mg P/L in treated effluents. However, due to recent environmental regulations, this removal rate is often not sufficient. Based on the European Water Framework Directive [42], P concentrations released in the environment from wastewater treatment facilities located in sensitive areas (i.e., those where discharge of excessive nutrients could originate severe basinwise water quality impairments—including eutrophication) have been identified as 1 or 2 mg/L depending on the facility's capacity.

The first phosphorus removal processes date back to the late 1950s when companies started to achieve this goal by using the only known method, chemical precipitation, which is still used substantially today. In chemical precipitation, P is removed by adding chemicals such as iron, aluminum or calcium salts to the wastewater. The salts precipitate as insoluble hydroxides, phosphorus is removed by a combination of co-precipitation and adsorption to the metal hydroxides. If combined with filtration, chemical methods can achieve effluent concentrations as low as about 0.05 mg P/L [43]; however, the precipitated P is bound in a sludge that necessitates of complex and expensive operations to make it recoverable and reusable.

From the mid-1960s researchers discovered that under certain conditions activated sludge can absorb phosphorus in excess of their needs [44]. Biological phosphorus removal was discovered and gradually introduced into common practice. If the wastewater contains a sufficient quantity of readily biodegradable organic matter, fermentation in an anaerobic zone produces volatile fatty acids (VFAs). A specific group of bacteria known as polyphosphate accumulating organisms (PAOs) uses the energy stored in intracellular polyphosphates to take up VFAs and convert them into intracellular organic storage compounds called polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs). Intracellular polyphosphates release orthophosphate (OP) into the mixed liquor, and P concentration increases within. An aerated zone downstream contains sufficient oxygen for the organisms to use PHAs for its energy requirements; at this point, PAOs take advantage of this 'substrate bounty' condition to regenerate their stores of polyphosphate, removing OP from solution in excess of actual requirements (this is in fact called excess, or 'luxury' uptake). Phosphorus in solution falls to low levels, below 1.0 mg P/L [44]. The organisms are then separated from the effluent and returned to the anaerobic zone, and the low-P solution is released as effluent. Biological phosphorus removal can consistently achieve nowadays, with properly managed processes, 75 to 93% reduction of effluent phosphorus.

Although biological processes may not remove P to levels as low as chemical processes, they have some advantages: there is no need of chemicals, the amount of sludge produced is lower than for chemical precipitation, and the biosolids that are produced are easier to utilize than chemical sludge.

These phosphorus-contained sludges were, and sometimes still are, transferred to landfills; however, this is forbidden by current legislation Europe-wide. Given the discussion in this paper, it would seem reasonable to modify processing technologies and direct these sludges to a recovery of phosphorus (and energy) in the form of products such as struvite $(NH_4MgPO_4\cdot 6H_2O)$, a mineral which can be utilized for fertilizer production.

32

2.5. Phosphorus Recovery

The most important difference between phosphorus removal and phosphorus recovery processes is that the former aims at obtaining phosphorus-free effluents from wastewater treatment plants (WRRFs), while the latter is focusing on phosphorus-containing by-products, which can then be reused for another purpose.

Phosphorus recovery technologies are mainly applied to industrial and urban wastewater, while there are few methods available for the livestock manure due to lack of suitable markets for processed manure, and the ready availability of low-cost alternatives (e.g., disposal) [45]. In the first case, recovery of phosphorus can be implemented in different stages of treatment, from the liquid to the sludge phase, and also from sludge post-treatment, such as incinerated sludge ash. Recovery rate from a liquid phase can reach up to a maximum of 40–50%, while in the sludge phase higher recovery rates of close to 90% can be achieved [46]. Figure 2.8 shows different possible locations for phosphorus recovery processes within a wastewater treatment plant. Table 2.2 shows a classification of commercially available technologies organized by type of waste treated and by type of technology.

Sludge type	Process name	Method	Products	Operational scale
Sludge liquor	P-ROC	Adsorption	CaP, CaP on CSH	Semi-industrial
	RECYPHOS	Adsorption	FeP	Semi-industrial
	PHOSIEDI	Adsorption	CaP	Lab scale
	PHOSTRIP	Precipitation	CaP	Full scale
	PRISA	Precipitation	Struvite	Semi-industrial
	CRYSTALACTOR	Pellets	CaP, struvite	Full scale
	PEARL	Pellets	Struvite	Full scale
Digested sludge	BERLINER VERFAHREN	Without leaching	Struvite	Full scale
	FIX-PHOS	Without leaching	CaP on CSH	Lab scale
	SEABORNE	With leaching	Struvite	Full scale
	STUTTGARTER VERFAHREN	With leaching	Struvite	Full scale
	LOPROX/PHOXAN	With leaching	Phosphoric acid	Full scale
	CAMBI	With leaching	FeP, AIP, CaP	Lab scale/ Full scale
	AQUA RECI	With leaching	FeP, AIP, CaP	Lab scale/ Full scale
	K REPO	With leaching	FeP	-
	SEPHOS	With leaching	AIP, CaP	Lab scale
	SESAL-PHOS	With leaching	CaP	Lab scale
	P ASCH	With leaching	Struvite	Semi-industrial
	BIOLEACHING	With leaching	Struvite	Lab scale
	BIO CON	With leaching	Phosphoric acid	Semi-industrial
Sludge ash	MEPHREC	Thermal treatment	CaP	Semi-industrial
	ASH DEC	Thermal treatment	Fertilizer	Semi-industrial

Table 2.2. Known processes for phosphorus recovery from wastewater and sewage sludge (based on [50]).

Chapter 2: The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resources, Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review

THERMPHOS	Thermal treatment	Elemental phosphorus	Industrial process
PHOSPHORUS INDUSTRY	Thermal treatment	Fertilizer	Industrial process

As accumulated polyphosphates accumulated in bacterial cells performing an enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR) process can be released under anaerobic conditions, phosphorus can be recovered in a relatively efficient way from the supernatant of the sidestream recycled to the activated sludge process, the effluent after secondary sedimentation, or from the dewatering process after anaerobic digestion of sludge (location L1, L2, L3 in Figure 2.9). Recovery of phosphorus from wastewater streams is commonly achieved by precipitation/crystallization processes. Typically, the product of this process is in the form of calcium phosphate or magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate (struvite), the latter a suitable mineral for fertilizer use. Struvite crystallization is one of the current leading technologies for P recovery, described in detail below. Recovery from the solid phase can also be achieved from the primary sludge, excess sludge after secondary sedimentation, the raw sludge before anaerobic digestion and the sludge before and after dewatering (locations S1-S5 in Figure 2.9). Crystals of struvite and calcium phosphate may also be obtained from sewage sludge or sludge ash with alternative processes: as an example, it is possible to recover P from sludge ash after incineration (location A in Figure 2.9), and this is actually the technology in which the most concentrated form of phosphorus will be obtained; 4-11% by weight comparable to phosphate rock with about 13% phosphorus content [47-49]. Phosphorus can be recovered from ashes by acid extraction or bioleaching. The phosphorus in the sludge ash can also be recovered in a fairly pure form as phosphoric acid or as white phosphorus using high-temperature thermal treatment processes [49].



Figure 2.9. Possible phosphorus recovery locations in a conventional WRRF, S: Sludge phase, L: Liquid phase, A: sludge Ash (based on [30,46]).

2.5.1. Struvite Crystallization

Magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate (MgNH₄PO₄·6H₂O), or struvite, is a white mineral that can be naturally formed under certain conditions in sewer systems and WRRF conduits. In WRRFs it is often considered a nuisance, due to its potential for uncontrolled precipitation in undesired locations, such as in pipes, where it could form severe clogging [51]. This occurs typically in those parts of a WRRF where there is localized turbulence, for instance in pumps, aerators and pipes, due to pressure decrease and consequent release of dissolved CO₂. This will increase pH levels and, consequently, enhance chances of its formation [52]. Removal of struvite incrustations under these circumstances is quite expensive. Incidentally, it should be noted that struvite also precipitates in alkaline urine, forming one type of the kidney stones that may affect about 15% of the human population at one point in each individuals' life.

Struvite, however, can also be formed under controlled conditions in crystallization reactors, in which it is removed as small, fairly pure pellets. Low solubility, low metal content and the presence of both nitrogen and magnesium, which are also basic nutrient elements, make struvite suitable as a slow-release fertilizer.

The process of struvite crystallization is based on the following stoichiometric equations:

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O$$
 (1)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + HPO_4^{2-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + H^+$$
 (2)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + H_2PO_4^- + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + 2H^+$$
 (3)

In the pH range of struvite precipitation (pH 7–11) the reaction of HPO_4^{2-} is the dominant one [53]. Key factors in struvite formation are pH, magnesium concentration and presence of other competing ions, such as calcium, in the original solution. In most cases, the limiting agent in wastewater streams is magnesium, therefore it should be added to the process in the form of MgCl₂, Mg(OH)₂ or MgO to ensure its stoichiometric concentration. In addition to stoichiometry, an appropriate level of pH needs to be verified and, for this, addition of sodium hydroxide to the solution is the most common approach. Using added MgO or Mg(OH)₂ as a source of magnesium could also provide sufficient pH adjustment to the solution (due to the oxides' alkalinity) but their low level of solubility should also be considered as a drawback. The final product obtained, struvite, can be further used directly as a fertilizer (if it meets the requirements as certified fertilizer, based on EU criteria), otherwise it can be further processed by the fertilizer industry to overcome such limitations.

Struvite solubility product is in the range of 9.4–13.26 [54] and it can be precipitated within pH range 7–11 [53]. Increase in pH will decrease struvite solubility and hence enhance its precipitation potential [53]. One of the key obstacles on the way of precipitation is the presence of other competitive ions, particularly calcium (Ca²⁺). This can lead to impurities in the final precipitate in the form of calcium phosphate salts. Studies suggest that in order to achieve effective precipitation the Ca²⁺: Mg²⁺ratio should be <1 [55] unless there is abundant concentration of ammonium in solution [56]. Many studies have been conducted on the effect of calcium co-precipitation on the process efficiency [55,57-59].

One of the advantages of struvite crystallization is that it can simultaneously remove phosphorus and nitrogen, in fact, this mineral typically contains 12% P and 5% N, by mass. A high efficiency of 80–90% can be achieved for soluble phosphorus recovery in the process. Struvite crystallization is mainly effective for waste streams with low solids content and relatively high phosphorus concentration (P-PO₄ > 50 mg/L). The hydraulic retention time of the process is usually less than 60 min, but high solid retention times (usually more than 10 days) are needed to allow sufficient crystal growth to achieve larger, well separated stones.

The crystallization process performance can be improved by introducing seed materials to the system [60,61]. The presence of seed materials such as white quartz sand and granite chips (with low solubility in alkaline conditions) improves crystals reaction rate and reduces reaction time. They also improve the nucleation process (crystal birth) of struvite if having sufficiently large surface area [60]. Struvite itself has been studied for application as a seed material, in order to improve the efficiency of the crystallization process [60,62,63]. Shih et al. [64] showed that under optimal operational conditions (e.g., pH and constituent ion molar ratios) and with proper dosage and size of seed material, up to 95.8% P recovery could be achieved. Nevertheless, using seed material may have its own drawbacks: implementation costs,

phosphate ion selectivity, efficient settling, and separation are some of the challenges to overcome [60].

2.5.2. P Recovery by Assimilation

Adsorption and assimilation of phosphate by algae is another promising method for Precovery from wastewater [65-67]. Photosynthetic algae use CO₂ and nutrients (NH₄⁺, NO_3^- and PO_4^{3-}) for their growth, while producing oxygen. This is then utilized by heterotrophic bacteria for their metabolism thus producing NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and PO_4^{3-} [60]. Algae have been applied in the aerobic ponds of wastewater treatment plants to deal with organic carbon and pathogenic pollutants removal [67-69]; however, their phosphorus removal was generally low [70], the main reason being that aerobic ponds are not optimized for biomass production [67]. Algal assimilation, nonetheless, could have a great potential for P-uptake under optimized conditions, as algal dry biomass can contain up to 3.3% P by weight [71]. El Hamouri [72] reported 63% P-removal by an algal pond. Light intensity, influent P concentration, pH, aeration, mixing rate and temperature are important factors for achieving high P recovery by algal biomass [60-67]. Microalgae are most widely used in these wastewater treatment systems. Harvesting of algae at the end of the treatment could be achieved by filtration, sedimentation or centrifugation: although, there are some successful examples of algae harvesting at the pilot scale, large-scale application of such systems is still challenging [60-69].

The big advantage of P recovery by algal assimilation is the value of the produced biomass. The harvested algal biomass can be used in different industries including slow-release fertilizers, animal food production, pharmaceuticals, food processing, etc. and can be a feedstock for liquid biofuels production, due to high lipids content [73].

2.5.3. Membrane Technologies

Phosphorus recovery using membrane technologies is relatively new, and still in a development phase. Membrane media have great potential in increasing concentrations of constituent ions in a solution for further precipitation of (for example) struvite and calcium phosphate compounds [60]. Reverse osmosis (RO), forward osmosis (FO), microfiltration (MF), ultrafiltration (UF), nanofiltration (NF) and possibly a combination thereof could be used for simultaneous wastewater treatment and nutrient recovery. Generally, membrane technologies allow to obtain concentrated streams that could be subsequently subjected to a precipitation process for P recovery. Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ sources and pH adjustment methods would be required to achieve the initial conditions for the precipitation process, while the performance of these systems could be affected by several parameters. Influent quality, hydraulic load, salinity, membrane fouling (organic, inorganic, or biological fouling) are the most important ones [60,74].

Osmotic membrane bioreactors (OMBRs) are a novel approach for P recovery using membrane technologies [75,76]. The process is an integration of osmotically-driven membranes and biological treatment, which has been used recently for phosphorus recovery mainly in the form of amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP, Ca₃(PO₄)₂·xH₂O) [75]. OMBR uses a non-porous osmotically-driven membrane instead of conventional porous MF or UF membranes under hydraulic pressure driving force [74,77]: the use of osmotically-driven membranes, such as FO membranes, has the advantage of an enhanced rejection, reduced fouling and lower costs [60,74].

Qiu and Ting [75] showed that >95% P could be recovered through this system. The system's performance, however, can be highly affected by salinity [75,78] and it has to be taken into consideration to achieve high efficiency. Integration of MF with FOMBR was studied by Qiu et al. [79], achieving >90% P recovery. Luo et al. [80] investigated an OMBR-RO system in combination with an MF for recovering P in the form of Ca-P compounds, obtaining 15–20 wt% P-containing precipitates. Ninety percent P recovery was achieved by Thing et al. [81] using a NF system and Hou et al. [82] obtained a remarkable 99% recovery by application of a NF and FO combination.

In spite of having demonstrated great efficiency and high P recovery rates, membrane systems have been developed solely at the laboratory scale. The feasibility of continuous operation of these membranes is still a challenge [60], since membrane performance will significantly decrease with deposit accumulation (fouling), requiring frequent cleaning and showing gradual loss of performance. High operational costs for the overall process (cleaning, maintenance and chemicals for precipitation) are still high, which make membrane technologies difficult to implement at large scale at the moment [60,74,76] although few studies could be found with effective results in pilot scale [83].

2.6. Considerations on the Energy-Nutrient Nexus in WRRFs

Wastewater treatment plants are essential facilities for the protection of the environment and public health; however, they are among the greatest public consumers of energy and resources in developed countries. It is in fact estimated that WRRFs are the single, most energy-intensive public operation in most towns of the developed world; up to 3–4% of the total electric consumption in the US has been related to the water cycle, including WRRFs [84]. In Australia, where most treatment plants are based on conventional activated sludge process, including aerobic sludge digestion with no energy recovery (no onsite biogas production), electric energy use for running these systems may total 80 kWh/capita-year [85]. In Europe, estimated optimized energy requirements (under current mainstream technology) are in the range 25–30 kWh/capita-year [86]. In addition, WRRFs also need large amounts of process materials (chemicals) during their lifespan. Recovery of materials and energy with appropriate technologies could therefore be a desirable, additional requirement for future, sustainable

WRRFs. By recovering N & P contained in wastewater, an equivalent amount of external fossilfuel energy, which would be required for the production of equal amounts of fertilizing elements N and P by industrial processes, would effectively be saved, corresponding to 19.3 kWh/kg N (extracted by the Haber-Bosch process), and 2.11 kWh/kg P (processed from PR) [87]. Hence, supposing that just 50% of all human-consumed P worldwide (3.84 Mt P/year, excluding upflow losses) could be usefully recovered (1.92 Mt P/yr), this would translate both into direct recovery of an equal amount of limited P resources, and in the avoided consumption of about 4000 GWh of energy, roughly the same consumed in 1 month in the entire Switzerland.

Therefore, from a sustainability point of view, it is not enough to summarize the aim of a WRRF referring solely to nutrients recovery. Minimum energy consumption is of significant importance in order to meet sustainable development objectives. One of the possible approaches is to improve the efficiency of plants by implementing adequate control systems, replacing old inefficient equipment and performing energy conservation analyses of plants [88]. Mathematical models are of great interest for optimization of current systems [89,90] which can be a helpful tool for reducing energy consumption and maximizing resource recovery (in particular N and P). A good example of such approach can be found in Vaneeckhaute et al. [91] that developed a generic nutrient recovery model library in order to optimize nutrient (N, P) and energy recovery of treatment facilities with a focus on fertilizer quality and quantity. Batstone et al. [92] showed that there is a serious need of improvement on current physicochemical models for them to be applied for nutrients recovery purposes.

More progress was achieved in the last decade; however, in terms of on-site energy generation in WRRFs. On-site generation is the most favorable approach in order to move towards WRRF sustainability as the generated energy can be directly used by the plant itself, and by other facilities as well [93-95].

Bio-electrochemical systems (BES) including microbial fuel cells (MFC) and microbial electrolysis cells (MEC) are relatively new approaches for on-site energy generation and nutrients recovery. These have been investigated since approximately a decade; however, applications are limited to pilot scale due to high capital costs and technological limitations. Studies on nutrient recovery using BESs have been mostly focused on removal of nitrogen, with few studies on their potential for phosphorus recovery. The latter show, nevertheless, great prospects on the P recovery issue [96]. MFC systems that directly convert the chemical energy of the wastewater into electricity by means of microorganisms through the conventional oxidation/reduction process have been tested, with no or limited large scale applications [97,98]. MEC systems, on the contrary, could generate methane or hydrogen by applying an electric current to the organic materials. Power generation by MFC systems are typically between 10 to 100 mW/m² [99,100]. Hydrogen recovery using MEC systems has not been studied thoroughly and consequently there are no practical application for that so far.

39

In spite of problems and challenges of MFC and MEC systems application at the full-scale for on-site energy generation, they have shown potential of being beneficial. Sewage treatment using MFC systems in European Union could save up to 1 M tonne/year, and a considerable amount of sludge disposal costs [101,102]. Bio-electrochemical systems could also be implemented for the integration of energy and nutrients recovery: there have been, in fact, interesting studies on the possibility of phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite by MFC systems [92,103]. Studies suggest that phosphorus could be removed up to 82% by MFC systems, 40% of which it could be recovered as struvite [104]. Fischer et al. [103] used a three-stage single chamber MFC for phosphorus recovery, achieving 78% recovery in the form of struvite. MECs have also been used to that end: with a single-chamber MEC Cusick and Logan [105] were able to produce struvite at a rate of $0.3-0.9 \text{ g/m}^2$ -hour. You et al. [106] investigated a two chamber MEC to achieve 97% phosphorus recovery by struvite precipitation. Despite the good results obtained by these systems on treatment efficiency; however, their main remaining drawback is the high capital cost per unit of energy produced [60,107].

2.7. Conclusions

Although phosphorus resources are apparently abundant, they are not unlimited by any means. It can be reasonably anticipated that future generations may at some point find these resources to reflect a much more critical situation than the one currently perceived. It is clear that current agricultural practices waste a large amount of these resources, since only 16% of the total are effective for their planned use. Not only this is critical towards long-term sustainability of this element, but these wasteful practices also result in high levels of pollution that harm water supplies, fisheries and ecosystems balance even today. Taken together, these concerns should produce a strong moral and economic incentive to conserve phosphorus. Recovery from wastewater streams is one approach that could contribute to the improvement of current practices. Some proposed technologies were illustrated in the paper; notwithstanding the current limitations of some of them, it could be expected that they may, in a few years, reach a level of industrial maturity for full-scale application.

2.8. References

- 1. Pfitzner, A.; Bräu, M.F.; Zweck, J.; Brunklaus, G.; Eckert, H. Phosphorus Nanorods Two allotropic modifications of a long-known element. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2004**, *43*, 4228–4231.
- 2. Boskey, A. Bone composition: Relationship to bone fragility and antiosteoporotic drug effects. *BoneKey Rep.* **2013**, *2*, 447.
- Childers, D.L.; Corman, J.; Edwards, M.; Elser, J.J. Sustainability Challenges of Phosphorus and Food: Solutions from Closing the Human Phosphorus Cycle. *Bioscience* 2011, 61, 117–124.

- 4. Pasek, M.A.; Sampson, J.M.; Atlas, Z. Redox chemistry in the phosphorus biogeochemical cycle. *PNAS* **2014**, *111*, 15468–15473.
- 5. Glindemann, D.; Edwards, M.; Liu, J.; Kuschk, P. Phosphine in soils, sludges, biogases and atmospheric implications—A review. *Ecol. Eng.* **2005**, *24*, 457–463.
- 6. Filippelli, G.M. Phosphate rock formation and marine phosphorus geochemistry: The deep time perspective. *Chemosphere* **2011**, *84*, 759–766.
- Sheldon, R.P. Industrial Minerals—With Emphasis on Phosphate Rock. In *Resources and World Development*; McLaren, D.J., Skinner, B.J., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons Ltd.: New York, NY, USA, 1987; pp. 347–361.
- 8. IFA. International Fertilizer Association Production and International Trade Report. 2016. Available online: https://fertilizer.org/Statistics (accessed on 20 March 2017).
- Smil, V. Phosphorus: Global Transfers, Causes and consequences of global environmental change. In *Encyclopedia of Global Environmental Change*; Douglas, I., Munn, T., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.: Chichester, UK, 2002; Volume 3, pp. 536–542. ISBN 0-471-97796-9.
- 10. Vaccari, D.A. How do you spot a trend? An examination of recent phosphate rock production. In the special issue on Sustainable Phosphorus. *Glob. Environ. Res.* **2015**, *19*, 3–8.
- 11. Jasinski, S.M. Phosphate Rock, USGS Mineral Commodities Summary. Available online: http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/phosphate_rock/ (accesse d on 15 March 2017).
- 12. Notholt, A.J.G.; Sheldon, R.P.; Davidson, D.F. *Phosphate Deposits of the World. Volume 2: Phosphate Rock Resources*; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 1989.
- 13. Cordell, D.; Drangert, J.O.; White, S. The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* **2009**, *19*, 292–305.
- 14. De Ridder, M.; de Jong, S.; Polchar, J.; Lingermann, S. *Risks and Opportunities in the Global Phosphate Rock Market*; The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies (HCSS): The Hague, The Netherlands, 2012.
- 15. Vaccari, D.A. Phosphorus: A Looming Crisis. Sci. Am. 2009, 300, 54–59.
- 16. Van Kauwenbergh, S.J. *World Phosphate Rock Reserves and Resources*; International Fertilizer Development Center: Muscle Shoals, AL, USA, 2010; ISBN 978-9-88999-167-3.
- Edixhoven, J.D.; Gupta, J.; Savenije, H.H.G. Recent revisions of phosphate rock reserves and resources: Reassuring or misleading? An in-depth literature review of global estimates of phosphate rock reserves and resources. *Earth Syst. Dyn.* 2013, *4*, 1005– 1034.
- 18. Gharbi, A. *Les Phosphates Marocains, Chronique de la Recherche Minière*; Bureau de Récherches Géologiques et Minières: Orléans, France, 1998; pp. 531–532.

- 19. Terrab, M. *IMPHOS Annual Report*; World Phosphate Institute: Casablanca, Morocco, 2006.
- 20. Cordell, D.; White, S.; Lindström, T. Peak phosphorus: The crunch time for humanity? *The Sustainability Review*. 2011. Available online: http://www.thesustainabilityreview.org/articles/peak-phosphorus-the-crunchtime-for-humanity(accessed on 20 April 2017).
- Mew, M. Future Phosphate Rock Production—Peak or Plateau? Fertecon Research Centre Limited—A Matter of Opinion. 2011. Available online: http://www.ferteconfrc.info/page15.htm (accessed on 1 October 2012).
- 22. Vaccari, D.A.; Strigul, N. Extrapolating phosphorus production to estimate resource reserves. *Chemosphere* **2011**, *84*, 792–797.
- 23. Scholz, R.W.; Wellmer, F.W. Approaching a dynamic view on the availability of mineral resources: What we may learn from the case of phosphorus? *Glob. Environ. Chang.* **2013**, *23*, 11–27.
- 24. Walan, P.; Davidsson, S.; Johansson, S.; Höök, M. Phosphate rock production and depletion: Regional disaggregated modeling and global implications. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2014**, *93*, 178–187.
- 25. Cooper, J.; Lombardi, R.; Boardman, D.; Carliell-Marquet, C. The future distribution and production of global phosphate rock reserves. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2011**, *57*, 78–86.
- 26. Leopold, A. *A Sand County Almanac and Sketches Here and There*; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA, 1943; ISBN 978-0-19-500777-0.
- 27. Filippelli, G.M. The Global Phosphorus Cycle: Past, Present, and Future. *Elements* **2013**, *4*, 89–95.
- 28. Pierrou, U. The Global Phosphorus Cycle. *Ecol. Bull. Nitrogen Phosphorus Sulphur Glob. Cycles Scope Rep.* **1976**, *22*, 75–88.
- 29. Broecker, W.S. *Chemical Oceanography*; Harcourt Brace Jovanowich Inc.: San Diego, CA, USA, 1976; ISBN 0-15-506437-1.
- Desmidt, E.; Ghyselbrecht, K.; Zhang, Y.; Pinoy, P.; Van der Bruggen, B.; Verstraete, W.; Rabaey, K.; Meesschaert, B. Global Phosphorus Scarcity and Full-Scale P-Recovery Techniques: A Review. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.*2015, 45, 336–384.
- 31. Søndergaard, M.; Jensen, J.P.; Jeppesen, E. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. *Hydrobiologia* **2003**, *506–509*, 135–145.
- 32. Scharf, W. Restoration of the highly eutrophic lingese reservoir. *Hydrobiologia***1999**, *416*, 85–96.
- Granéli, W. Internal phosphorus loading in Lake Ringsjön. In Nutrient Reduction and Biomanipulation as Tools to Improve Water Quality: The Lake Ringsjön Story; Hansson, L.A., Bergman, E., Eds.; Developments in Hydrobiology; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1999; Volume 140, pp. 19–26. ISBN 978-94-017-2462-3.

- 34. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A.G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Sci. Technol.* **1993**, *28*, 69–78.
- 35. Capodaglio, A.G.; Muraca, A.; Becchi, G. Accounting for water quality effects of future urbanization: Diffuse pollution loads estimates and control in Mantua's Lakes (Italy). *Water Sci. Technol.* **2003**, *47*, 291–298.
- 36. Capodaglio, A.G.; Boguniewicz, J.; Llorens, E.; Salerno, F.; Copetti, D.; Legnani, E.; Buraschi, E.; Tartari, G. Integrated lake/catchment approach as a basis for the implementation of the WFD in the Lake Pusiano watershed. In Proceedings of the Conference on River Basin Management—Progress TOWARDS Implementation of the European Water Framework Directive; Scimago Lab: Budapest, Hungary, 2005; pp. 77– 86.
- 37. Capodaglio, A.G.; Hlavínek, P.; Raboni, M. Physico-chemical technologies for nitrogen removal from wastewaters: A review. *Rev. Ambient. Agua* **2015**, *10*, 481–498.
- 38. Capodaglio, A.G.; Hlavínek, P.; Raboni, M. Advances in wastewater nitrogen removal by biological processes: State of the art review. *Rev. Ambient. Agua***2016**, *11*, 250–267.
- Capodaglio, A.G.; Ghilardi, P.; Boguniewicz-Zablocka, J. New paradigms in urban water management for conservation and sustainability. *Water Pract. Technol.* 2016, 11, 176– 186.
- 40. Capodaglio, A.G. Integrated, Decentralized Wastewater Management for Resource Recovery in Rural and Peri-Urban Areas. *Resources* **2017**, *6*, 22.
- 41. Capodaglio, A.G.; Callegari, A.; Cecconet, D.; Molognoni, D. Sustainability of decentralized wastewater treatment technologies. *Water Pract. Technol.* **2017**, *12*, 463–477.
- 42. Council Directive 91/271/EEC, Official Journal of the European Communities. 1991. 135/40. online: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:31991L0271&f rom=EN (accessed on 20 April 2017).
- 43. Yang, L.; Zhou, H.; Moccia, R. Membrane Filtration Coupled with Chemical Precipitation to Treat Recirculating Aquaculture System Effluent. *J. Environ. Qual.* **2006**, *35*, 2419–2424.
- 44. Barnard, J.L. A Review of Biological Phosphorus Removal in the Activated Sludge Process. *Water SA* **1976**, *2*, 136–144.
- 45. Schoumans, O.F.; Rulkens, W.H.; Oenema, O.; Ehlert, P.A.I. *Phosphorus Recovery from Animal Manure: Technical Opportunities and Agro-Economical Perspectives*; Alterra Report; Alterra: Wageningen, The Netherlands, 2010.
- 46. Cornel, P.; Schaum, C. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater: Needs, techniques and costs. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *59*, 1069–1076.
- 47. Donatello, S.; Cheeseman, C.R. Recycling and recovery routes for incinerated sewage sludge ash (ISSA): A review. *Waste Manag.* **2013**, *33*, 2328–2340
- Mayer, B.K.; Baker, L.A.; Boyer, T.H.; Drechsel, P.; Gifford, M.; Hanjra, M.A.; Parameswaran, P.; Stoltzfus, J.; Westerhodd, P.; Rittmann, B.E. Total value of phosphorus recovery. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *50*, 6606–6620.
- Schipper, W.J.; Klapwijk, A.; Potjer, B.; Rulkens, W.H.; Temmink, B.G.; Kiestra, F.D.G.; Lijmbach, A.C.M. Phosphate recycling in the phosphorus industry. *Environ. Technol.* 2001, 22, 1337–1345.
- 50. Sartorius, C.; von Horn, J.; Tettenborn, F. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater expert survey on present use and future potential. *Water Environ. Res.* **2012**, *84*, 313–322.
- 51. Cost-Effective and Eco-Friendly Struvite Wastewater Treatment Products. Available online: http://www.struvite.info (accessed on 8 April 2018).
- 52. Borgerding, J. Phosphate deposits in digestion systems. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. **1972**, 44, 813–819.
- 53. Parsons, S.A. Recent scientific and technical developments: Struvite precipitation. *CEEP Scope Newsl.* **2001**, *41*, 15–22.
- 54. Le Corre, K.S.; ValsamieJones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S.A. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater by struvite crystallization: A review. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *39*, 433–477.
- 55. Le Corre, K.S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S.A. Impact of calcium on struvite crystal size, shape and purity. *J. Cryst. Growth* **2005**, *283*, 514–522.
- 56. Crutchik, D.; Garrido, J.M. Struvite crystallization versus amorphous magnesium and calcium phosphate precipitation during the treatment of a saline industrial wastewater. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *64*, 2460–2467.
- 57. Pastor, L.; Mangin, D.; Barat, R.; Seco, A. A pilot-scale study of struvite precipitation in a stirred tank reactor: Conditions influencing the process. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2008**, *99*, 6285–6291.
- 58. Hao, X.D.; Wang, C.C.; Lan, L.; Van Loosdrecht, M.C.M. Struvite formation, analytical methods and effects of pH and Ca2+. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *58*, 1687–1692.
- 59. Lee, S.; Yoo, B.; Lim, S.J.; Kim, T.; Kim, S.; Kim, J.Y. Development and validation of an equilibrium model for struvite formation with calcium co-precipitation. *J. Cryst. Growth* **2013**, *372*, 129–137.
- 60. Peng, L.; Dai, H.; Wu, Y.; Peng, Y.; Lu, X. A comprehensive review of the available media and approaches for phosphorus recovery from wastewater. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **2018**, *229*, 115.
- 61. Liu, Y.H.; Rahman, M.M.; Kwag, J.H.; Kim, J.H.; Ra, C.S. Eco-friendly production of maize using struvite re- covered from swine wastewater as a sustainable fertilizer source. *Asian Austral. J. Anim. Sci.* **2011**, *24*, 1699–1705.

- 62. Regy, S.; Mangin, D.; Klein, J.P.; Lieto, J. *Phosphate Recovery by Struvite Precipitation in a Stirred Reactor, Phosphate Recovery in Waste Water by Crystallization*; CEEP: Southampton, UK, 2002; pp. 54–58.
- 63. Yu, R.; Geng, J.; Ren, H.; Wang, Y.; Xu, K. Struvite pyrolysate recycling combined with dry pyrolysis for ammonium removal from wastewater. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2013**, *132*, 154–159.
- 64. Shih, Y.J.; Abarca, R.R.M.; Luna, M.D.G.D.; Huang, Y.H.; Lu, M.C. Recovery of phosphorus from synthetic wastewaters by struvite crystallization in a fluidized-bed reactor: Effects of pH, phosphate concentration and coexisting ions. *Chemosphere* **2017**, *173*, 466–473.
- 65. Bojcevska, H.; Raburu, P.O.; Tonderski, K.S. Free water surface wetlands for polishing sugar factory effluent in western kenya-macrophyte nutrient recovery and treatment results. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Wetland Systems for Water Pollution Control, Lisbon, Portugal, 23–29 September 2006; pp. 709–718.
- 66. Yuan, Z.; Pratt, S.; Batstone, D.J. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater through microbial processes. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2012**, *23*, 878–883.
- 67. Shilton, A.N.; Powell, N.; Guieysse, B. Plant-based phosphorus recovery from wastewater via algae and macrophytes. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2012**, *23*, 884–889.
- 68. Abis, K.L.; Mara, D.D. Primary facultative ponds in the UK: The effect of operational parameters on performance and algal populations. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *51*, 61–67.
- 69. Yaakob, Z.; Kamarudin, K.F.; Rajkumar, R.; Takriff, M.S.; Badar, S.N. The current methods for the biomass production of the microalgae from wastewaters: An overview. *World Appl. Sci. J.* **2014**, *31*, 1744–1758.
- 70. Garcia, J.; Mujeriego, R.; Bourrouet, A.; Penuelas, G.; Freixes, A. Wastewater treatment by pond systems: Experiences in Catalonia, Spain. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2000**, *42*, 35–42.
- 71. Richmond, A. *Handbook of Microalgal Culture: Biotechnology and Applied Phycology;* Wiley-Blackwell: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2004.
- 72. El Hamouri, B. Rethinking natural, extensive systems for tertiary treatment purposes: The high-rate algae pond as an example. *Desalination Water Treat*. **2009**, *4*, 128–134.
- 73. Tarayre, C.; De, C.L.; Charlier, R.; Michels, E.; Meers, E.; Camargo-Valero, M.; Delvigne, F. New perspectives for the design of sustainable bioprocesses for phosphorus recovery from waste. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2016, 206, 264–274.
- 74. Wang, X.; Chang, W.C.; Tang, C.Y. Osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) technology for wastewater treatment and reclamation: Advances, challenges and prospects for the future. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2016**, *504*, 113–132.
- 75. Qiu, G.; Ting, Y.P. Direct phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater via osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) for wastewater treatment. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 170, 221–229.

- 76. Achilli, A.; Cath, T.Y.; Marchand, E.A.; Childress, A.E. The forward osmosis membrane bioreactor: A low fouling alternative to MBR processes. *Desalination***2009**, *239*, 10–21.
- 77. Holloway, R.W.; Achilli, A.; Cath, T.Y. The osmotic membrane bioreactor: A critical review. *Environ. Sci. Water Res. Technol.* **2015**, *1*, 581–605.
- 78. Qui, G.; Zhang, S.; Raghavan, D.S.S.; Das, S.; Ting, Y. The potential of hybrid forward osmosis membrane bioreactor (FOMBR) processes in achieving high throughput treatment of municipal wastewater with enhanced phosphorus recovery. *Water Res.* 2016, 105, 370–382.
- 79. Qiu, G.; Law, Y.M.; Das, S.; Ting, Y.P. Direct and complete phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater using a hybrid microfiltration-forward osmosis membrane bioreactor process with seawater brine as draw solution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 49, 6156–6163.
- 80. Luo, W.; Hai, F.I.; Price, W.E.; Guo, W.; Ngo, H.H.; Yamamoto, K.; Nghiem, L.D. Phosphorus and water recovery by a novel osmotic membrane bioreactor-reverse osmosis system. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2016**, *200*, 297–304.
- 81. Thong, Z.; Cue, Y.; Ong, Y.K.; Chung, T.S. Molecular design of nanofiltration membranes for the recovery of phosphorus from sewage sludge. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 5570–5577.
- Hau, N.T.; Chen, S.S.; Nguyen, N.C.; Huang, K.Z.; Ngo, H.H.; Guo, W. Exploration of EDTA sodium salt as novel draw solution in forward osmosis process for dewatering of high nutrient sludge. J. Membr. Sci. 2014, 455, 305–311.
- Vaneeckhaute, C.; Meers, E.; Michels, E.; Christiaens, P.; Tack, F.M.G. Fate of macronutrients in water treatment of digestate using vibrating reversed osmosis. *Water, Air, & Pollution*, **2012**, 223 (4), 1593-1603.
- 84. Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). *Water & Sustainability: U.S. Electricity Consumption for the Water Supply & Treatment*; The Next Half Century Topical Report; EPRI: Palo Alto, CA, USA, 2002.
- 85. De Haas, D.; Dancey, M. Wastewater treatment energy efficiency, a review with current Australian prospectives. *AWA J.* **2015**.
- 86. MURL—Ministry for Environment. *Nature Protection, Agriculture & Consumer Protection in the German State of North Rhine Westphalia: Energy in WWTPs*; MURL: Düsseldorf, Germany, 1999. (In German)
- 87. Gellings, C.W.; Parmenter, K.E. *Energy Efficiency in Fertilizer Production and Use. Efficient Use and Conservation of Energy*; Encyclopedia of life support systems (EOLSS): Oxford, UK, 2004; Volume 2.
- 88. Daw, J.; Hallett, K.; DeWolfe, J.; Venner, I. Energy Efficiency Strategies for Municipal Wastewater Treatment Facilities; NREL/TP-7A30-53341; National Renewable Energy Laboratory: Golden, CO, USA, 2012.

- Vanrolleghem, P.A.; Vaneeckhaute, C. Resource Recovery from Wastewater and Sludge: Modelling and Control Challenges. In Proceedings of the IWA Specialist Conference on Global Challenges: Sustainable Wastewater Treatment and Resource Recovery, Kathmandu, Nepal, 26–30 October 2014.
- 90. Ráduly, B.; Gernaey, K.V.; Capodaglio, A.G.; Mikkelsen, P.S.; Henze, M. Artificial neural networks for rapid WWTP performance evaluation: Methodology and case study. *Environ. Model. Softw.* 2007, 22, 1208–1216.
- 91. Vaneeckhaute, C.; Claeys, F.H.A.; Tack, F.M.G.; Meers, E.; Belia, E.; Vanrolleghem, P.A. Development, implementation, and validation of a generic nutrient recovery model (NRM) library. *Environ. Model. Softw.* **2018**, *99*, 170–209.
- Batstone, D.J.; Amerlinck, Y.; Ekama, G.; Goel, R.; Grau, P.; Johnson, B.; Kaya, I.; Steyer, J.-P.; Tait, S.; Takács, I.; et al. Towards a generalized physicochemical framework. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2012, 66, 1147–1161.
- 93. Wett, B.; Buchauer, K.; Fimml, C. Energy self-sufficiency as a feasible concept for wastewater treatment systems. In Proceedings of the IWA Leading Edge Technology Conference, Asian Water, Singapore, 3–6 June 2007.
- 94. Chen, S.; Chen, B. Net energy production and emissions mitigation of domestic wastewater treatment system: A comparison of different biogas-sludge use alternatives. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2013**, *144*, 296–303
- 95. McCarty, P.L.; Kim, J.; Bae, J. Domestic wastewater treatment as a net energy producer e can this be achieved? *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 7100–7106
- 96. Kelly, P.T.; He, Z. Nutrients removal and recovery in bioelectrochemical systems: A review. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2014**, *153*, 351–360.
- 97. Capodaglio, A.G.; Molognoni, D.; Dallago, E. Microbial Fuel Cells for Direct Electrical Energy Recovery from Urban Wastewaters. *Sci. World J.* **2013**, 634738
- 98. Capodaglio, A.G.; Molognoni, D.; Puig, S.; Balaguer, M.D.; Colprim, J. Role of Operating Conditions on Energetic Pathways in a Microbial Fuel Cell. *Energy Procedia* **2015**, *74*, 728–735.
- 99. Liu, H.; Ramnarayanan, R.; Logan, B.E. Production of electricity during wastewater treatment using a single chamber microbial fuel cell. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 2281–2285.
- 100. Cecconet, D.; Molognoni, D.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A.G. Agro-food industry wastewater treatment with microbial fuel cells: Energetic recovery issues. *Int. J. Hydrog. Energy* **2018**, *43*, 500–511.
- 101. Kim, B.H. Microbial fuel cell. KISToday 2009, 2, 4–8.
- 102. Mo, W.; Zhang, Q. Energy-nutrients-water nexus: Integrated resource recovery in municipal wastewater treatment plants. *J. Environ. Manag.* **2013**, *127*, 255–267.

- 103. Fischer, F.; Bastian, C.; Happe, M.; Mabillard, E.; Schmidt, N. Microbial fuel cell enables phosphate recovery from digested sewage sludge as struvite. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2011, 102, 5824–5830.
- 104. Ichihashi, O.; Hirooka, K. Removal and recovery of phosphorus as struvite from swine wastewater using microbial fuel cell. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2012**, *114*, 303–307.
- 105. Cusick, R.D.; Logan, B.E. Phosphate recovery as struvite within a single chamber microbial electrolysis cell. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2012**, *107*, 110–115
- 106. You, J.; Greenman, J.; Melhuish, C.; Ieropoulos, I. Electricity generation and struvite recovery from human urine using microbial fuel cells. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.* **2014**, *91*, 647–654.
- 107. Jaffer, Y.; Clark, T.A.; Pearce, P.; Parsons, S.A. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 1834–1842.

Chapter 3

Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge

A modified version has been published in *Resources*, 2018, 7, 54.

Saba Daneshgar ¹, Arianna Callegari ¹, Armando Buttafava² Andrea G. Capodaglio ^{1,*}

¹ Dept. Of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, 27100 PAVIA, Italy; saba.daneshgar@unipv.it, arianna.callegari@unipv.it, andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it

² UNECO srl, 27100 PAVIA, Italy, Armando.buttafava@unipv.it

* Correspondence: andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it; Tel.: +39-0382-985591

Abstract

Phosphorus is a potential environmental pollutant, which could lead to the eutrophication of water bodies. For this reason, wastewater treatment plants worldwide are often designed and operated to eliminate phosphorous from effluents, at substantial cost. At the same time, phosphorus is an essential nutrient for agriculture and, consequently, human life. Data seem to suggest that the world will run out of phosphorus by around 2300, in the best-case scenario, although even shorter estimates exist. This situation evokes the need for more efficient phosphorus recovery technologies, in order to meet current water quality requirements and —at the same time—critical future phosphorous needs. Chemical precipitation is the main process for achieving a phosphorus-containing mineral suitable for reuse as a fertilizer, where Struvite is an example of such a product. In this study chemical equilibrium of struvite precipitation was simulated using US Geological Survey (USGS)' PHREEQC model, and results were compared to laboratory precipitation tests to evaluate struvite recovery efficiency under various conditions. pH had the most significant effect on the results and P recovery of >90% was achieved at pH =9.5. Simulations indicated that struvite precipitation is affected by the presence of Amorphous Calcium Phosphate (ACP) and calcite in the final product of the process. The model showed great potential for predicting equilibrium conditions and could be very helpful for future optimization of the process.

Keywords: mineral phosphorous; scarcity; wastewater; precipitation modeling; struvite

3.1. Introduction

Potential environmental effects of phosphorous in surface waters are well known: the most important is eutrophication, that is, the excessive growth of aquatic plants, algae and photosynthetic bacteria such as cyanobacteria (often incorrectly called blue-green algae), most often controlled by the high concentration of this nutrient in a water body. In addition to the aesthetic damage, eutrophying organisms may produce toxic or taste-and-odor compounds into sources of drinking water, requiring additional treatment [1]. Dead photosynthetic biomass will settle, leading to accumulation of organic matter and phosphorus storage into sediments, which could contribute to future sediment oxygen demand (SOD), or cycle between water column and sediments in a phenomenon known as internal loading, which could maintain excessive phosphorus levels in a water body even after external pollution sources have been eliminated [2-4]. Large daily swings in dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations and pH (due to complementary swings in dissolved carbon dioxide concentrations) could also be due to excessive amounts of floating photosynthetic biomass. Lakes are the water bodies most frequently affected by this phenomenon [5-8]. In aquatic environments, based on relatively low concentrations of Al, Fe and Ca ions, P is much more available than in soils, where the soluble fraction represents a very small part of total P (TP), but is the only form of phosphorus (free orthophosphate ions PO_4^{3-}) that plants are able to assimilate for growth. Since this amount is quantitatively negligible, TP in soils consists almost solely of the adsorbed and organic fractions of the mineral. Where mandated, removal of N & P from wastewater discharges can occur both with physicochemical and biological processes [9,10]. This process is costly, and perhaps not completely necessary in view of the new paradigms on wastewater management, stressing resources recovery principles [11-13]. In this study, chemical equilibrium modeling of struvite precipitation was conducted to evaluate its behavior in the presence of constituent ions, the presence of Ca²⁺ as a competitive ion and variable pH and compared to laboratory experiments.

3.2. The Phosphorus Resources Issue

In a recent paper, Daneshgar et al. [14] summarized and commented on the most recent information about P use trends and resources forecasting. About 95% of all phosphorous production in the world is used in the agricultural sector, mainly in fertilizers: aside from P, only nitrogen has such an important role in the inorganic fertilizers industry. Almost the totality of Phosphate is taken out of the ground as ore, which, after processing to remove impurities (sand, clay etc.) is called phosphate rock (PR). PR typically contains 13–14% P by weight.

World total PR production in 2014 was around 197 Mt, which, assuming nominal contents, would correspond to about 26 Mt P [15]. World total PR reserves in 2014 (Table 3.1) were reported as 68,776 Mt (about 9000 Mt as P) with a 73% share stored in geological deposits

located in Morocco and Western Sahara. Estimated total global phosphate resources, on the other hand, are more than 300 billion tonnes [16], the great part of which are not suitable for extraction under current economic and technological conditions, since they are located in the continental shelves of the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, with no economically profitable method for their exploitation. It should be noted that, in addition to the specific issues examined in this paper, the high geographical concentration of these resources is also liable to create issues related to the security of their supply in case of sudden sociopolitical changes.

Source	Production		Reser	R/C	
	(Mt/yr)	(%)	(Mt)	(%)	(yrs)
Morocco & Western	20	10	E0 000	72	1667
Sahara	50	15	50,000	/5	1007
China	100	45	3,700	5.4	37
United States	25.3	12	1,100	1.6	40
MENA-M/WS*	25.7	12	8,166	12	318
Rest of the world	37.2	17	5,810	8	156
World total	218		68,776		315
As P**	28.6		9,005		

Table 3.1. PR production and reserves as beneficiated PR, 2014 data ([14]).

Mt = megatonnes = million metric tonnes = Tg^{**} Assuming PR is 30% P₂O₅.

* Middle East and North Africa not including Morocco and Western Sahara.

Phosphate rock seems thus to be a finite, irreplaceable, nonrenewable resource. The question is therefore whether (and when) it will be totally depleted in the future, although overall data indicate that a crisis in phosphorus resources is not yet imminent. According to some researchers from the International Fertilizer Development Center (IFDC) the current ratio of "serves to consumption" stands now at almost 300 years [17], however, if population growth rate continues at the current rate (as forecasted in the UN "high" population estimate), they could only last until 2170 [18].

P scarcity, whether decades or centuries from now, would be catastrophic. Such a risk suggests that mankind should begin immediately to modify current wasteful practices concerning phosphorus resources management, especially since many of these practices result in environmental problems seriously affecting us today. Humanity, in fact, intervenes in the global P cycle in many disrupting ways: the anthropogenic P cycle, while resembling the natural one (Figure 3.1), induces a more intense use of this resource, with a flux that is about three times the natural one [19], and a negligible fraction actually recycled. In addition, the cycle, mainly targeted to the production of food for human/animal consumption, shows significant "leaks" of material (e.g., erosion and leaching from cropland, improper animal waste disposal, food waste, etc.) along the way, resulting in only about 16% of the original quantities being put to effective use. Efforts at reducing P wastage could potentially increase the duration of existing reserves by a factor of up to six.



Figure 3.1. The natural and anthropogenic (agricultural) phosphorus cycles.

Phosphorous Waste Reduction and Recovery

The issue is clearly double-edged: it concerns P resources depletion and environmental pollution due to its excessive dispersion in the environment. As mentioned, there are a number of interventions that could conserve phosphorus, reduce its dispersion, or both. Reduction of food waste could potentially help in conserving it in significant amounts. Reducing losses from agricultural land would also be an important goal, though more difficult to implement, as this is currently mandated to voluntary Best Management Practices (BMPs) aimed at the control of nutrients leaching into surface waters. Losses via animal waste could be reduced either by reducing the incidence of meat consumption in the human diet, or by more effective recycling strategies for animal waste. Recycle could be applied to other parts of the cycle, such as crop waste, harvest waste, food waste, and human (bodily) waste.

Recycling the P fraction contained in human wastes will affect, however, only about 16% of mined phosphorus, even if 100% recycling of this stream could be achieved. Raw wastewater contains somewhere in the range of 4.0–16.0 mg P/L. About 20–30% of this is removed during conventional biological treatment, which would leave a nominal 3.0 to 12.0 mg P/L in treated effluents. Enhanced chemical precipitation, combined with filtration, could achieve effluent concentrations as low as about 0.05 mg P/L [20], resulting, however, in a form of precipitated P bound in a sludge that would necessitate complex post-treatment to make it recoverable and reusable. It would therefore seem reasonable to modify processing technologies and direct these sludges to P (and energy) recovery in the form of products such as struvite (NH₄MgPO₄·6H₂O), a mineral which can be utilized for fertilizer production.

3.3. Phosphorus Recovery Technologies

The most important difference between P-removal and P-recovery processes is that the former aim at obtaining phosphorus-free wastewater treatment plant (WRRF) effluents, while the latter is focusing on creating P-containing by-products, which can then be reused for other purposes, mainly in the fertilizers' industry. P-recovery technologies are mainly applied to industrial and urban wastewater, while there are few available methods applicable to livestock manure [21,22]. Recovery rate from liquid phase wastes can reach up to a maximum of 40–50% (with respect to the wastewater influent), while in sludge phase rates close to 90% could be achieved [21]. Figure 3.2 shows different possible locations for P-recovery processes within a wastewater treatment plant. Table 3.2 summarizes commercially available technologies, organized by type of waste treated and technology.



Figure 3.2. Possible phosphorus recovery locations in a conventional wastewater treatment plant (WRRF) (based on [21,23]).

Table 3.3. Some commercially available technologies for P recovery (from [14])	

Sludge type	Process name	Method	Products	Operational scale
Sludge liquor	P-ROC	Adsorption	CaP, CaP on CSH	Semi-industrial
	RECYPHOS	Adsorption	FeP	Semi-industrial
	PHOSIEDI	Adsorption	CaP	Lab scale
	PHOSTRIP	Precipitation	CaP	Full scale
	PRISA	Precipitation	Struvite	Semi-industrial
	CRYSTALACTOR	Pellets	CaP, struvite	Full scale
	PEARL	Pellets	Struvite	Full scale
Digostod sludgo	BERLINER	Without	Struvito	Full scale
Digested sludge	VERFAHREN	leaching	Struvite	Full Scale
		Without	CaP on CSH	Lab scale
	11/-11105	leaching		
	SEABORNE	With leaching	Struvite	Full scale

Chapter 3: Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge

	STUTTGARTER VERFAHREN	With leaching	Struvite	Full scale
	LOPROX/PHOXAN	With leaching	Phosphoric acid	Full scale
	САМВІ	With leaching	FeP, AIP, CaP	Lab scale/ Full scale
	AQUA RECI	With leaching	FeP, AIP, CaP	Lab scale/ Full scale
	K REPO	With leaching	FeP	-
	SEPHOS	With leaching	AIP, CaP	Lab scale
	SESAL-PHOS	With leaching	CaP	Lab scale
	P ASCH	With leaching	Struvite	Semi-industrial
	BIOLEACHING	With leaching	Struvite	Lab scale
	BIO CON	With leaching	Phosphoric acid	Semi-industrial
Sludge ash	MEPHREC	Thermal treatment	CaP	Semi-industrial
	ASH DEC	Thermal treatment	Fertilizer	Semi-industrial
		Thermal	Elemental	Industrial
		treatment	phosphorus	process
	PHOSPHORUS	Thermal	Fortilizor	Industrial
	INDUSTRY	treatment	i ei tiiizei	process

Accumulated polyphosphates in bacterial cells performing an Enhanced Biological Phosphorous Removal (EBPR) process can be released under anaerobic conditions, so phosphorus could be recovered from the supernatant of the side-stream recycle to the activated sludge process (L2), the effluent after sedimentation (L1), or from the dewatering process after sludge digestion (L3). P recovery from wastewater streams may be achieved by precipitation/crystallization processes: struvite (magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate) crystallization is one of the current leading technologies for P recovery. Recovery from the solid phase could also be achieved from primary sludge (S1), excess secondary sludge (S2), the raw sludge prior to anaerobic digestion (S3) and sludge before and after dewatering (S4, S5). Struvite and calcium phosphate may also be alternatively obtained from sewage sludge or sludge ash: as an example, it is possible to recover P from incinerated sludge ash (A, in Figure 3.2). This is actually the technology that will yield the most concentrated form of phosphorus: 4–11% by weight, comparable to PR (about 13% P) [24].

Chemical precipitation methods and in particular, the struvite precipitation process, are variably efficient methods for recovery of P from wastewater. Precipitation may produce a high-quality mineral that could be further used as a fertilizer, and generally has low metal content compared to raw sludge. However, some disadvantages in this method are present as well. The process may need substantial amounts of Mg²⁺added to the system, since this element is usually present at insufficient concentrations in typical wastewater streams [25,26], and that would significantly increase costs. In addition, also the cost of added NaOH, necessary to control the pH level, may be considerably high [26]. Although struvite would have an added value as a fertilizer product, the offset in costs may not be yet high enough to justify

process implementation at large scale, under current conditions [26]. At the moment, in fact, there are only a handful of full-scale plants worldwide using this technology. Furthermore, obtaining pure struvite as a final product could still be a challenge, as shown by the experimental results of this study, and specific regulations must be met for a struvite product to be used as a fertilizer. Struvite could in fact still contain some unwanted contaminations due to the presence of heavy metals, pathogens and pharmaceutical residues [27,28,29].

Other technologies that could be applied to P recovery have also been proposed recently. Assimilation is an example, consisting of the adsorption of phosphate by algae. Usually, microalgae are good candidates for this process, applied through an old technology, such as the so-called aerobic pond. However, due to the non-optimized biomass production in aerobic ponds, P recovery rate with this method is limited, and maxima of up to around 60% of P recovery could be achieved in practice [30]. A major advantage of the assimilation concept, however, is the production of high-value biomass that can be further used in different industries (biofactories/biorefineries) [31].

Lately, the use of membrane technology was proposed as another method for P recovery. This could be used in combination with chemical precipitation, since membrane media might promote precipitation by concentrating the necessary ions in their retentate [32]. Osmotic membrane bioreactors (OMBRs), in particular, are part of a newly developed technology that could be applied to P recovery. While so far it has been applied mostly for P recovery in the form of Amorphous Calcium Phosphate (ACP) [28], this method has a potential for P recovery up to 95% [33]. Recovered ACP appears to have potential as a fertilizer source without further chemical processing, such as the acid treatment typically used to process phosphate rock. Plants fertilized with recovered ACP showed P uptake responses almost as good as for triple superphosphate (TSP, one of the first P-based fertilizers widely used in the 20th century, $[Ca(H_2PO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O]$, now less popular in use than other fertilizers). As systems' performance may be affected by many environmental factors such as salinity, membrane fouling, hydraulic load, and so on [34], their assessment is still under progress.

Struvite Crystallization

Struvite can form under controlled conditions in crystallization reactors, from where it is removed as small, fairly pure pellets. It might also take place spontaneously in different locations of a wastewater treatment facility with undesired consequences (i.e., clogging of pumps, pipes and valves) [35]. The initial concentration of P determines whether struvite formation is possible, due to its limited solubility product. The process of crystallization is based on the following stoichiometric equation:

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow$$
 (1)

However, phosphate in solution could also be present in HPO_4^{2-} and $H_2PO_4^{-}$ forms that can contribute to struvite formation according to Equations (2) and (3):

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + HPO_4^{2-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow + H^+$$
 (2)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + H_2PO_4^- + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow + 2H^+$$
 (3)

In practice, Equation (2) is dominant in the favorable pH range 7–11 for struvite formation [36]. Solution's pH influences P forms and dominant crystal type. Struvite crystal are possible at the above pH value range, otherwise, at a higher values $Mg_3(PO_4)_2$ or $Mg(OH)_2$ could be formed. All reactions, and in particular the reaction of HPO_4^{2-} , should be taken into account while examining struvite precipitation. Important factors affecting this process are pH, concentrations of mineral constituents and presence of competitive ions, most notably Ca^{2+} that could reduce the size of struvite, modify crystal growth, or delay the nucleation rate and the growth rate of crystals [37].

The mechanism of crystallization can be divided into three steps: nucleation (formation of small crystals of struvite), crystal growth (development of the small sized crystal into larger ones), and aggregation (a number of crystals come together and forming clusters) [38]. Studies on the kinetics of struvite precipitation suggested that the three steps above can all be formulated empirically as a function of supersaturation ratio of struvite [38]. This is basically the ionic activity product (*IAP*) of constituent ions in the solution, over its equilibrium solubility product or K_{sp} . A solution is supersaturated when ionic concentration is above its equilibrium level, and consequently struvite precipitation may occur to bring back the system into equilibrium conditions. Equation (4) formulates the "Saturation Index (*SI*)" concept, which is the logarithm of a system's supersaturation ratio [39]:

$$IAP = \{Mg^{2+}\}\{NH_4^+\}\{PO_4^{3-}\}$$

$$IAP$$
(4)

$$SI = \log(\frac{IAP}{K_{sp}})$$
(5)

Struvite solubility product is in the range of 9.4–13.26 [40], and it can precipitate in the pH range of 7–11 [41]. An increase in pH will decrease struvite solubility. One of the key obstacles on the way of obtaining pure struvite precipitation is the presence of competitive ions, and particularly calcium (Ca²⁺), which could lead to the presence of impurities in the final precipitates (calcium phosphate salts).

3.4. Materials and Methods

For this study, sludge samples were collected from the Nosedo (Milan, Italy) wastewater treatment plant (WRRF), the largest in northern Italy (with average daily flow rate of 432,000 m³), and the main one among those serving the city of Milan, with capacity of 1 million p.e. and an annual sludge production of 50,000 tons/year. The estimated phosphorus content of this sludge is at least 1400 tons/yr. The Nosedo facility has suffered from a chronic organic underloading condition since the beginning of its operation, due to excessive dilution of the incoming wastewater, originated by infiltration/inflow phenomena of ground (high piezometric levels) and surface (sewage collectors undercross in several points local streams) waters in the combined sewer collectors. It has four parallel process lines, with nitrification and denitrification/oxidation tanks. The facility does not have an anaerobic sludge treatment line but relies on an extended aeration process to limit its production.

Samples were taken from one of the activated sludge system oxidation tanks, where a higher P concentration is normally observed, due to its release after being under anaerobic condition for 1-2 days, therefore creating higher potential for struvite precipitation. Table 3.3 summarizes the main characteristics of the samples in terms of relevant ionic content for struvite crystallization.

lon	Concentration (mg/L)
Ca ²⁺	101
Mg ²⁺	26.4
Р	40.3
NH_4^+	32.6
рН	7.6

Table 3.3.	Wastewater	filtrate sludge	characteristics.
Table 5.5.	vvasicvvatci	minute shuuge	characteristics.

Investigation of the thermodynamics and kinetics of struvite precipitation was tested both experimentally on the samples collected, and theoretically assessed with application of chemical equilibrium modeling. The advantage of using verified modeling tools over experiments, besides the faster and time efficient process, lies in their capability to predict equilibrium conditions and ion speciation, based on initial conditions. In this study, the PHREEQC model, an established geochemical modeling tool developed by US Geological Survey (USGS) was used [42]. PHREEQC is capable of performing a wide variety of aqueous equilibria calculations, such as ion speciation batch-reactions, and saturation index (SI) values calculations based on solution characteristics (ionic concentrations, pH, etc.) as input. Version

3.0 of the software was used herein to model the chemical equilibria of the struvite precipitation process. Results were then validated by comparing them with actual laboratory precipitation tests.

3.4.1. Model Description

PHREEQC contains multiple databases that include different chemical species, their corresponding reactions, and the solid phase products that could precipitate as final outcome. The default model database was used in this work, however, as this was not initially optimized for the study of struvite precipitation; it needed modification to describe specific reactions. First of all, struvite itself, for instance, was not defined as a default possible final solid phase reaction product, and hence needed to be explicitly included. Table 3.4 summarizes the final list of possible solid phases that may precipitate in such systems, with their corresponding K_{sp} values. Some of these were added to the initial database, others needed to be removed, as they were highly unlikely to precipitate in the foreseen experimental conditions (e.g., pH levels). For example, magnesium phosphate compounds, other than struvite, were removed from the database, as well as transformations that are known to be extremely slow compared to the operating conditions timescale, and thus also unlikely to precipitate, such as tricalcium phosphates and hydroxyapatite (HAP). Octa-calcium phosphate (OCP) was also removed due to the low pH level (5-6) required for its precipitation [43]. ACP and monetite were the only two calcium phosphate compounds kept in the database. Two main carbonate compounds could form in the system; calcite (CaCO₃) and magnesite (MgCO₃). Calcite was maintained in the database; however, magnesite was removed due to the high pH (>9.5) required for its precipitation in substantial amounts [44].

Solid phase	se Representative reaction		pK _{sp} at 25°C
Struvite ^{(A) (B)}	$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \leftrightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O$	7 <ph< 11<="" td=""><td>13.26</td></ph<>	13.26
Newberyite ^(A)	$Mg^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} + 3H_2O \leftrightarrow MgHPO_4.3H_2O$	High Mg ²⁺ /P, pH<6	5.8
Bobierrite ^(A)	$3Mg^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} + 8H_2O \leftrightarrow Mg_3(PO_4)_2.8H_2O$	Days to precipitate	25.2
Hydroxyapatite (HAP)	$10Ca^{2+} + 6PO_4^{3-} + 2OH^- \leftrightarrow Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$	Slow formation from ACP, DCPD	44.3
Tricalcium phosphate (TCP)	$3Ca^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2$	Slow formation from ACP, DCPD	32.63
Octacalcium phosphate (OCP) ^(A)	$8Ca^{2+} + 2HPO_4^{2-} + 4PO_4^{3-} \leftrightarrow Ca_8(HPO_4)_2(PO_4)_4$	Hydrolysis of DCPD at pH =5-6	36.48
Monetite (DCP) ^{(A) (B)}	$Ca^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaHPO_4$	Fast formation from ACP, DCPD	6.81
Brushite (DCPD)	$Ca^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} + 2H_2O \leftrightarrow CaHPO_4.2H_2O$	pH<7	6.6
Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) ^{(A) (B)}	$3Ca^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} + xH_2O \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2.xH_2O$	pH>6	25.46

Table 3.4. List of solid phases and reactions present/added to the PHREEQC database.

Stable at 25°C and 8.42-8.22-Calcite (B) $Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaCO_3$ 8.48 atmospheric P $Mg^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow MgCO_3$ Magnesite Stable at pH<10.7 7.46-8.2 Brucite $Mg^{2+} + 2OH^{-} \leftrightarrow Mg(OH)_{2}$ pH>9.5 11.16 Ca(OH)₂ $Ca^{2+} + 2OH^{-} \leftrightarrow Ca(OH)_2$ pH>9.5 5.2

Chapter 3: Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge

^(A)Added to original database.

^(B) Kept in the final database for modeling.

Key operating factors in struvite formation are pH level, magnesium concentration and presence of other competing ions, especially calcium. In most cases, the limiting agent in wastewater streams is magnesium, therefore it could be added to the process in the form of MgCl₂, Mg(OH)₂ or MgO to ensure its stoichiometrically correct concentration. In addition to stoichiometry, the solution must possess an appropriate pH level. For this, addition of sodium hydroxide (NaOH) is the most common approach. Using added MgO or Mg(OH)₂ as a source of magnesium could also provide sufficient pH adjustment to the solution (due to oxides' alkalinity) but their low level of solubility should also be considered.

3.4.2. Experimental Setup

Chemical precipitation tests were performed in triplicate in the laboratory using 200 mL mixed beakers in a jar test apparatus. A NaOH solution was used to adjust the beakers' content to the required pH (at 8.5, 9.0, 9.5). The pH range has chosen from 8.5 where the precipitation starts to be filtrable and observable, to 9.5 after which significant carbonate precipitation would affect the results. MgCl₂ and NH₄Cl were used as additional sources of magnesium and ammonium, respectively. Phosphorus concentrations were measured according to the colorimetric method (EPA 365.3) using UV-Vis spectroscopy. 15 separate experiments were performed in total, combining pH and different relevant ionic concentrations: Ca, Mg, NH₄ and P. They were designed based on a Design of Experiments (DoE) approach in order to be further analyzed for optimization. Precipitates obtained in each test were collected after 20 hr in order to allow completion of process equilibrium, results from equal-conditions tests were mixed and filtered with 0.45 um paper filters, washed with deionized water, and dried at room temperature. Analysis of precipitates was conducted using Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer 1600 series, Waltham, MA, USA) in order to determine the presence of different solid phases.

Concentrations of all available ions were then fed to the PHREEQC model as inputs. The output of the model consisted of ion speciation conditions, and values of saturation index (SI) for each of the solid phases in the database. Speciation data were used to calculate the theoretical phosphorus removal percentage for each of the experiments.

3.5. Results and Discussion

Results of experimental tests and PHREEQC modeling are summarized in Table 3.5. Ion speciation and removal yields were determined for all numerical tests and runs, struvite saturation index (SI) values, only for numerical simulations. SI values were all positive, indicating that struvite precipitation could actually occur in the system under the simulated conditions. Some of these values were, however, very low (e.g., 2nd and 9th run), indicating that the possibility of precipitation was low. Furthermore, the range of SI values obtained during the whole cycle of simulations was not excessively high (all values were <1), in contrast with most literature results generally reporting higher values (>1) for this parameter. This is likely due to the fact that most studies have dealt with anaerobic sludges with considerably higher initial phosphorus concentrations (usually 300–500 mg/L) compared to the aerobic extended-aeration sludge from the Nosedo plant (where P is around 40 mg/L) of this study. Fang et al. [45] suggested that, as the initial phosphorus concentration increases, SI value will also increase, up to P concentrations of around 1000 mg/L, after which it would decrease.

Run	Ca (mg/L)	Mg (mg/L)	NH₄ (mg/L)	P (mg/L)	рН	P rem. Predicted (%)	P rem. Measured* (%)	P precip. Predicted (mg)	P precip. Measured* (mg)	SI Predicted
1	101	84	35	40	9	82.46	84.27	33.23	31.24	0.48
2	101	26	35	40	9	72.76	82.99	29.32	30.85	0.17
3	101	84	82	40	9	82.15	82.05	33.11	29.77	0.84
4	101	26	82	40	9	72.20	82.21	29.10	30.07	0.54
5	101	84	59	40	8.5	70.28	54.72	28.32	23.60	0.54
6	101	26	59	40	8.5	58.03	61.43	23.39	24.14	0.21
7	101	84	59	40	9.5	92.08	91.93	37.11	34.66	0.60
8	101	26	59	40	9.5	86.33	89.28	34.79	33.65	0.32
9	101	40	35	40	8.5	62.40	68.47	25.15	25.74	0.13
10	101	40	82	40	8.5	61.60	62.36	24.83	24.74	0.49
11	101	40	35	40	9.5	88.59	92.15	35.70	34.09	0.22
12	101	40	82	40	9.5	88.29	87.62	35.58	33.65	0.58
13	101	40	59	40	9	75.86	85.74	30.57	31.37	0.52
14	101	40	59	40	9	75.89	82.31	30.58	30.84	0.52
15	101	40	59	40	9	75.89	84.13	30.58	30.78	0.52

Table 3.5. Results of experimental tests and PHREEQC modeling.

* from triplicate tests.

The phosphorus removal percentage and amount of total phosphorus precipitated, both calculated based on the result of PHREEQC modeling, were compared to the measured values in the laboratory precipitation tests to assess the model potential in predicting accurately equilibrium process conditions. Such comparison is in fact essential for understanding the ability of the model to correctly predict new experimental outcomes without implementing all the individual tests in the lab. Results are also shown in Table 3.5. Notwithstanding some inevitable inaccuracies and small measurement errors in the comparison between calculated and observed values, some of them attributable to laboratory procedures, it could still be concluded that the model had a more than acceptable performance overall in reproducing laboratory experiments.

Analysis of the precipitates using Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy confirms the presence of struvite and calcium phosphate compounds in the solid phase final products of precipitation tests. Figure 3.3 compares the FTIR spectra of final precipitates at different pH levels and different components' molar ratios. It can be clearly seen that all the spectra follow the same pattern, with the main difference between them being the intensity of the peaks. Peaks associated with PO₄³⁻ and H₂O groups, at 1000–1100, and 2200–3800 cm⁻¹, respectively, can be identified in all the spectra obtained, and can be attributed to the presence of struvite and calcium phosphate compounds in the final solid phases [46]. However, FTIR spectra within the range of 1200 to 1900 cm⁻¹ indicate no direct evidence of the presence of struvite since visible peaks could be typical of carbonate groups (around 1440 and 1650 cm⁻¹) and also of ACP water molecules (at around 1600–1650 cm⁻¹). This suggests that, in all the laboratory experiments, precipitates obtained were in fact a mix of struvite, ACP and calcite. Comparing the intensity of FTIR peaks, it could be concluded that as pH increases there will be more phosphate groups in the final precipitates, and thus higher phosphorus removal from the system. However, as expected, final precipitates could also be highly affected by the presence of calcium as a competitive ion in the solution, thus allowing formation of high amounts of calcium phosphate compounds (mainly ACP) at the highest values of pH.

Chapter 3: Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge



Figure 3.3. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectra of the precipitates obtained at different levels of pH.

Although the main objective of this study is to assess the possibility of P recovery in the form of struvite, in a form as pure as possible, the presence of ACP and calcite in the precipitate seems to be inevitable in experimental conditions. One important aspect to mention is that the presence of ACP still represents a more favorable situation than that of calcite. Due to its P content, in fact, ACP can still be considered an acceptable fertilizer, although not as good as struvite. Struvite contains both N and P as essential nutrients for plant growth. In addition, calcium phosphate materials are not consistently available for the plants and it depends highly on the technology used for obtaining them and their quality [47]. It is therefore important, in practice, not to move below a pH value of 9.0 in the tested conditions, as after this point there would be considerably more potential for calcite precipitation in the system.

Laboratory tests on extended aeration sludge show that the level of pH significantly affects P removal yields from the system, and that more than 90% P removal can be achieved at pH > 9. Nonetheless, due to the relatively low initial phosphorus concentration in the Nosedo sludge, the possibility of obtaining a significant amount of struvite in the final precipitates is low, unless adequate quantities of Mg and NH₄ additives could be introduced into the system to improve struvite crystallization and extraction.

Finally, Figure 3.4 shows the theoretical SI values calculated from the simulation results for Struvite, ACP and calcite in solution. These values suggest that in all cases, under present conditions, the final precipitates will be a mixture of struvite, ACP and calcite. As can be seen, in experiments 7, 8, 11, and 12 where pH reached 9.5, values of SI for calcite are higher, which is not an optimal situation for P recovery. The best result was obtained in experiment 3, where pH was 9 and concentrations of Mg and NH₄ at the highest levels. Addition of both these ions is therefore essential for achieving higher struvite precipitation in the solution at hand.

Chapter 3: Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge



Figure 3.4. Theoretical saturation index (SI) values calculated by PHREEQC for possible solid phases.

The next steps of the study will include additional tests on the extended aeration sludge, to investigate conditions under which more significant amounts of struvite precipitation could be obtained. Addition of higher molar ionic ratios will be tested, and the possibility of using $Ca(OH)_2$ as an economic pH adjustment additive (instead of NaOH) will also be investigated.

3.6. Conclusions

In this study, a chemical equilibrium modeling tool was used, in combination with real laboratory precipitation tests, in order to investigate conditions under which high phosphorus recovery, in the form of struvite, could be achieved from the urban sewage sludges produced by the WRRF facility in Nosedo (Milan, Italy). Values of the struvite saturation index (SI) calculated by the chemical equilibrium model, showed that limited precipitation of this mineral is possible under present circumstances, due to wastewater characteristics, and estimated phosphorus removal efficiency was compared to laboratory results. As solution pH increases above 9, very high phosphorus removal percentages (>90%) could be achieved, but the possibility of achieving high recovery (pure struvite precipitation) is diminished. The presence of low P concentration in the wastewater sludge, in addition to relatively high Ca²⁺ content will lead to achieve a less desirable mix of struvite, ACP and calcite in the final precipitates. Results suggest that in order to obtain higher SI values for struvite, both magnesium and ammonium need to be added to the system in high amounts (as in experiment 3) in order to compete efficiently in precipitation with the presence of Ca^{2+} . Chemical equilibrium modeling showed great potential for predicting achievable equilibrium conditions by further ion addition to the solution, which could be pursued to achieve increased struvite precipitation. Modeling results in terms of P removal percentage and mass confirm a very good fit to the laboratory tests. Hence, model performance is confirmed by experimental evidence

and, as such, the model could be a valuable tool for the optimization of the process and the development of a pilot-scale struvite precipitation system.

On the practical side, it was observed that struvite crystallization was hindered by small particle size and slow crystal growth, and therefore, modification of reactors' structure, compared to the laboratory's beakers used herein, and optimization of process parameters to enhance particle size, or minimize loss of crystals should be considered as possible methods to enhance the settleability of this mineral in real scale applications. Although, at the moment, struvite is the product of choice for P recovery, ACP may also have an appeal as final product for similar purposes. Precipitates purity and their market value will have to be compared to evaluate the economic sustainability of either product.

Considering the certainly limited, but uncertain extent of residual global phosphorus resources, development and enhancement of P recovery processes, which could allow recovery of this element, should be pursued, with the aim of extending the useful life of confirmed global reserves while maintaining sustainable levels of production of phosphorus compounds for use in agriculture. Chemical precipitation, in spite of having its own drawbacks, is still the most efficient and common approach for P recovery. Equilibrium modeling of such a process could considerably help in predicting and achieving the best conditions under which highly efficient struvite precipitation can be obtained.

3.7. References

- Callegari, A.; Boguniewicz-Zablocka, J.; Capodaglio, A.G. Experimental Application of an Advanced Separation Process for NOM Removal from Surface Drinking Water Supply. Separations 2017, 4, 32.
- 2. Søndergaard, M.; Jensen, J.P.; Jeppesen, E. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow lakes. *Hydrobiologia* **2003**, *506–509*, 135–145.
- 3. Copetti, D.; Valsecchi, L.; Capodaglio, A.G.; Tartari, G. Direct measurement of nutrient concentrations in freshwaters with a miniaturized analytical probe: Evaluation and validation. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* **2017**, *189*, 144.
- 4. Viviano, G.; Valsecchi, S.; Polesello, S.; Capodaglio, A.G.; Tartari, G.; Salerno, F. Combined Use of Caffeine and Turbidity to Evaluate the Impact of CSOs on River Water Quality. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **2017**, *228*, 330.
- 5. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A.G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Sci. Technol.* **1993**, *28*, 69–78.
- 6. Capodaglio, A.G.; Muraca, A.; Becchi, G. Accounting for water quality effects of future urbanization: Diffuse pollution loads estimates and control in Mantua's Lakes (Italy). *Water Sci. Technol.* **2003**, *47*, 291–298.
- 7. Capodaglio, A.G.; Boguniewicz, J.; Llorens, E.; Salerno, F.; Copetti, D.; Legnani, E.; Buraschi, E.; Tartari, G. Integrated lake/catchment approach as a basis for the implementation of the WFD

in the Lake Pusiano watershed. In *River Basin Management—Progress towards Implementation of the European Water Framework Directive*; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2005; pp. 77–86.

- 8. Copetti, D.; Marziali, L.; Viviano, G.; Valsecchi, L.; Guzzella, L.; Capodaglio, A.G.; Tartari, G.; Polesello, S.; Valsecchi, S.; Mezzanotte, V.; et al. Intensive monitoring of conventional and surrogate quality parameters in a highly urbanized river affected by multiple combined sewer overflows. *Water Sci. Technol. Water Supply* **2018**, in press.
- 9. Capodaglio, A.G.; Hlavínek, P.; Raboni, M. Physico-chemical technologies for nitrogen removal from wastewaters: A review. *Revista Ambiente Agua* **2015**, *10*, 481–498
- 10. Capodaglio, A.G.; Hlavínek, P.; Raboni, M. Advances in wastewater nitrogen removal by biological processes: State of the art review. *Revista Ambiente Água* **2016**, *11*, 250–267.
- 11. Capodaglio, A.G.; Ghilardi, P.; Boguniewicz-Zablocka, J. New paradigms in urban water management for conservation and sustainability. *Water Pract. Technol.* **2016**, *11*, 176–186.
- 12. Capodaglio, A.G. Integrated, Decentralized Wastewater Management for Resource Recovery in Rural and Peri-Urban Areas. *Resources* **2017**, *6*, 22.
- 13. Capodaglio, A.G.; Callegari, A.; Cecconet, D.; Molognoni, D. Sustainability of decentralized wastewater treatment technologies. *Water Pract. Technol.* **2017**, *12*, 463–477.
- 14. Daneshgar, S.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A.G.; Vaccari, D. The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review. *Resources* **2018**, *7*, 37.
- 15. Van Kauwenbergh, S.J. *World Phosphate Rock Reserves and Resources*; International Fertilizer Development Center: Muscle Shoals, AL, USA, 2010; ISBN 978-9-88999-167-3.
- Jasinski, S.M. Phosphate Rock, USGS Mineral Commodities Summary. Available online: http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/phosphate_rock/ (accessed on 25 March 2016).
- 17. IFA. International Fertilizer Association Production and International Trade Report. 2016. Available online: https://fertilizer.org/Statistics (accessed on 18 April 2018).
- 18. Cooper, J.; Lombardi, R.; Boardman, D.; Carliell-Marquet, C. The future distribution and production of global phosphate rock reserves. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2011**, *57*, 78–86.
- 19. Smil, V. Phosphorus: Global Transfers, Causes and consequences of global environmental change. In *Encyclopedia of Global Environmental Change*; Douglas, I., Munn, T., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.: Chichester, UK, 2002; Volume 3, pp. 536–542. ISBN 0-471-97796-9.
- 20. Yang, L.; Zhou, H.; Moccia, R. Membrane Filtration Coupled with Chemical Precipitation to Treat Recirculating Aquaculture System Effluent. *J. Environ. Qual.* **2006**, *35*, 2419–2424.
- 21. Cornel, P.; Schaum, C. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater: Needs, techniques and costs. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *59*, 1069–1076.
- Schoumans, O.F.; Rulkens, W.H.; Oenema, O.; Ehlert, P.A.I. *Phosphorus Recovery from Animal Manure: Technical Opportunities and Agro-Economical Perspectives*; Alterra Report No. 2158; Alterra: Denver, CO, USA, 2010.

- Desmidt, E.; Ghyselbrecht, K.; Zhang, Y.; Pinoy, P.; Van der Bruggen, B.; Verstraete, W.; Rabaey, K.; Meesschaert, B. Global Phosphorus Scarcity and Full-Scale P-Recovery Techniques: A Review. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 45, 336–384.
- 24. Donatello, S.; Cheeseman, C.R. Recycling and recovery routes for Incinerated Sewage Sludge Ash (ISSA): A review. *Waste Manag.* **2013**, *33*, 2328–2340.
- Romero-Güiza, M.S.; Astals, S.; Mata-Alvarez, J.; Chimenos, J.M. Feasibility of coupling anaerobic digestion and struvite precipitation in the same reactor: Evaluation of different magnesium sources. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2015, 270, 542–548.
- 26. Jaffer, Y.; Clark, T.A.; Pearce, P.; Parsons, S.A. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 1834–1842.
- 27. Gell, K.; Ruijter, F.J.; Kuntke, P.; Graaff, M.; Smit, A.L. Saftey and effectiveness of struvite from black water and urine as phosphorus fertilizer. *J. Agric. Sci.***2011**, *3*, 67.
- 28. Ronteltap, M.; Maurer, M.; Gujer, W. The behaviour of pharmaceuticals and heavy metals during struvite precipitation in urine. *Water Res.* **2007**, *41*, 1859–1868.
- 29. Winker, M.; Vinnerås, B.; Muskolus, A.; Arnold, U.; Clemens, J. Fertiliser products from new sanitation systems: Their potential values and risks. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2009**, *100*, 4090–4096.
- 30. El Hamouri, B. Rethinking natural, extensive systems for tertiary treatment purposes: The high-rate algae pond as an example. *Desalination Water Treat*.**2009**, *4*, 128–134.
- 31. Tarayre, C.; De, C.L.; Charlier, R.; Michels, E.; Meers, E.; Camargo-Valero, M.; Delvigne, F. New perspectives for the design of sustainable bioprocesses for phosphorus recovery from waste. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2016**, *206*, 264–274.
- 32. Peng, L.; Dai, H.; Wu, Y.; Peng, Y.; Lu, X. A comprehensive review of the available media and approaches for phosphorus recovery from wastewater. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **2018**, *229*, 115.
- Qiu, G.; Ting, Y.P. Direct phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater via osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) for wastewater treatment. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2014, 170, 221– 229.
- Wang, X.; Chang, W.C.; Tang, C.Y. Osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) technology for wastewater treatment and reclamation: Advances, challenges and prospects for the future. J. Membr. Sci. 2016, 504, 113–132.
- 35. Borgerding, J. Phosphate Deposits in Digestion Systems. *J. Water Pollut. Control Fed.* **1972**, *44*, 813–819.
- 36. Doyle, J.D.; Parsons, S.A. Struvite formation, control and recovery. *Water Res.***2002**, *36*, 3925–3940.
- Hao, X.D.; Wang, C.C.; Lan, L.; Van Loosdrecht, M.C.M. Struvite formation, analytical methods and effects of pH and Ca²⁺. Water Sci. Technol. 2008, 58, 1687–1692.
- 38. Galbraith, S.C.; Schneider, P.A.; Flood, A.E. Model-driven experimental evaluation of struvite nucleation, growth and aggregation kinetics. *Water Res.***2014**, *56*, 122–132.

- Parkhurst, D.L.; Appelo, C.A.J. Description of Input and Examples for PHREEQC Version 3—A Computer Program for Speciation, Batch-Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations; U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, Book 6, No. 6– 43A; U.S. Geological Survey: Reston, VA, USA, **2013**; Chapter A43; 497p.
- Le Corre, K.S.; ValsamieJones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S.A. Phosphorus recovery from wastewater by struvite crystallization: A review. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 39, 433– 477.
- 41. Parsons, S.A. Recent scientific and technical developments: Struvite precipitation. *CEEP Scope Newsl.* **2001**, *41*, 15–22.
- US Geological Survey. PHREEQC (Version 3)—A Computer Program for Speciation, Batch-Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations. Available online: https://wwwbrr.cr.usgs.gov/projects/GWC_coupled/phreeqc/ (accessed on 30 October 2017).
- 43. Türker, M.; Çelen, I. Removal of ammonia as struvite from anaerobic digester effluents and recycling of magnesium and phosphate. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2007**, *98*, 1529–1534.
- Musvoto, E.V.; Wentzel, M.C.M.; Ekama, G.A.M. Integrated chemical-physical processes modelling—II. Simulating aeration treatment of anaerobic digester supernatants. *Water Res.* 2000, 34, 1868–1880.
- 45. Fang, C.; Zhang, T.; Jiang, R.; Ohtake, H. Phosphate enhance recovery from wastewater by mechanism analysis and optimization of struvite settleability in fluidized bed reactor. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 32215.
- Soptrajanov, B.; Stefov, V.; Lutz, H.D.; Engelen, B. Infrared and Raman Spectra of Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate Hexahydrate (struvite) and its Isomorphous Analogues. In Spectroscopy of Emerging Materials; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2004; pp. 299– 308.
- 47. Egle, L.; Rechberger, H.; Krampe, J.; Zessner, M. Phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater: An integrated comparative technological, environmental and economic assessment of P recovery technologies. *Science of Total Environment*, **2016**, 571, 522–542.

Chapter 4

Impact of pH and ionic molar ratios on phosphorus forms precipitation and recovery from different wastewater sludges

A modified version has been published in *Resources*, 2018, 7, 71.

4. Impact of pH and ionic molar ratios on phosphorus forms precipitation and recovery from different wastewater sludges

Saba Daneshgar ¹, Armando Buttafava ^{2,3}, Doretta Capsoni³, Arianna Callegari¹ and Andrea G. Capodaglio ^{1,*}

¹ Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy; saba.daneshgar@unipv.it, arianna.callegari@unipv.it, capo@unipv.it

³ Department of Chemistry, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy; doretta.capsoni@unipv.it

* Correspondence: andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it; Tel.: +39-0382-985591

Abstract

Phosphorus is an essential nutrient for plants, which use as a basic fertilizer component is expected to increase significantly in the coming years. Unfortunately, its available natural reserves are not renewable, and are predicted to decline rapidly in the future. Urban wastewater, due to its abundance and relatively high phosphorus content, is an excellent candidate for phosphorus recovery, while the element's removal from urban effluents was introduced since the 1970's to limit the undesired effects of eutrophication. In this study, the process of struvite (and related phosphorous compounds) crystallization was investigated for three different sludge types, and results were compared. While most studies focus strictly on anaerobically digested sludge for high struvite precipitation efficiency, this investigates the possibility of inducing precipitation on both aerobic (extended aeration) and anaerobic sludges produced by two wastewater treatment plants in northern Italy. Analysis of precipitates from sludge samples is compared, then focus is shifted mainly on the aerobic sludge, and on its potential for struvite recovery. The effect of different reaction parameters is studied under different operating conditions, and the use and effects of Ca(OH)₂ addition as inexpensive pH adjustment reagent is investigated.

Keywords: Phosphorous recovery, wastewater, Calcium Hydroxide, Calcium Phosphate, Struvite Precipitation

² UN.E.CO srl, Academic Spinoff of the University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy; armando.buttafava@unipv.it

4.1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is an essential nutrient for plants. While its use as a basic fertilizer for industrialized crop production is expected to increase significantly in the coming years, its available natural reserves are not renewable, and are predicted to decline rapidly in the future [1]. The current consumption pattern is not sustainable in the long run, and recycling or recovery of phosphorus from waste streams has been proposed as a possible solution for extending phosphorus resources duration, while also helping reduce eutrophication of natural waters, a P-related undesired effect [2,3].

Wastewater from municipal treatment plants (WRRFs), due to its abundance, and relatively high phosphorus content, is an excellent candidate for phosphorus recovery [4,5]. Several technologies have been proposed to recover or remove phosphorus from such waste streams: while removal has been introduced since the 1970's to limit the undesired effects of eutrophication, carried out by chemical or biological methods, it does not originate a readily usable product (mostly ferric or aluminum phosphates) that are not suitable as fertilizer components. The most interesting technologies for P recovery make use of magnesium or calcium precipitation processes, where phosphorus can be recovered as struvite, amorphous calcium phosphate, brushite, octacalcium phosphate, hydroxyapatite, apatite [6,7]. The latter two are also normally considered ineffective as fertilizers due to their low solubility. However, inoculations with phosphate solubilizing microorganisms [8] or precipitation techniques of Nanosized apatite [9] appear to be promising strategies for the reuse of low-solubility phosphates.

Struvite precipitation is one of the main methods of phosphorus recovery from wastewater treatment. Struvite, or magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate (MgNH₄PO₄·6H₂O) is a white mineral that frequently precipitates within sewage treatment systems, where concentrations of ammonium and phosphate are relatively high. In uncontrolled conditions, it is considered as a potential problem causing clogging in pumps, pipes, etc. Nevertheless, under controlled conditions, it can be recovered from different stages of the treatment process [10] and, due to its low solubility and high nutrients content (both nitrogen and phosphorus), it can be further reused as a suitable, slow-release fertilizer in agriculture [11,12]. Struvite precipitation occurs according to the following reactions:

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O$$
(1)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + HPO_4^{2-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + H^+$$
(2)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + H_2PO_4^- + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + 2H^+$$
 (3)

The reaction of $HPO_4^{2^-}$ is the dominant one in the pH range 7-11, in which struvite precipitation is likely to happen [13]. Different factors affect the process of struvite crystallization, such as pH, constituent ions (Mg²⁺, PO₄³⁻ and NH₄⁺) molar ratios, presence of other competitive ions such as Calcium (Ca²⁺), agitation rates, reaction retention time, etc.

Chapter 4: Impact of pH and Ionic Molar Ratios on Phosphorus Forms Precipitation and Recovery from Different Wastewater Sludges

The crystallization of struvite consists of three stages; nucleation (crystal birth), crystal growth, and aggregation [14]. All these three mechanisms can be formulated as functions of the struvite supersaturation ratio, which is defined as ratio of the ion activity product (IAP) of constituent ions in solution over its equilibrium solubility product or K_{sp} . Struvite saturation index (SI) (the logarithm of supersaturation ratio) [15] is an indicator of whether precipitation is likely to happen or not. If SI > 0, the solution is supersaturated, and precipitation may occur, if SI < 0 the solution is undersaturated, and there will be no precipitation. SI = 0 indicates an equilibrium condition.

$$IAP = \{Mg^{2+}\}\{NH_4^+\}\{PO_4^{3-}\}$$

$$IAP = \{Mg^{2+}\}\{NH_4^+\}\{PO_4^{3-}\}$$
(4)

$$SI = \log(\frac{IAP}{K_{sp}})$$
(5)

The presence of other competitive ions strongly affects the struvite precipitation process. The main solid phases that can precipitate alongside struvite are calcium phosphate compounds, magnesium phosphate compounds and carbonates. Newberyite (MgHPO₄·3H₂O) and bobierrite (Mg₃(PO₄)·8H₂O) are the two main magnesium phosphate compounds that may precipitate. However, their chance of forming a precipitate is highly dependent on operating conditions. Newberyite needs a high Mg²⁺/P ratio and a relatively low (compared to struvite) pH (less than 6) in order to precipitate in significant amount [16,17]. Bobierrite precipitation, on the other hand, is very slow, and it may take days to form a precipitate [18].

Calcium phosphate compounds, at least in some forms, and carbonates have a high possibility to co-precipitate with struvite. Among different calcium phosphate compounds, brushite (CaHPO₄'2 H₂O), octacalcium phosphate (OCP, Ca₈(HPO₄)2(PO₄)₄·5 H₂O)) and amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP, Ca₃(PO₄)₂:x H₂O) are likely to precipitate first [17,19]. These can be further transformed to the more stable forms of hydroxyapatite (HAP, Ca₅(PO₄)₃OH), monetite (DCP, CaHPO₄) and tricalcium phosphate (TCP, Ca₃(PO₄)₂). While the transformation to DCP is relatively fast, HAP and TCP demonstrate very slow kinetics, and could be well out of the typical temporal scale of WRRFs operating conditions [17,18]. Calcite (CaCO₃) is the thermodynamically stable form of calcium carbonates that has the greatest precipitation potential in alkaline environments, however, its precipitation is highly affected by the presence of Mg²⁺, phosphate and dissolved organics [17]. Magnesite (MgCO₃) is the stable form of magnesium carbonate compounds in a pH range less than 10.7 therefore its reaction also ought to be taken into account [17]. In addition, calcium hydroxide (Ca(OH)₂) and brucite (magnesium hydroxide, Mg(OH)₂) can precipitate at high (> 9.5) pH [17]. Table 4.1 summarizes the possible reactions of P minerals precipitation in the process of struvite precipitation.

Chapter 4: Impact of pH and Ionic Molar	[•] Ratios on Phosp	horus Forms Precip	itation and Recovery
from Different Wastewater Sludges			

Solid phase	Reaction	condition	рК _{sp} (25°С)	Reference
Struvite	$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O$ $\leftrightarrow MgNH_4PO_4^{-}6H_2O$	7 <ph< 11<="" td=""><td>13.26</td><td>[20]</td></ph<>	13.26	[20]
Newberyite	$Mg^{2+} + HPO_{4}^{2-} + 3H_2O \leftrightarrow MgHPO_4 \cdot 3H_2O$	High Mg ²⁺ /P, pH<6	5.8	[17]
Bobierrite	$3Mg^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} + 8H_2O \leftrightarrow$ $Mg_3(PO_4)_2 \cdot 8H_2O$	Days to precipitate	25.2	[17]
Hydroxyapatite (HAP)	$10Ca^{2+} + 6PO_4^{3-} + 2OH^- \leftrightarrow Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2$	Slow formation from ACP, DCPD	58.62	[21,22]
Tricalcium phosphate (TCP)	$3Ca^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2$	Slow formation from ACP, DCPD	32.63	[17]
Octacalcium phosphate (OCP)	$8Ca^{2+} + 2HPO_4^{2-} + 4PO_4^{3-} \leftrightarrow Ca_8(HPO_4)_2(PO_4)_4$	Hydrolysis of DCPD at pH =5-6	36.48	[23]
Monetite (DCP)	$Ca^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaHPO_4$	Fast formation from ACP, DCPD	6.81	[24]
Brushite (DCPD)	$Ca^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} + 2H_2O \leftrightarrow$ $CaHPO_4 \cdot 2H_2O$	pH<7	6.6	[25]
Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP)	$3Ca^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} + xH_2O \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2 xH_2O$	pH>6	25.46	[17]
Calcite	$Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaCO_3$	Stable at 25°C and atmospheric P	8.42-8.22-8.48	[17]
Magnesite	$Mg^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow MgCO_3$	Stable at pH<10.7	7.46-8.2	[25]
Brucite	$Mg^{2+} + 2OH^{-} \leftrightarrow Mg(OH)_{2}$	pH>9.5	11.16	[25]
Ca(OH) ₂	$Ca^{2+} + 2OH^{-} \leftrightarrow Ca(OH)_{2}$	pH>9.5	5.2	[17]

In this study, the process of struvite (and related P compounds) crystallization was investigated for three different sludge types, and results were compared. While most studies focus strictly on anaerobically digested sludge for high struvite precipitation efficiency, the present one investigates the possibility of inducing precipitation on both aerobic (extended aeration) and anaerobic sludges produced by the wastewater treatment plants (WRRFs) of Nosedo (Milan, Italy) and Pavia (Italy) (Figure 4.1), respectively. First, analysis of precipitates from different sludge samples and synthetic struvite is compared. Then, as second part of the study, we focus mainly on the aerobic sludge and on its potential for struvite recovery. The effect of different reaction parameters was studied under different operating conditions, and the use of Ca(OH)₂ as an inexpensive pH adjustment reagent was also investigated.



Figure 4.1. Process flow diagram of Nosedo (top) and Pavia (bottom) WRRFs.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Synthetic Struvite

Synthetic Struvite was produced in the laboratory using phosphoric acid (H_3PO_4), ammonia (NH_3) and magnesium chloride ($MgCl_2$) with 1:1:1 molar ratio, in alkaline environment. The precipitated struvite was then dried at room temperature for analysis in subsequent steps (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2. Synthetic lab-produced Struvite.

4.2.2. Sludge characteristics

For this study, sludge samples were taken from the Nosedo WRRF near Milan, and from the municipal WRRF in Pavia (both in Italy). Nosedo has an average daily flow rate of around 432,000

Chapter 4: Impact of pH and Ionic Molar Ratios on Phosphorus Forms Precipitation and Recovery from Different Wastewater Sludges

m³ and it serves a part of the city of Milan with the capacity of 1 million P.E. the depuration plant of Pavia on other hand is smaller and has a capacity of 160,000 P.E. with average daily flow rate of 45,000 m³. The samples were drawn from the (extended) oxidation tanks, and the denitrification units at Nosedo, and from the dewatering phase following anaerobic digestion in Pavia. Table 4.2 summarizes the characteristics of the samples used in this study.

Constituent ions	Extended Oxidation	After anaerobic digestion	Denitrification pond
	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)
Ca ²⁺	101	30.9	66.4
Mg ²⁺	26.4	17.0	24.2
Ρ	37	8.1 ± 1.5	1.66 ± 0.3
NH_4^+	32.6	1510 ± 340	$\textbf{1.70} \pm \textbf{0.38}$
рН	7.6	8.5	7.0

Table 4.2. Sludge filtrate samples characteristics.

The average concentration of total phosphorus entering the Nosedo WRRF is 3.2 mg/L with minimum and maximum of 1.0 and 6.2 mg/L respectively. Generally, this concentration is not sufficiently high for having significant struvite precipitation. However, during the anaerobic stage of activated sludge process there is a release of phosphorus, which is followed by a "luxury uptake" of phosphorus in the aerobic zone. This increases the phosphorus content of the sludge to as high as 3-7% (dry basis) [26, 27] with a high concentration of 37 mg/L in the extended oxidation tank (after being under anaerobic condition for 1-2 days) and could make it potentially suitable for struvite precipitation process.

4.2.3. Equipment and Analytical tools

Experiments were conducted in 1-liter Imhoff cone-shaped beckers (Figure 4.3) fitted with a tip-valve to extract the precipitate. Initially, pH was adjusted using a fish-tank aeration pump injecting air in the vessels with a tube, while later a NaOH solution was used as pH adjustment reagent. MgCl₂ and NH₄Cl were added to the vessels as sources of magnesium and ammonium, respectively. UV-Vis colorimetric (HP 8452A Diode Array Spectrophotometer) method using antimony-phospho-molybdate complex (EPA 365.3) [28] was applied for P concentration measurements. P concentration vs. absorbance levels curve was calibrated using standard phosphate solutions, and absorbance levels of the samples were measured at 712 nm according to standard.


Figure 4.3. Experimental setup of the struvite precipitation process.

Analyses of the final precipitates, and identification of different components, was performed with Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) (Perkin Elmer 1600 series) as the main method. Thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) (Mettler Toledo TGA 1 STARe System) combined with Quadrupolar Mass Spectroscopy (MS) and X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) (Brucker D5005) were also used to confirm the presence of different minerals in precipitates. Evaporated materials from TGA were fed to the MS to detect different components. Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-AES) was used for quantitative measurements of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and P in the final precipitates, and Elemental Analysis was applied for determining N, H and C contents. The final part of the experiments included the study of the effect of using Ca(OH)₂ as pH-adjustment reagent, and results were compared with previous runs.

4.2.4. Chemical Equilibrium modeling for SI calculation

A chemical equilibrium model was used to calculate the Saturation Index (SI) values of different solid phases, and therefore to evaluate the possibility of their precipitation in the specific experimental operating conditions. For this aim, the PHREEQC model (USGS) [29] was applied based on samples characteristics and initial conditions as the input values, and optimization of PHREEQC's database for accounting of precipitation processes specified in Table 1 were performed as specified in [10].

4.2.5. Extended-aeration Sludge Experimental Setup

Precipitation experiments were conducted at three pH levels (8.5, 9.0, 9.5), adjusted with NaOH solution, at different Mg^{2+} , NH_4^+ , and P molar ratios, according to Table 4.3.

	Mg ²⁺ :NH ₄ +:P	
3:3:1	3:1:1	1:3:1
5:5:1	5:1:1	1:5:1

Table 4.3. Different molar ratios for Mg^{2+} : NH_4^+ : P used in the study.

One test was also performed for comparison on the extended-aeration sludge without any Mg and NH₄ additives, using only NaOH for pH adjustment. Two additional sets of experiments were also implemented to evaluate the possibility of using Ca(OH)₂ for pH adjustment as a cheaper option. In these additional runs, Mg^{2+} : NH₄⁺:P ratios of 5:5:1 and 3:3:1 were used.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Synthetic Struvite

The synthetic struvite obtained in the laboratory was subjected to FTIR, TGA and MS analyses. In the FTIR spectrum prior to TGA, the associated bands of PO_4^{3-} , H-N-H bonds and water molecules at 1000-1100, 1400-1600 and 2200-3800 cm⁻¹, respectively [30,31] can all be identified (Figure 4.4a). The TGA curve and its derivative, DTGA, (Figure 4.4b) show a weight loss around 150°C, related to the loss of ammonia and water molecules based on reaction (6) [32]:

$$MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \xrightarrow{-NH_3,H_2O} MgHPO_4 \xrightarrow{-H_2O} 0.5Mg_2P_2O_7$$
(6)

This is also confirmed by MS result, showing high intensity values for peaks at 17 and 18 m/z (mass-to-charge ratio), associated to NH_3 + H_2O and H_2O respectively (Figure 4.4c).

FTIR was performed prior and after TGA analysis: the latter results (Figure 4.4a) show the absence of water and H-N-H bonds associated peaks, and presence of $P_2O_7^{4-}$ formed based on the second step of the above reaction in the latter test.

The theoretical weight loss of the struvite decomposition reaction is 54.64%, while an experimental value of 53.94 % was determined, which can be considered quite accurate.



Figure 4.4. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of synthetic struvite.



2-theta (degrees) Figure 4.5. XRD analysis pattern of synthetic struvite.

Figure 4.5 shows the XRD outcome of synthetic struvite. The black line represents the synthetic struvite sample, while red dots indicate struvite peaks based on JCPSD 071-2089 [33]. It can be seen that the behavior of the synthetic lab-made struvite is sufficiently comparable to the reference one, since major struvite peaks are visible in XRD.

4.3.2. Analysis of Precipitates

4.3.2.1. Anaerobic Digestion Sludge

Magnesium was added in stoichiometric amount to the sludge samples following AD taken at Pavia. Ammonium addition was not necessary, since AD sludge already contained high ammonium concentrations. Samples were adjusted to pH=9 using aeration as described in section 4.2.3. Final precipitates were analyzed using FTIR, TGA and MS.

Associated peaks of water molecules, PO_4^{3-} and H-N-H bonds are clearly visible in the FTIR of the final precipitates obtained from anaerobic digestion sludge (Figure 4.6a). This suggests presence of struvite in the precipitates. Furthermore, bands related to carbonate groups (CO_3^{2-}) at around 1440 and 1650 cm⁻¹ [34] can also be seen in the graph (Figure 4.6a). In this case, TGA results (Figure 4.6b) shows two big weight losses at around 150 and 800 °C. While the first one is related to the loss of H₂O and NH₃ (based on equation 6), the second is a typical carbon dioxide weight loss based on the reaction [35]:

$$CaCO_3 \xrightarrow{-CO_2} CaO$$
 (7)

This result has also been confirmed by MS (Figure 4.6c) as it can be seen by three intensity peaks: the first two (NH_3+H_2O) similar to those for synthetic struvite (Figure 4.4c), related to the presence of H_2O and NH_3 (peaks at 17 and 18 m/z, respectively), the third one referring to CO_2 , with mass-to-charge ratio of 44 m/z. The calculated weight loss values show that struvite and calcite comprised 45% and 47% of final precipitates, respectively.

FTIR following TGA shows the absence of struvite and carbonate associated peaks, and the presence of a $P_2O_7^{4-}$ peak at 900-1200 cm⁻¹ [36]. A small, sharp peak can also be observed at around 3600-3700 cm⁻¹, associated to OH⁻ group [31], and which can be related to the presence of hydroxyapatite in the precipitate. This can explain the nature of the remaining 8% (other than struvite and calcite) of the final precipitates, suggesting that is related to the presence of ACP, transformed to hydroxyapatite at high temperature [34].



Figure 4.6. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) of precipitates from AD sludge sample.

Anaerobic sludge, has been studied for a long time, generally showing great potential for phosphorus recovery (80-85% at pH=9). Significant amount of struvite could precipitate since it has relatively low calcium content (initial Ca²⁺:Mg²⁺ ratio of 1.07) and very high amount of ammonium. Therefore, it has a great potential for fertilizer production, nevertheless, in the case examined, the precipitation of calcite is significant in higher pH levels.

4.3.2.2. Denitrification Sludge

Magnesium and ammonium were added in stoichiometric amounts to the sludge samples from the Nosedo denitrification section. Samples were adjusted to pH=9 using aeration as described in section 2.3. Final precipitates were analyzed using FTIR, TGA and MS methods. The analyses of precipitates from the Nosedo denitrification sludge sample are summarized in Figure 6. The first notable presence is a HPO₄²⁻ associated peak at around 900 cm⁻¹ [37] in the pre-TGA

sample (Figure 4.7a), which suggests precipitation of monetite (DCP) or brushite (DCPD). The weight loss at around 150 °C visible in both the TGA (Figure 4.7b) and MS (Figure 4.7c) graphs suggests the same phenomenon observed with synthetic struvite, related to loss of water molecules based on reaction (8):

$$2CaHPO_4 \xrightarrow{-H_2O} Ca_2P_2O_7 \tag{8}$$

Post-TGA FTIR analysis confirms this result by showing peaks of $P_2O_7^{4-}$ at around 900-1200 cm⁻¹ (Figure 4.7a). The associated carbonate peak (CO₃²⁻) at around 1400 cm⁻¹ in the same graph is related to formation of calcite through the same reaction in equation 7. Three significant weight losses are visible in the TGA graph, in addition to the water loss: one is at around 450-500 °C, and the other at 900-1000 °C (Figure 4.7b). The MS graph (Figure 4.7c) shows that the second is related to the evolution of CO₂, and thus can be an additional confirmation of the presence of HPO₄²⁻ based on:

$$2HPO_4^{2-} + CO_3^{2-} \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O + 2PO_4^{3-}$$
(9)

The water loss, on the other hand, could be due the reaction of hydroxyapatite with CaO:

$$Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2 + 2CaO \rightarrow 3Ca_4O(PO_4)_2 + H_2O$$
 (10)

The post-TGA FTIR graph indicates a strong evolution of water reaction according to (10), by showing peaks of OH⁻ around 3400-3500 cm⁻¹ (Figure 4.7a).

Tests on the denitrification sludge suggests that this is not suitable for significant struvite precipitation. Although phosphorus removal is high (nearly 80% at pH=9), it is mostly in the form of calcium phosphate compounds such as monetite, brushite and hydroxyapatite, which are not very efficient and favorable to be used as fertilizers due to their lower solubility and the fact that plant availability of calcium phosphate products is not consistent, and it depends on the technology used to obtained it [38].



Figure 4.7. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of precipitates from denitrification sludge sample.

4.3.2.3. Extended aeration Sludge

The same procedure of analysis was applied to the aerobic sludge (Figure 4.8). This time the analysis did not provide satisfactory and easily comprehensible results on final precipitates. Based on the FTIR results (Figure 4.8a), the associated peaks of phosphate group and water molecules are present at around 1000-1100 and 3500 cm⁻¹. However, the peaks in the range of 1200-2000 cm⁻¹ cannot identify directly the presence of struvite in the final precipitates. The peaks at around 1400-1500 cm⁻¹ could be related to H-N-H bonds of struvite but also to the carbonate groups. The peak at 1650 cm⁻¹ could be assigned to the H-bonds of amorphous phases. It seems that the peaks at this range are formed based on a convolution of individual peaks of different groups. TGA analysis (Figure 4.8b) result shows a weight loss at around 150°C that could be related to water and, possibly, ammonia. In addition, there are two other weight losses at around 650 and 800 degrees of °C that could be related to carbonate. MS results (Figure 4.78c) confirm this by indicating the presence of carbon dioxide based on the graph with mass-to-charge ratio of 44 m/z.

Consequently, it seems that higher levels of Mg²⁺ and NH₄⁺ would be needed in case of aerobic sludge, to achieve significant struvite precipitation directly detectable by analysis of precipitates. Phosphorus removal is around 80-85% at pH=9 in this case and the final precipitates are most probably a mix of struvite, ACP and calcite. Further tests in the following sections investigate the possibility of using aerobic sludge for obtaining a precipitate that is suitable to be used as fertilizer.



Figure 4.8. FTIR (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) analyses of precipitates from aerobic sludge sample.

4.3.3. Effect of Different Reaction Parameters on Oxidation Sludge

4.3.3.1. Chemical Equilibrium Modeling

Results of PHREEQC modeling for extended aeration sludge samples show positive SI values for four solid phases; Struvite, ACP, calcite and monetite (DCP). This suggests that these solid phases have the possibility of precipitation in the operating conditions of the system, and ought to be taken into consideration for a likely composition of final precipitates. However, in almost

all experiments, no sign of HPO_4^{2-} in the precipitates were identified, based on FTIR spectra compared to the typical associated peaks of HPO_4^{2-} (Figure 4.9) [34]. This suggests that struvite, ACP and calcite were the only three major solid phases precipitating in the process and monetite (DCP) was not present in the final product in spite of the positive SI value.



4.3.3.2. FTIR analysis results

Between all the associated peaks of struvite constituents in an FTIR spectrum, those assigned to H-N-H bonds are the most important, as they can directly confirm the presence of struvite in final precipitates. This is because there is no other major solid phase containing the ammonium ion in the system, while phosphate peaks could be related to ACP, as well. Therefore, at this point we focused on a very specific range of the FTIR spectrum between 1200 to 2000 cm⁻¹ (Figure 4.10, red rectangle) in order to compare the results of different experiments.



Figure 4.10. FTIR total spectral range, and detail of spectrum used for the analysis (1200-2000 cm⁻¹)

Table 4.4 shows the FTIR spectra of precipitates from different runs of experiments, at different pH levels and molar ratios. The phosphorus removal percentage for each test is also reported in the table. As it can be clearly seen, the only experiments resulting in direct evidence

of struvite presence based on FTIR analysis between 1200 and 2000 cm⁻¹ are those at pH 8.5 and 9.0, and ionic molar ratios of Mg^{2+} : NH_4^+ :P equal to 5:5:1. These experiments produced spectra quite similar to those of synthetic struvite obtained initially. The highest P removal percentages are related to the experiments carried out at pH=9.5, however, at this level of pH there is no evidence of struvite precipitation based on FTIR analysis that could suggest the possibility of obtaining a mix of struvite, ACP and calcite precipitates. It can also be concluded that in order to obtain significant amounts of struvite in the final precipitates, identifiable directly from FTIR analysis spectra, addition of both Mg^{2+} and NH_4^+ are not suggesting the presence of struvite.



Table 4.4. FTIR result curves and P removal percentage results for tests with ionic molar ratios indicated, at different pH

FTIR results and P removal percentages for those sludge samples without additions of Mg²⁺ and NH₄⁺ are summarized in Table 4.5. As it can be seen therein, there is no direct evidence of struvite precipitation for any of the experiments, suggesting that the initial ionic molar ratios in the wastewater sludge are not sufficient for significant struvite precipitation. While at pH=8.5 and 9 it can be concluded that final precipitates are a mix of struvite, ACP and calcite, at pH=9.5 FTIR analysis suggests that the major fraction of the precipitates could be calcite, due to the increased peaks of carbonate groups. Nonetheless, P removal percentage is increasing with increase of pH, and P removal could reach up to 94 %, even without the addition of Mg²⁺ and NH₄⁺ sources to the sludge, although the final precipitates composition is not favorable in terms of struvite production.



Table 4.5. FTIR and P removal percentage results for experiments without any additives using only NaOH for pH adjustment.

4.3.3.3. XRD Results

Figure 4.11 shows the result of XRD analysis on final precipitates for four samples. The horizontal axis represents (2 x theta), where theta is the angle between incident beam and crystal plane. Red dots represent the peaks of synthetic struvite. The black line represents the results of test with molar ratio 5:5:1 at pH=8.5, where there was evidence of struvite precipitation. The line matches quite well the peaks of struvite shown by XRD, which is a further confirmation of struvite precipitation in this test. The red line is related to the test with molar ratio 3:3:1 at pH 8.5. The only obviously detectable detail in this line is the broad peak at around x=30 (see circle in Figure

11), associated to the amorphous P forms (ACP) [39]. Representing peaks of struvite are not observable.



Figure 4.11. XRD pattern for the experiment with 5:5:1 of molar ratio at pH=8.5 (black), with 3:3:1 of molar ratio at pH=8.5 (red), compared to synthetic struvite (red dots), inside circle: broad peak associated to the amorphous phase.

4.3.3.4. ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis Results

The results of the ICP-AES and elemental analysis are reported in terms of Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, P, Nitrogen (N), and Carbon (C) molar contents. Figure 12 shows molar ratios (Figure 4.12a) and contents (Figure 4.12b) of the elements in the final precipitates for 5 selected experiments: the first three are those with the 5:5:1, 5:1:1, and 1:5:1 molar ratios at pH=8.5, the fourth represents that with 3:3:1 molar ratio (same pH), and the fifth one is for the 5:1:1 ratio at pH = 9. Comparing the first three, it can be seen that as we shift ratios from 5:5:1 to 1:5:1, there is a substantial decrease in Mg²⁺ content, which suggests a reduction in struvite precipitation, while there is little difference between tests with ratios 5:5:1 and 5:1:1. Since N content is very small for test 5:1:1, it can be concluded that the Mg²⁺ content in this precipitate is probably related to Mg²⁺ impurities (in the form of bobierryite or newberyite), and not due to significant struvite precipitation. This can be confirmed also by the fact that Mg²⁺:P ratios are very similar between the two experiments. Furthermore, as we move to the 1:5:1 ratio test, a noticeable increase is visible for the Ca²⁺:P ratio, related to the calcite precipitation, also confirmed by FTIR results. In conclusion, adding only NH₄⁺ to the system is not very effective to induce struvite precipitation, as the major parts of precipitates are ACP (high, similar Ca²⁺ and P molar content) and calcite (slightly higher Ca²⁺ with respect to P, and higher C molar content).

The comparison of experiments with 5:5:1 and 3:3:1 ionic rations at pH=8.5 indicates that relatively high molar ratios are required for Mg^{2+} and NH_{4^+} , since there is little Mg, and nearly zero N content, substantially lower Mg^{2+} : Ca²⁺, and higher Ca²⁺:P ratios in the test characterized by molar ratios 3:3:1. The second and fifth experiments, characterized by equal molar ratios of 5:1:1 and different pH levels of 8.5 and 9 are not very different. Obviously, as pH increases, there is lower Mg^{2+} content, thus lower struvite precipitation. Still, there are high P and Ca²⁺ contents

in both situations, and higher C at pH=9, which is due to greater calcite precipitation in this experiment.



Figure 4.12. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents.

ICP-AES results for experiments without any additives, and only NaOH dosage as pH adjustment (Figure 4.13) indicate that although the Mg^{2+} content increases from pH=8.5 to pH=9.5, it is still dramatically lower than P and Ca²⁺, and there is also very little N component in all of the precipitates. This suggests that struvite precipitation is almost non-existent in these conditions. Ca²⁺:P ratio increases with pH increase, and in all cases is higher than 1. This is due to calcite precipitation, also confirmed by FTIR results.



Figure 4.13. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis for the experiments without any additives with only NaOH for pH adjustment, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents

Le Corre et al [40] suggested that in order to obtain effective struvite precipitation the Ca²⁺: Mg^{2+} ratio must be below 1. In this system, struvite precipitation was observed in experiments with Mg^{2+} : NH_4^+ : P molar ratio equal to 5:5:1 at pH=8.5 and 9.0, with Ca²⁺: Mg^{2+} ratio of 0.39. In the cases where only ammonium was added to the solution, this ratio was 1.95. Although, struvite precipitation was lower in these runs, it was still observed. This can explain the idea that

struvite could be still precipitated if sufficient amounts of ammonium is available even with higher Ca²⁺: Mg²⁺ ratios [41], as was the case in the mentioned experiments.

4.3.4. Using Ca(OH)₂ as pH adjustment reagent

Table 6 shows the results of the experiments in which Ca(OH)₂ was used as pH adjustment reagent: this is in fact less expensive than NaOH, and the possibility of routinely using it would not only make the process cheaper, but would also be beneficial to phosphate precipitation. As it can be seen from Table 6, P removal percentages are notably higher in these tests, compared to the previous ones. At pH=9.5, up to 99% P removal, could be reached, which is remarkable. This is due to the fact that more Ca²⁺ in the system promotes calcium phosphate compounds precipitation, however, FTIR results indicate that there is no direct evidence of the presence of struvite in the precipitates. In fact, at pH=9.5, there is substantial growth of carbonate groups peak intensity at around 1400-1500 cm⁻¹, suggesting that the addition of Ca(OH)₂ will lead to mixture of struvite, ACP and calcite precipitation (small amounts of struvite and calcite, and large amounts of ACP) at lower pH, and mostly calcite-rich precipitates at higher pH.



Table 4.6. FTIR and P removal percentage results for the experiments with Ca(OH)₂ for pH adjustment.

XRD analysis results confirm this, as it can be seen in Figure 4.14. Herein, the green line is related to the final precipitates of the test with 5:5:1 molar ratios using $Ca(OH)_2$ for pH adjustment to 8.5. Here also, the only clearly visible pattern is the broad peak at around x=30

degrees (circle in the Figure 4.14), related to the amorphous P form (ACP). The peaks associated to struvite are not present in the XRD, as it can be determined by comparing the former to the black line (5:5:1 at pH=8.5 with NaOH), and the red struvite-related points in which they are clearly visible.



Figure 4.14. XRD pattern for experiments with 5:5:1 molar ratio at pH=8.5 using Ca(OH)₂ (green), comparing to the one using NaOH (black) and synthetic struvite (red dots), inside circles shows the broad peak associated to P amorphous phase.

An analysis of the composition of these precipitates using ICP-AES and elemental analysis proves the results obtained above. Figure 4.15 shows Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, P, N, and C content for three of the experiments: the ones at Mg:NH₄:P molar ratio 5:5:1 at pH=8.5, the one at 5:5:1 molar ratio at pH=9, and that at 3:3:1 molar ratio and pH=8.5. It can be concluded that the major fractions of the precipitates, in all these cases, are ACP and calcite, due to high P and Ca²⁺ content and small amount of Mg²⁺. The amount of N is also very low or nearly zero in these tests. The second test highlights higher Ca²⁺ content than P, this suggests that at higher pH levels there is a higher possibility of calcite precipitation. Mg²⁺: P and Mg²⁺: Ca²⁺ ratios are considerably low for all experiments comparing with the Ca²⁺:P ratio, due to lower precipitation of struvite in these runs. It can be concluded that using Ca(OH)₂ as a pH-control reagent is not favorable for struvite precipitation, since in none of the experiments significant struvite was obtained in the final precipitates. However, maintaining the pH level at 8.5 will result in a precipitate consisting in a small amount of struvite and high ACP content. This could be considered as a positive, alternative solution, as ACP could still be used in the fertilizer industry due to their acceptable phosphate content, in spite of having lower solubility compared to pure struvite [42]. As the pH increases to 9 and beyond, calcite precipitation is highly affecting the impurity of the precipitates and their recycle potential.



Figure 4.15. Results of ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis for the experiments with Ca(OH)₂ for pH adjustment, a) Molar ratios, b) Molar contents.

4.4. Discussion

Based on the results of this work, it can be concluded that using aerobic sludge for phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite is not as effective as using anaerobic sludge, which was the target of most studies. Struvite precipitation is highly affected by the presence of Ca²⁺ as competitive ion, and particularly by the competition of calcium phosphate compounds (mainly ACP) and calcite precipitation. For all the experiments, it was observed the pH of the solution tends to diminish after the precipitation of the crystals. This is due to the acidification of the solution because of H⁺ release resulted from the precipitation reactions. It was observed that to achieve significant struvite precipitation in tests with aerobic sludge, high amounts of Mg²⁺ and NH₄⁺ addition would be needed, which would also unfortunately make the process economically inefficient. In addition, the cost of adding NaOH, needed for pH adjustment is also relatively high [43]. Using $Ca(OH)_2$ as a more economic pH adjustment reagent proved not to be very efficient in terms of struvite precipitation, however, it might lead to achieve an alternative form precipitate rich in ACP for P recovery. In terms of effects on soil, the Ca²⁺: Mg²⁺ ratio in the final precipitates could also impact its structure. Although lower ratios, meaning larger struvite content in precipitates, would generally be considered more favorable, this is not always the case, and it would depend on the specific soil of precipitates application. For some soils, a higher ratio would be considered better, improving their drainage [44]. In addition, calcium phosphate minerals could be utilized as fertilizers too, although not efficiently as pure struvite, as their P available content in the soil is lower than struvite, but still notable [45]. Therefore, use of Ca(OH)2 rather than NaOH in the process could be favorable in specific cases, depending on specific situation.

4.5. Conclusions

The process of P precipitation was investigated in this study using different sludge samples from extended aeration, denitrification volume, and post-AD taken form the Nosedo and Pavia treatment facilities in Italy. The first part of the study showed great potential of struvite

precipitation for anaerobic sludge based on FTIR, TGA and MS analysis; denitrification sludge did not have any struvite precipitation potential due to its low P concentration. The extended aeration sludge, as the main purpose of this study, was investigated in more detail.

Different tests using varied Mg^{2+} : NH_4^+ : P molar ratios, at three levels of pH, were carried out. Results showed that P removal efficiency increases with the growth of pH and up to 94% P removal using NaOH for pH adjustment could be achieved at pH=9.5 (99% using Ca(OH)₂). Nevertheless, at higher pH values precipitates are highly affected by the presence of ACP and calcite, mixed with struvite. In order to achieve significant struvite precipitation, significant additions of both Mg^{2+} and NH_4^+ to the system would be necessary.

The only tests that demonstrated direct evidence of struvite presence in the final precipitates based on FTIR spectra were those conducted for tests at Mg^{2+} : NH_4^+ : P molar ratio of 5:5:1 and pH=8.5 and 9.0. In all the other experiments, final precipitates were a mixture of struvite, ACP, and calcite with increasing calcite content at increasing pH values.

Finally, the use of Ca(OH)₂ as an economic pH-adjustment reagent, instead of NaOH, was evaluated. Results were not favorable to struvite precipitation, since in all the experiments major fractions of the final precipitates turned out to be ACP and calcite. However, at pH=8.5 precipitates were a mixture of a small amount of struvite and high amounts of ACP. These precipitates can still be used in the fertilizer industry as an alternative to pure struvite, due to their high phosphate content. As pH increased to 9 and above, precipitates were affected considerably by calcite formation. It could therefore be concluded that using Ca(OH)₂ as pH-adjusting reagent, while the system is strictly kept at pH < 9, may be considered an alternative pathway for P recovery, in the form of a mineral that can be used in fertilizer industry, although not as pure struvite.

4.6. References

- Daneshgar S.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A. G.; Vaccari, D. The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review. *Resources* 2018a, 7(2), 37.
- 2. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A.G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Science and Technology* **1993**, 28(3-5), 69-78.
- Capodaglio, A.G.; Muraca, A.; Becchi, G. Accounting for water quality effects of future urbanization: Diffuse pollution loads estimates and control in Mantua's Lakes (Italy). *Water Science and Technology* 2003, 47(7-8), 291-298.
- Amann, A.; Zoboli, O.; Krampe, J.; Rechberger, H.; Zessner, M.; Egle, L. Environmental impacts of phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater. Resources, *Conservation and Recycling* **2018**, 130(February 2017), 127–139.

- Egle, L.; Rechberger, H.; Krampe, J.; Zessner, M. Phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater: An integrated comparative technological, environmental and economic assessment of P recovery technologies. *Science of the Total Environment* 2016, 571, 522– 542.
- Desmidt, E.; Ghyselbrecht, K.; Zhang, Y.; Pinoy, L.; Van Der Bruggen, B.; Verstraete, W.; Meesschaert, B. Global phosphorus scarcity and full-scale P-recovery techniques: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* **2015**, 45(4), 336–384.
- 7. Morse, G. K.; Brett, S. W.; Guy, J. A.; Lester, J. N. Phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. *The Science of the Total Environment* **1998**, 212, 69–81.
- 8. Alori, E. T.; Glick, B. R.; Babalola, O. O. Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **2017**, 8(JUN), 1–8.
- 9. Liu, R.; Lal, R. Synthetic apatite nanoparticles as a phosphorus fertilizer for soybean (Glycine max). *Scientific Reports* **2014**, 4, 1–6.
- 10. Daneshgar S.; Buttafava A.; Callegari A.; Capodaglio A. G. Simulations and laboratory tests for assessing phosphorus recovery efficiency from sewage sludge. *Resources* **2018b** (accepted, in print).
- Le Corre, K. S.; Valsami-Jones, E., Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S. A. Phosphorus Recovery from Wastewater by Struvite Crystallization: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 2009, 39(6), 433–477.
- 12. Rahaman, M. S.; Mavinic, D. S.; Meikleham, A.; Ellis, N. Modeling phosphorus removal and recovery from anaerobic digester supernatant through struvite crystallization in a fluidized bed reactor. *Water Research* **2014**, 51, 1–10.
- 13. Doyle, J. D.; Parsons, S. A. Struvite formation, control and recovery. *Water Research* **2002**, 36(16), 3925–3940.
- 14. Galbraith, S. C.; Schneider, P. A.; Flood, A. E. Model-driven experimental evaluation of struvite nucleation, growth and aggregation kinetics. *Water Research* **2014**, 56, 122–132.
- Parkhurst, D. L.; Appelo, C. A. J. Description of Input and Examples for PHREEQC Version 3 — A Computer Program for Speciation, Batch-Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 2013, book 6, chapter A43, 497 p.
- 16. Çelen, I.; Buchanan, J. R.; Burns, R. T.; Bruce Robinson, R.; Raj Raman, D. Using a chemical equilibrium model to predict amendments required to precipitate phosphorus as struvite in liquid swine manure. *Water Research* **2007**, 41(8), 1689–1696.
- Musvoto, E. V; Wentzel, M. C. M.; Ekama, G. a M. Integrated Chemical Physical Processes Modelling II. Simulating Aeration Treatment of Anaerobic Digester Supernatants. *Water Research* 2000 34(6), 1868–1880.

- 18. Mamais, D.; Pitt, P. A.; Cheng, Y. W.; Loiacono, J.; Jenkins, D.; Wen, Y. Digesters Determination to control in anaerobic of ferric chloride precipitation digesters dose struvite sludge. *Water* **2012**, 66(7), 912–918.
- 19. Abbona, F.; Madsen, H. E. L.; Boistelle, R. The initial phases of calcium and magnesium phosphates precipitated from solutions of high to medium concentrations. *Journal of Crystal Growth* **1986**, 74(3), 581–590.
- 20. Taylor, A. W.; Frazier, A. W.; Gurney, E. L. Solubility products of magnesium ammonium and magnesium potassium phosphates. *Transactions of the Faraday Society* **1963**, 59, 1580.
- 21. Battistoni, P.; Paci, B.; Fatone, F.; Pavan, P. Phosphorus removal from supernatants at low concentration using packed and fluidized-bed reactors. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research* **2005**, 44(17), 6701–6707.
- 22. Lee, S. H.; Yoo, B. H.; Lim, S. J.; Kim, T. H.; Kim, S. K.; Kim, J. Y. Development and validation of an equilibrium model for struvite formation with calcium co-precipitation. *Journal of Crystal Growth* **2013**, 372, 129–137.
- 23. Lu, X.; Leng, Y. Theoretical analysis of calcium phosphate precipitation in simulated body fluid. *Biomaterials* **2005**, 26(10), 1097–1108.
- 24. Johnsson, M. S.-A.; Nancollas, G. H. The Role of Brushite and Octacalcium Phosphate in Apatite Formation. *Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine* **1992**, 3(1), 61–82.
- 25. Stumm W.; Morgan J. J. Aquatic Chemistry. *Wiley-Interscience* **1981**, New York, USA.
- 26. Levin, G.V.; Shapiro, J. Metabolic uptake of phosphorus by wastewater organism. *Journal* of Water Pollution Control Federation **1965**, 37, 6, 800-821.
- 27. Barnard, J. A review of biological phosphorus removal in the activated sludge process. *Water SA* **1976**, 2(3), 136-144.
- 28. EPA, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Method 365.3: Phosphorus, all forms (colorimetric, ascorbic acid, two reagent), 1978, accessible at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/.../method_365-3_1978.pdf (accessed on February 15th, 2016).
- US Geological Survey, PHREEQC (Version 3) A computer program for speciation, batchreaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations, (https://wwwbrr.cr.usgs.gov/projects/GWC_coupled/phreeqc/) (accessed on October 30th, 2017).
- Soptrajanov, B.; Stefov, V.; Lutz, H. D.; Engelen, B. Infrared and Raman Spectra of Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate Hexahydrate (struvite) and its Isomorphous Analogues. *Spectroscopy of Emerging Materials* 2004, (I), 299–308.
- Stefov, V.; Abdija, Z.; Najdoski, M.; Koleva, V.; Petruševski, V. M.; Runčevski, T.; Soptrajanov, B. Infrared and Raman spectra of magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate (struvite) and its isomorphous analogues. IX: Spectra of protiated and

partially deuterated cubic magnesium cesium phosphate hexahydrate. *Vibrational Spectroscopy* **2013**, 68, 122–128.

- 32. Bhuiyan, M. I. H.; Mavinic, D. S.; Koch, F. A. Thermal decomposition of struvite and its phase transition. *Chemosphere* **2008**, 70(8), 1347–1356.
- Morris, M.C.; McMurdie, H.F.; Evans, E.H.; Paretzkin, B.; Parker, H.S; Wong-Ng, W.; Gladhill, D.M. Standard X-ray Diffraction Powder Patterns Section 21 – Data for 92 Substances, International Center for Diffraction Data, 1985.
- 34. Berzina-Cimdina, L.; Borodajenko, N. Research of Calcium Phosphates Using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. *Infrared Spectroscopy Materials Science, Engineering and Technology* **2012**, 6, 123-149.
- Dubberke, W.; Marks, V. J. Thermogravimetric Analysis of Carbonate Aggregate. *Transportation Research Record* **1992**, (1362), 38–43. Retrieved from http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=370975. (accessed on March 20th, 2018).
- 36. Destainville, A.; Rolo, A.; Champion, E.; Bernache-Assollant, D. Synthesis and characterization of beta tricalcium phosphate. *Key Engineering Materials* **2003**, 240–242, 489–492.
- 37. Mandel, S.; Tas, A. C. Brushite (CaHPO₄·2H₂O) to octacalcium phosphate (Ca₈(HPO₄)₂(PO₄)₄·5H₂O) transformation in DMEM solutions at 36.5 °C. *Materials Science and Engineering* **2010**, 30(2), 245–254.
- Egle, L.; Rechberger, H.; Krampe, J.; Zessner, M. Phosphorus recovery from municipal wastewater: An integrated comparative technological, environmental and economic assessment of P recovery technologies. *Science of Total Environment*, **2016**, 571, 522– 542.
- 39. Lam, E.; Gu, Q.; Swedlund, P. J.; Marchesseau, S.; Hemar, Y. X-ray diffraction investigation of amorphous calcium phosphate and hydroxyapatite under ultra-high hydrostatic pressure. *International Journal of Minerals, Metallurgy and Materials* **2015**, 22(11), 1225–1231.
- 40. Le Corre, K. S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S. A. Impact of calcium on struvite crystal size, shape and purity. *Journal of Crystal Growth* **2005**, 283(3–4), 514–522.
- Crutchik, D.; Garrido, J. M. Struvite crystallization versus amorphous magnesium and calcium phosphate precipitation during the treatment of a saline industrial wastewater. *Water Science and Technology* **2011**, 64(12), 2460–2467.
- 42. Ichihashi, O.; Hirooka, K. Removal and recovery of phosphorus as struvite from swine wastewater using microbial fuel cell. *Bioresource Technology* **2012**, 114, 303–307.
- 43. Jaffer, Y.; Clark, T.A.; Pearce, P.; Parsons, S.A. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. *Water Research* **2002**, 36, 1834-1842.

- 44. Muster, T.H.; Douglas G.B.; Sherman, N.; Seeber, A.; Wright, N.; Guzukara, Y. Towards effective phosphorus recycling from wastewater: Quantity and quality. *Chemosphere* **2013**, 91, 676-684,
- 45. Johnston, A.E.; Richards, I.R. Effectiveness of different precipitated phosphate as phosphorus source for plants. *Soil Use and Management* **2003**, 19, 45-49.

<u>Chapter 5</u>

Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)

A modified version has been submitted to *Science of Total Environment*.

Saba Daneshgar^{1,2}, Peter Vanrolleghem², Céline Vaneeckhaute^{2,3}, Armando Buttafava^{4,5}, Andrea G. Capodaglio^{1*}

¹ Department of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

² modelEAU, Département de génie civil et de génie des eaux, Université Laval, Québec city, Québec, Canada,

³ BioEngine, Research Team on Green Process Engineering and Biorefineries, Chemical Engineering Department,

Université Laval, Québec city, Québec, Canada

⁴ Department of Chemistry, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

⁵ UN.E.CO srl, Pavia, Italy

* Correspondence: andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it; Tel.: +39-0382-985591

Abstract

Phosphorus resources recovery has drawn much attention during recent years. This is particularly due to its limited available quantities, and harmful environmental impact that it may have when released into aquatic environments. Struvite precipitation from wastewater or its sludge is nowadays one of the preferred approaches for phosphorus recovery as it could lead to the production of valuable fertilizer components. This process of struvite precipitation is mostly affected by pH and presence of competitive ions in the original solution. Modeling and optimization of the precipitation process may help understanding the optimal conditions under which the most efficient recovery could be achieved. In this study, a combination of chemical equilibrium modeling and response surface methodology (RSM) was applied to this aim. Results determine optimum chemical parameter values for best phosphorus precipitation recovery and removal, respectively. Identification of these optimal conditions for process control is of great importance for implementing pilot scale struvite precipitation and achieve an efficient phosphorus recovery.

Keywords: Struvite Precipitation, Statistical Optimization, Response Surface Methodology, Chemical Equilibrium modeling.

5.1. Introduction

Phosphorus is the most essential nutrient for all living organisms on Earth, widely found in nature mostly in phosphate form, due to the high reactivity of its elemental form. In spite of its biological importance (i.e. as element allowing plants growth), it can also generate serious environmental concerns when freely released into water bodies [1,2]. Phosphorous also generates serious sustainability concerns as a finite and nonrenewable resource [3,4], making its recovery a desirable goal, whenever possible. Nowadays, combining its removal and recovery from wastewater streams seems an appropriate and often feasible strategy.

Phosphorus recovery technologies have been studied for many years, and different approaches for achieving that have been proposed [5]. The most common method is the precipitation process [4,6], which product could be in the form of calcium phosphate compounds or most notably magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate (MgNH₄PO₄·6H₂O), also called "Struvite". This is an invaluable mineral that, due to its low solubility, low metal and high nutrient contents could be considered a suitable fertilizer. Different parameters impact the efficiency of struvite precipitation, such as pH and concentration of constituent ions. Many studies have investigated the process of struvite precipitation and its modeling and optimization in order to achieve high levels of phosphorus recovery. Wang et al. (2005) [7] studied the theoretical optimum values for pH that may lead to higher process efficiency (8.5-9.5). Le Corre et al. (2007) [8] investigated the kinetics of struvite crystallization reactions, showing that they are affected by the initial concentration of magnesium in the solution. Bhuiyan (2007) [9] studied with great detail struvite thermodynamics, and in particular its solubility at different temperatures and pH. There have been studies on the use of fluidized-bed reactors for struvite crystallization, and investigations on reaction parameters [10]. Morse et al. (1998) [11] conducted a comprehensive review on struvite formation and its different recovery methods.

In addition, studies have been conducted on modeling and optimization of the struvite precipitation process using chemical modeling tools, such as PHREEQC and Visual MINTEQ. Such models are capable of calculating ion speciation, saturation index, equilibrium conditions, ionic strength, etc. based on the initial conditions of a solution or mixture of solutions. Possible solid phases and related occurring reactions in the system may also be simulated. Lee et al. (2013) [12] developed an equilibrium model for struvite formation and precipitation with calcium co-precipitation. Türker & Çelen (2007) [13] used chemical equilibrium to predict ammonia removal in the form of struvite from anaerobic digester effluent. Harada et al. (2006) [14] predicted struvite formation from urine using a new equilibrium model and considering co-precipitation of calcium phosphate compounds and carbonates.

Struvite precipitation can be also modeled and optimized using statistical approaches. Statistical modeling is a powerful class of tools to investigate possible relationships between variables affecting a process and those describing its efficiency. Establishing such relationships

could help process engineers to implement future designs in more efficient and possibly costeffective ways. Statistical modeling approaches are basically a way to detect significant effects of process inputs onto process outputs. Further steps in such approaches could lead to finding an optimum range of the operating parameters, fitting a model in the form of y=f(x) where y is the process output or response variable and x is a set of process parameters or predictor variables. Response surface methodology (RSM) is a well-known statistical approach to this aim and, although not widely used for struvite precipitation processes, a few interesting works were conducted during the past decade [15-18] RSM was introduced in 1951 by George E.P. Box and K.B. Wilson [19], based on using a set of designed experiments to optimize a response variable. An advantage of using RSM is that it allows to understand the impact of changes in the degrees of freedom on optimum result, and can help investigate the direction of changing predictor variables needed to move towards, in order to maximize or minimize response variables. Shalaby (2015) [17] investigated optimization of phosphorus removal from industrial and synthetic wastewater streams using pH, temperature, reaction time and ion molar ratios as predictor variables. De Luna et al. (2015) [16] used pH, initial phosphorus concentration and magnesiumto-phosphorus molar ratio in order to optimize a multi-response system, considering total and dissolved phosphate, magnesium and ammonium removal percentages as response variables. Capdevielle et al. (2013) [15] considered also the reaction stirring rate, and the presence of calcium among predictor variables, and studied the optimization of phosphorus removal, particle size and struvite to calcium phosphate ratio.

This study investigates simulation and optimization of struvite precipitation from municipal wastewater stream by combining chemical equilibrium modeling with RSM's statistical approach. Chemical equilibrium models were used to complement previous experimental work by calculating ion speciation and saturation index (SI) values for struvite. Results were then further used as input data for an RSM approach, to optimize both phosphorus removal percentage and struvite's SI, helping determine optimum response values for new sets of conditions without previously calculating them through chemical equilibrium calculations. Although many studies are available on struvite chemical equilibrium modeling, few valuable studies on the application of RSM for process optimization exist but are lacking the possibility of combining both for an overall better understanding of struvite precipitation and its optimization in terms of simultaneous maximum phosphorus removal and struvite crystallization.

5.2. Struvite chemistry, kinetics and thermodynamics

Struvite precipitation occurs according to the following reaction:

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow$$
 (1)

However, phosphate in solution may also be present in HPO_4^{2-} and $H_2PO_4^{-}$ forms, contributing to struvite formation according to equations (2) and (3):

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + HPO_4^{2-} + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow + H^+$$
 (2)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + H_2PO_4^- + 6H_2O \rightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O \downarrow + 2H^+$$
 (3)

In reality, equation (2) is dominant compared to the others for the pH range at which struvite formation is favorable (7-11) [20]. Therefore, it is important to take all reactions, and particularly the reaction of HPO_4^{2-} into account in the study of struvite precipitation.

Most important factors affecting this process are pH, concentrations of constituent ions and presence of competitive ions, most notably Ca²⁺ [21]. Struvite precipitation might take place spontaneously at different locations of a wastewater treatment facility and consequently could lead to specific problems such as pumps, pipes and valves clogging [22], however, controlled occurrence of the reaction could be a very effective method for recovering phosphorus.

The mechanism of struvite crystallization can be categorized in three steps: nucleation, crystal growth and aggregation [8, 23]. Nucleation is the formation of small crystals of struvite followed by the crystal growth, which is the development of the small sized crystal into larger ones. Aggregation occurs when several crystals come together and form some sort of clusters. Such mechanisms are affected by many factors such as pH, thermodynamics of the system, kinetics of the reaction, initial ionic concentration, temperature, etc. [24]. Studies on struvite precipitation kinetics suggested that these three reaction steps could all be empirically formulated as a function of struvite supersaturation ratio [25, 26]. The latter is basically the ion activity product (IAP) of constituent ions in solution over its equilibrium solubility product (K_{sp}). A solution is supersaturated when ionic concentrations are above their equilibrium levels, and consequently precipitation may occur to return the system into equilibrium conditions. Similarly, when ion concentrations are below equilibrium level, the system is called undersaturated, and precipitation will not occur. Equation (4) formulates the "Saturation Index" concept, which is the logarithm of supersaturation ratio [27]:

$$IAP = \{Mg^{2+}\}\{NH_4^+\}\{PO_4^{3-}\}$$
(4)

$$SI = \log(\frac{IAP}{K_{sp}})$$
(5)

Basically, when SI > 0 the system is supersaturated and when SI < 0, it will be in undersaturated condition. SI = 0 means that the system is at equilibrium.

Investigating the thermodynamics and kinetics of struvite precipitation could of course be done experimentally [9, 23], however, chemical equilibrium modeling tools (e.g. PHREEQC and Visual MINTEQ) may also be used to that purpose, with the advantage, besides achievement of the faster results, of predicting equilibrium conditions and ion speciation based on initial solution conditions.

5.3. Materials and methods

5.3.1. Sludge characteristics

Sludge samples were collected in Milan, Italy at Nosedo municipal wastewater treatment facility, the largest in northern Italy and the main serving the city of Milan. The plant is serving 1 million P.E., producing 50,000 tonnes/yr of biological sludge, containing 1400 tonnes/yr of phosphorus, with a considerable potential for recovery. Samples were taken from the oxidation tank in the activated sludge system, where the highest concentration of phosphorus occurs due to its release after being under anaerobic condition for 1-2 days, and therefore where the highest potential of Struvite precipitation may present itself. Table 5.1 shows the main (average) characteristics of the samples.

lons	Concentrations (mg/L)
Ca ²⁺	101
Mg ²⁺	26.4
Ρ*	40.3
NH_4^+	32.6
* Solu	ution-phase

Table 5.1. Wastewater filtrate characteristics

5.3.2. Analytical methods

Phosphorus concentrations were measured according to the colorimetric method (EPA 365.3) [28] using UV-Vis spectroscopy. (HP 8452A Diode Array Spectrophotometer). The samples were first filtered using 2.5 µm filtration papers and then the P measurement was made on the solution phase. The precipitates obtained in each experiment were washed with deionized water and dried at room temperature. Analysis of the precipitates was conducted using Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer 1600 series), Thermal Gravimetric Analysis (TGA) (Mettler Toledo TGA 1 STARE System), Mass Spectroscopy (MS), Inductively Coupled

Plasma Atomic Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-AES) and Elemental Analysis to identify different solid phases in the final precipitates.

5.3.3. Experimental setup

The experiments were done with the filtered solution in the laboratory using 200 ml beakers. The solution of NaOH was used to adjust the required pH. MgCl₂ and NH₄Cl were used as a source of magnesium and ammonium respectively. The final precipitates were collected after 20 hr in order to let the process reach its equilibrium. To do so, the solutions were filtered with 0.45 μ m paper filters and were put at room temperature to dry and be ready for the FTIR analysis.

5.3.4. Chemical equilibrium modeling using PHREEQC

The PHREEQC model is a geochemical software tool designed by US Geological Survey (USGS) [29] capable of simulating a wide variety of aqueous calculations such as ion speciation batchreactions and calculating saturation index (SI) values based on the solution characteristics (ion concentrations, pH, etc.) as input. In this study, PHREEQC version 3.0 was used to model chemical equilibria.

5.3.4.1. PHREEQC Database modification

PHREEQC includes different databases describing different species with their corresponding reactions and solid phases precipitated in the final product. The default PHREEQC.DAT database, was selected in this study. However, as it is not optimized for the specific case of struvite precipitation, it needed to be modified. The K_{sp} of struvite used in PHREEQC modeling is taken from [30] (K_{sp} = 13.26). There are several solid phases that could theoretically precipitate in such a system, however, their precipitation is highly dependent on operating conditions of the process. Based on the operating conditions of this study, some necessary solid phases were added to the data base and some unnecessary phases that were unlikely to precipitate were removed from it [6, *Chapter 4*]. Table 5.2 shows the list of solid phases that included in the database of PHREEQC for this study.

Solid phase	Reaction	pK _{sp} at 25°C	Reference	
Struvite	$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + PO_4^{3-} + 6H_2O \leftrightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O$	13.26	[30]	
Monetite (DCP)	$Ca^{2+} + HPO_4^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaHPO_4$	6.81	[31]	
Amorphous Calcium Phosphate (ACP)	$3Ca^{2+} + 2PO_4^{3-} + xH_2O \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2.xH_2O$	25.46	[32]	
Calcite	$Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaCO_3$	8.42-8.22-8.48	[32,33]	

Table 5.2. List of solid phases included in the database of PHREEQC software with their corresponding K_{sp} values

5.3.4.2. Model operation

Concentrations of all available ions were fed to the PHREEQC model as the input. pH level and the amount of NaOH added to the system to adjust its value were also included. The output of the model consists of ion speciation and saturation index (SI) values for each of the solid phases defined in the database. Ion speciation data were used to calculate phosphorus removal percentage for each of the experiments.

5.3.5. Statistical modeling

5.3.5.1. Response surface methodology (RSM)

Statistical testing was conducted according to the Box-Behnken Design (BBD). BBD is a specific type of experimental design introduced in 1960 [19], used for response surface methodology (RSM) applications. It uses factors with at least three levels (maximum, minimum and center point) and fits a second order model to the data. Figure 5.1 shows the schematics of the Box-Behnken Design for 3 factors, and the points at which the experiments need be performed. BBD needs 15 experiments for obtaining three predictor variables, as was the case of our study. Level of pH, calcium to magnesium molar ratio (Ca²⁺:Mg²⁺) and ammonium to phosphorus molar ratio (NH4⁺:P) have been chosen as the three predictor variables to optimize struvite saturation index (SI) and phosphorus removal percentage as response variables. Table 5.3 shows the 15 runs of experiments with their associated levels for each factor. The initial value of the Ca:Mg and NH₄:P molar ratios were 2.33 and 1.5 respectively. Ca:Mg ratio is already high and will make calcium very competitive for phosphate precipitation. therefore, it was chosen as the highest level and two lower levels with 0.8 step (1.53 and 0.73) were chosen to reach a molar ratio below 1. On the contrary, the NH₄:P molar ratio lower than the initial does not make much sense since the amount of ammonium will be too low for struvite precipitation. in this case, initial value was kept as the lowest level and two other higher levels were chosen with the step of 1 (2.5, 3.5). for the pH, lowest level was chosen as 8.5 since it was the point that the precipitation started to be significant enough to be filtered and observed. The highest level was set as 9.5 because after this point it was observed that most of the precipitate consists of carbonates. The second order responses for chosen predictors are formulated according to equation (6):

$$Y = \beta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \beta_i X_i + \sum_{i < j} \beta_{ij} X_i X_j + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \beta_{ii} X_i^2$$
(6)



Figure 5.1. Box-Behnken design for 3 factors

Table 5.3. values of predictor variables with their coded values in the Box-Behnken design

-	Run	Ca:Mg	NH4:P	рН	X 1	X 2	X 3
-	1	0.73	1.5	9.0	-1	-1	0
	2	2.33	1.5	9.0	1	-1	0
	3	0.73	3.5	9.0	-1	1	0
	4	2.33	3.5	9.0	1	1	0
	5	0.73	2.5	8.5	-1	0	-1
	6	2.33	2.5	8.5	1	0	-1
	7	0.73	2.5	9.5	-1	0	1
	8	2.33	2.5	9.5	1	0	1
	9	1.53	1.5	8.5	0	-1	-1
	10	1.53	3.5	8.5	0	1	-1
	11	1.53	1.5	9.5	0	-1	1
	12	1.53	3.5	9.5	0	1	1
	13	1.53	2.5	9.0	0	0	0
	14	1.53	2.5	9.0	0	0	0
	15	1.53	2.5	9.0	0	0	0

The R programming language has been used to perform RSM and statistical analysis of process data (The Comprehensive R Archive Network, CRAN). R is a powerful free software environment developed specifically for statistical modeling, computing and graphics. It supports the use of different packages with built-in functions designed for particular purposes. The "RSM" package [34] was used in this work, as it contains valuable functions for BBD and RSM applications.

5.4. Results and discussion

5.4.1. Chemical equilibrium modeling

The results of PHREEQC modeling are summarized in Table 5.4. The model calculated ion speciation and struvite SI values for all runs. It can be seen that all the calculated SI values are positive, which suggests the fact that struvite precipitation could occur in the system. However, some of these SI values are very low (e.g. 9th run), meaning that in those cases there is just a slight possibility of struvite precipitation, and therefore probably calcium phosphate and other potential compounds will prevail in the final precipitates. The range of SI values obtained during this whole set of experiments is not notably high (less than 1 for all of them), in contrast with most literature results that generally report higher values (specifically, greater than 1) for struvite SI. This may be due to the fact that most literature studies have worked with wastewater having considerably higher phosphorus concentrations than the one used herein (300-500 mg/L compared to around 40 mg/L in our case) due to the fact that anaerobic digester filtrate is being used usually. Fang et al., 2016 [35] suggests that as the initial concentration of phosphorus increases, the value of SI will also increase. This can be true at least up to concentrations of around 1000 mg/L at which the SI will start to decrease [35].

Run	X 1	X ₂	X ₃	SI	P rem%
1	-1	-1	0	0.48	82.46
2	1	-1	0	0.17	72.76
3	-1	1	0	0.84	82.15
4	1	1	0	0.54	72.20
5	-1	0	-1	0.54	70.28
6	1	0	-1	0.21	58.03
7	-1	0	1	0.60	92.08
8	1	0	1	0.32	86.33
9	0	-1	-1	0.13	62.40

Table 5.4. PHREEQC model results

10	0	1	-1	0.49	61.60
11	0	-1	1	0.22	88.59
12	0	1	1	0.58	88.29
13	0	0	0	0.52	75.86
14	0	0	0	0.52	75.89
15	0	0	0	0.52	75.89

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)

The phosphorus removal percentage and amount of total phosphorus precipitated, both calculated based on the result of PHREEQC modeling, have been compared to the measured values and the result is shown in the Table 5.5. Although some inaccuracies and errors in the comparison between calculated and measured values is inevitable, it can be concluded that the PHREEQC software had a decent performance on simulating these experiments. Some errors are believed to be related to measurements errors in the lab.

Run	P rem. Predicted (%)	P rem. Measured (%)	P prec. Predicted (mg)	P prec. Measured (mg)
1	82.46	84.27	33.23	31.24
2	72.76	82.99	29.32	30.85
3	82.15	82.05	33.11	29.77
4	72.20	82.21	29.10	30.07
5	70.28	54.72	28.32	23.60
6	58.03	61.43	23.39	24.14
7	92.08	91.93	37.11	34.66
8	86.33	89.28	34.79	33.65
9	62.40	68.47	25.15	25.74
10	61.60	62.36	24.83	24.74
11	88.59	92.15	35.70	34.09
12	88.29	87.62	35.58	33.65
13	75.86	85.74	30.57	31.37
14	75.89	82.31	30.58	30.84
15	75.89	84.13	30.58	30.78

Table 5.5. Comparison of the predicted results by PHREEQC with the measured values

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)

RMSE	6.97	1.93

5.4.2. Analysis of the final precipitates

The analysis of final precipitates using Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy confirms the presence of phosphate groups ($PO_4^{3^-}$) and water molecules by showing their associated peaks at around 1000-1100 and 3500-3600 cm⁻¹ respectively [36] (Figure 5.2a, Before TGA). The spectrum in the range 1200-2000 cm⁻¹ has a more complicated explanation. Visible peaks in this range are associated to 1440 and 1550 cm⁻¹ and could be assigned to H-N-H bonds. Nonetheless, carbonate groups ($CO_3^{2^-}$) also show similar peaks in this range [37] The small peak at 1650 cm⁻¹ could be related to the H-bonds of the amorphous phases, therefore, peaks in this range seem to be the results of individual peaks convolution, related to each group. This could suggest presence of struvite, ACP and calcite at the same time in the final precipitate. TGA/DTGA (Derivative TGA) analysis of the precipitates (Figure 5.2b) demonstrates a weight loss at around 150 °C, which could be related to the loss of both ammonia and water. Two other weight losses are also visible at around 650 and 800 °C that are typical weight loss of carbon dioxide related to the presence of calcite [38]. Figure 5.2c shows the MS analysis of the precipitate. The results of TGA can be confirmed by MS due to the presence of a peak for the graph with mass-to-charge ratio of 17 m/z (NH₃ + H₂O) and two very small peaks for mass-to-charge ratio of 44 m/z (CO₂).



Figure 5.2. FTIR spectra (a), TGA (b) and MS (c) of precipitates from aerobic sludge sample.

The ICP-AES and elemental analysis of the final precipitates (Figure 5.3) show the presence of P, Mg and N that are related to the presence of struvite. Although high amount of Ca is also detected. The higher moles of Ca with respect to the P could be due to the precipitation of calcite in addition to ACP, which is justified by higher P content in comparison to Mg and N.

Very similar results have been obtained for almost all the experiments. The main difference is in the intensity of the peaks in the FTIR results. As the pH increases from 8.5 to 9.5, the peaks assigned to carbonate and phosphate groups are intensified. This suggests the more phosphorus in the final precipitates thus higher P removal percentage. However, the intensified peaks of carbonate indicate high calcite precipitation.



5.4.3. Statistical modeling

5.4.3.1. RSM

Results of RSM were obtained for each of the response variables in this study. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of RSM models shows significant tests for all parameters, the main effects of predictors, two-way interactions and quadratic terms. Results for SI show (Table 5.6) that all terms, except two of the interactions (Ca:Mg.NH4:P and NH4:P.pH) are significant, and should be taken into account in the model. The adjusted R-squared value is quite good (0.99), but the ANOVA analysis shows a lack of fit, which may be attributed to the center points. All three center points have the same value for the SI since they are calculated under the same conditions by PHREEQC. The plot of the residuals vs fitted values (Figure 5.4a) confirms the good fit of the model, as there is no specific pattern in the plot. The same analysis for the second response (phosphorus removal percentage) indicates that the only parameters significantly affecting it are pH and its quadratic term (Table 5.7). This was an unexpected result, especially in comparison to other literature studies, however, the authors believe two reasons might be involved. One, as mentioned before, being the concentrations of constituent ions, relatively low compared to similar studies, that could lead to a magnification of pH effect, compared to other factors. On the

other hand, the values of the second response are obtained experimentally, unlike those of the first response, which were predicted by PHREEQC. Measurement error and lack of high accuracy for second response values, compared to the first one's, could lead to this observed difference between fitted models. Nevertheless, the insignificant lack of fit suggested by ANOVA, and the residual-vs-fitted plot for the second response confirm the good fit of the model (Figure 5.4b).

	Estimate	Std. Err	t value	Pr(> t)	
Intercept	5.2e-01	1.2910e-03	402.7903	1.790e-12	***
X1	-1.525e-01	7.9057e-04	-192.8989	7.104e-11	***
X2	1.812e-01	7.9057e-04	229.2651	2.996e-11	***
Х3	4.375e-02	7.9057e-04	55.3399	3.644e-08	***
X1.X2	2.500e-03	1.1180e-03	2.2361	0.07559	
X1.X3	1.250e-02	1.1180e-03	11.1803	9.989e-05	* * *
X2.X3	-2.095e-17	1.1180e-03	0.0000	1.00000	
X1^2	2.500e-02	1.1637e-03	21.4834	4.053e-06	* * *
X2^2	-3.750e-02	1.1637e-03	-32.2252	5.406e-07	* * *
X3^2	-1.275e-01	1.1637e-03	-109.5656	1.201e-09	***
Adjusted R-squared		0.9999			
F-statistic		1.184e+04			
p-value		2.809e-10			
Lack of fit Pr(> t)		2.2e-16			

Table 5.6. ANOVA for the Saturation Index (SI)

	Estimate	Std. Err	t value	Pr(> t)	
Intercept	84.0600	1.8078	46.4986	8.689e-08	***
X1	0.3675	1.1070	0.3320	0.753379	
X2	-1.7050	1.1070	-1.5401	0.184154	
X3	14.2500	1.1070	12.8721	5.039e-05	***
X1.X2	0.3600	1.5656	0.2299	0.827246	
X1.X3	-2.3400	1.5656	-1.4946	0.195243	
X2.X3	0.3950	1.5656	0.2523	0.810852	
X1^2	-2.2450	1.6295	-1.3777	0.226765	
X2^2	1.0650	1.6295	0.6536	0.542251	
X3^2	-7.4750	1.6295	-4.5872	0.005908	**
Adjusted R-squared		0.9296			
F-statistic		21.53			
p-value		0.001754			
Lack of fit Pr(> t)		0.1746929			
Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)



Figure 5.4. Residuals versus fitted values for response variables, a) SI, b) P removal %.

The fitted response for SI and P removal percentage is presented with equations:

$$SI = 0.52 - 0.1525X_1 + 0.1812X_2 + 0.04375X_3 + 0.0125X_1X_3 + 0.025X_1^2 - 0.0375X_2^2 - 0.1275X_3^2$$

 $P_{rem} = 84.06 + 14.25X_3 - 7.475X_3^2$

RSM shows that for both responses, the stationary point of the fitted response surface is a saddle point. Saddle point is a type of stationary point that is neither a maximum nor a minimum. Therefore, depending on the direction towards which one moves from that point, the response variable can either increase or decrease (Figure 5.5). The stationary points for saturation index and phosphorus removal percentage response variables are Ca:Mg= 3.8, NH₄:P= 5, pH= 9.15 and Ca:Mg=1.2, NH₄:P=3.17, pH= 9.5 respectively. It can be understood that for some of the predictors the stationary point is outside of the region of experimental design. The method of ridge analysis has been used in this work in order to search for the optimum values of the response variables in the experimental design region.



Figure 5.5. A saddle point obtained for the response variables.

5.4.3.2. Ridge analysis

Ridge analysis is a powerful method for exploring the optimum values of a fitted response surface, which has a stationary point outside of the experimental design region. The results of the ridge analysis for both SI and P removal percentage show the directions towards which optimum values of the response variables can be achieved. Figure 5.6 plots the coded values of the predictors vs the distance from the stationary point. It can be seen that the further we move from the stationary point the only predictor variables that are affecting the response variables are Ca:Mg and NH₄:P for SI and P removal percentage respectively. On the other hand, it suggests that in order to optimize the value of SI we need to move away from the stationary point towards the direction that Ca:Mg is decreasing. The similar pattern is true for the P removal percentage, but the direction is towards decreasing the NH4:P value. Figure 5.7 illustrates the plots of estimated values for the response variables as the distance from the stationary point increases. The red lines show standard error values, which are very limited in case of SI. However, for P removal the error first decreases and then increases as the distance from the stationary point keeps increasing. Therefore, it limits the furthest distance that can be chosen to move forward from stationary point. To avoid high values of errors for the estimated response variables the distance needs to be kept in a specific range (between 1 and 1.5) to keep the error at minimum level.

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)



Figure 5.6. Predictor variables coded values versus their distance from the stationary point, a) SI, b) P removal %.



Figure 5.7. Estimated response variables vs distance from stationary point.

Figure 5.8 and 5.9 illustrate the perspective response surfaces for SI and P removal percentage, respectively. The locations of the stationary points and the directions towards which the optimum values will be obtained, are demonstrated in the figures. Each surface plots the values of the response variable based on two of the predictor variables sliced at the stationary point for the third one. It can be seen in Figure 5.8 that the P removal percentage as response variable is highly affected by pH and not much by the other two predictors.

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)



Figure 5.8. Response surface perspectives for SI based on predictor variables.

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)



Figure 5.9. Response surface perspectives for P removal percentage based on predictor variables.

Table 5.8 shows the optimum values (or ranges) of the predictor variables obtained by RSM and ridge analysis. It can be concluded that by increasing the value of pH up to 9 both responses are increasing. However, they are not responding in the same way after that: above pH=9, P removal percentage will still increase but the value of struvite SI will decrease. This means that after this point, the possibility of struvite precipitation will decrease, and calcium phosphate compounds will be responsible for increasing P removal percentage. The optimum Ca:Mg ratio for the SI is 0.8, which is aligned with literature, suggesting a value less than 1 [39]. Obviously, higher P removal percentage will need higher Ca:Mg ratios as this promotes calcium phosphate precipitation. Optimum values for the NH₄:P ratio were obtained as 2 and >3.5 for P removal percentage and SI respectively. Although the optimal value of NH₄:P for SI is off the region of

design in our experiments, it can suggest that in order to achieve a higher struvite precipitation possibility the ammonium content of the solution needs to be sufficiently more than phosphorus content. This could be explained by the fact that phosphorus definitely gets involved in other competitive reactions, mostly for calcium phosphate compounds formation. However, the model suggests a lower value of NH₄:P ratio for P removal percentage as a lower value favors the precipitation of calcium compounds instead of struvite [15]. The optimum SI calculated for Ca:Mg = 0.8, NH₄:P = 3.5 and pH = 9 is 0.82 and its associated P removal percentage is 84.06. On the other hand, Ca:Mg = 1.2, NH₄:P = 2 and pH=9.5 will increase the P removal percentage to 90.83 but at the same time will lead to have a lower SI of 0.39. It can be concluded that keeping Ca:Mg lower than 1, NH₄:P higher than 3 and pH at 9 will achieve a better struvite precipitation at the expense of lower total phosphorus removal. Therefore, it seems that to achieve high P removal for meeting the limits, struvite precipitation process is not sufficient per se, since obtaining a purer struvite product leads to lower P removal percentage.

Predictor variable	Optimum value for Saturation index (SI)	Optimum value for P removal %
Ca:Mg	0.8	1.2
NH4:P	> 3.5	2
рН	9	9.5

Table 5.8. Optimum values (or ranges) for predictor variables

5.5. Conclusions

In this study, chemical modeling was used in combination with response surface methodology analysis in order to investigate the optimum conditions under which high phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite can be achieved. A Box-Behnken design was applied with pH, Ca:Mg and NH₄:P as the 3 predictor variables. The values of struvite saturation index calculated by the chemical equilibrium modeling software (PHREEQC) and phosphorus removal percentage were utilized as the system response variables. The results show the optimum values of pH=9, Ca:Mg=0.8, NH₄:P>3.5 and pH=9.5, Ca:Mg=1.2, NH₄:P=2 for SI and P removal percentage respectively. It can be concluded that in order to have higher phosphorus recovery in the form of struvite the Ca:Mg ratio needs to be kept under 1 and the pH at around 9. As the pH increases above 9, very high phosphorus removal percentage (>90%) can be achieved but the possibility of achieving high struvite precipitation diminishes.

The results of RSM and chemical modeling of struvite precipitation could be very helpful for the design of the precipitation process at pilot scale. Optimized values or ranges of the significant

process variables will lead to a more efficient and productive pilot design for recovering phosphorus in the form of struvite as a valuable product.

5.6. References

- 1. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A. G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Science & Technology*, **1993**, *28*(3–5), 69–78.
- Capodaglio, A. G.; Boguniewicz, J.; Llorens, E.; Salerno, F.; Copetti, D.; Legnani, E.; Tartari, G. Integrated lake/catchment approach as a basis for the implementation of the WFD in the Lake Pusiano watershed. *Conference on River Basin Management - Progress Towards Implementation of the European Water Framework Directive*, **2005**, 4(May), 77–86.
- 3. Cordell, D.; Drangert, J. O.; White, S. The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change*, **2009**, *19*(2), 292–305.
- Daneshgar, S.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A.; Vaccari, D. The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review. *Resources*, **2018a**, 7, 37.
- Desmidt, E.; Ghyselbrecht, K.; Zhang, Y.; Pinoy, L.; Van Der Bruggen, B.; Verstraete, W.; Meesschaert, B. Global phosphorus scarcity and full-scale P-recovery techniques: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, **2015**, *45*(4), 336–384.
- Daneshgar, S.; Buttafava, A.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A.G. Simulations and Laboratory Tests for Assessing Phosphorus Recovery Efficiency from Sewage Sludge. *Resources*, 2018b, 7, 54.
- Wang, J.; Burken, J. G.; Zhang, X. (Jackie); Surampalli, R. Engineered Struvite Precipitation: Impacts of Component-Ion Molar Ratios and pH. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 2005, 131(10), 1433–1440.
- Le Corre, K. S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S. A. Kinetics of struvite precipitation: Effect of the magnesium dose on induction times and precipitation rates. *Environmental Technology*, 2007, 28(12), 1317–1324.
- 9. Bhuiyan, M. I. H. Investigation into Struvite Solubility, Growth and Dissolution Kinetics in the Context of Phosphorus Recovery from Wastewater, **2007**, (October), 212.
- 10. Bhuiyan, M. I. H.; Mavinic, D. S.; Beckie, R. D. Nucleation and growth kinetics of struvite in a fluidized bed reactor. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **2008**, *310*(6), 1187–1194.
- 11. Morse, G. K.; Brett, S. W.; Guy, J. a, Lester, J. N. Phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. *The Science of the Total Environment*, **1998**, *212*, 69–81.
- 12. Lee, S. H.; Yoo, B. H.; Lim, S. J.; Kim, T. H.; Kim, S. K.; Kim, J. Y. Development and validation of an equilibrium model for struvite formation with calcium co-precipitation. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, **2013**, *372*, 129–137.
- 13. Türker, M.; Çelen, I. Removal of ammonia as struvite from anaerobic digester effluents

and recycling of magnesium and phosphate. *Bioresource Technology*, **2007**, *98*(8), 1529–1534.

- Harada, H.; Shimizu, Y.; Miyagoshi, Y.; Matsui, S.; Matsuda, T.; Nagasaka, T. Predicting struvite formation for phosphorus recovery from human urine using an equilibrium model. *Water Science and Technology*, **2006**, *54*(8), 247–255.
- 15. Capdevielle, A.; Sýkorová, E.; Biscans, B.; Béline, F.; Daumer, M. L. Optimization of struvite precipitation in synthetic biologically treated swine wastewater-Determination of the optimal process parameters. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **2013**, *244–245*, 357–369.
- 16. de Luna, M.D.G.; Abarca, R.R.M.; Su, C.C.; Huang, Y.H.; Lu, M. C. Multivariate optimization of phosphate removal and recovery from aqueous solution by struvite crystallization in a fluidized-bed reactor. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, **2015**, *55*(2), 496–505.
- 17. Shalaby, M. S. Modeling and Optimization of Phosphate Recovery from Industrial Wastewater and Precipitation of Solid Fertilizer using Experimental Design Methodology. *Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Quarterly Journal*, **2015**, *29*(1), 35–46.
- Ye, X.; Ye, Z. L.; Lou, Y.; Pan, S.; Wang, X.; Wang, M.K.; Chen, S. A comprehensive understanding of saturation index and upflow velocity in a pilot-scale fluidized bed reactor for struvite recovery from swine wastewater. *Powder Technology*, **2016**, *295*, 16– 26.
- 19. Box, G.E.P.; Behnken, D.W. Simplex-Sum Designs: A Class of Second Order Rotatable Designs Derivable from Those of First Order. *The Annals of Mathematical Statistics*, **1960**, *31*(4), 838–864.
- 20. Doyle, J.D.; Parsons, S.A. Struvite formation, control and recovery. *Water Research*, **2002**, *36*(16), 3925–3940.
- Hao, X.D.; Wang, C.C.; Lan, L.; Van Loosdrecht, M.C.M. Struvite formation, analytical methods and effects of pH and Ca 2+. *Water Science and Technology*, 2008, 58(8), 1687– 1692.
- 22. Borgerding, J. Phosphate Deposits in Digestion Systems. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, **1972**, 44(5), 813–819.
- 23. Galbraith, S.C.; Schneider, P.A.; Flood, A. E. Model-driven experimental evaluation of struvite nucleation, growth and aggregation kinetics. *Water Research*, **2014**, *56*, 122–132.
- 24. Le Corre, K. S. (**2006**). Understanding Struvite Crystallization and Recovery. PhD Thesis, School of Applied Science, Department of Sustainable Systems, Centre for Water Science, Cranfield University, Cranfield, UK.
- 25. Galbraith, S. C.; Schneider, P. A. Modelling and simulation of inorganic precipitation with nucleation, crystal growth and aggregation: A new approach to an old method. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, **2014**, *240*, 124–132.
- 26. Vaneeckhaute, C.; Claeys, F. H. A.; Tack, F. M. G.; Meers, E.; Belia, E.; Vanrolleghem, P. A. Development, implementation, and validation of a generic nutrient recovery model

Chapter 5: Statistical Optimization of Struvite Precipitation from Wastewater Sludge by Combining Chemical Modeling and Response Surface Methodology (RSM)

(NRM) library. Environmental Modelling and Software, 2018, 99, 170–209.

- Parkhurst, D. L.; Appelo, C. A. J. Description of Input and Examples for PHREEQC Version 3 — A Computer Program for Speciation, Batch-Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 6, chapter A43, 497 p. U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, 2013, Book 6, Chapter A43, 6–43A.
- 28. EPA, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Method 365.3: Phosphorus, all forms (colorimetric, ascorbic acid, two reagent), **1978**, accessible at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/.../method_365-3_1978.pdf (accessed on February 15th, 2016).
- 29. US Geological Survey, PHREEQC (Version 3) A computer program for speciation, batchreaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations, (https://wwwbrr.cr.usgs.gov/projects/GWC_coupled/phreeqc/) (accessed on October 30th, 2017)
- 30. Taylor, A. W.; Frazier, A. W.; Gurney, E. L. Solubility products of magnesium ammonium and magnesium potassium phosphates. *Transactions of the Faraday Society*, **1963**, *59*, 1580.
- 31. Johnsson, M. S.-A.; Nancollas, G. H. The Role of Brushite and Octacalcium Phosphate in Apatite Formation. *Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine*, **1992**, *3*(1), 61–82.
- Musvoto, E. V.; Wentzel, M. C. M.; Ekama, G. a M. Integrated Chemical + Physical Processes Modelling-ii. Simulating Aeration Treatment of Anaerobic Digester Supernatants, 2000, 34(6), 1868–1880.
- 33. Stumm, W.; Morgan, J.J.Aquatic Chemistry: An introduction emphasizing Chemical equilibria in Natural Waters. Wiley-Interscience, **1981**, New York, USA.
- 34. Lenth, R. V. Response-surface methods in R, using rsm. *Journal of Statistical Software*, **2012**, 32(7), 1–17.
- 35. Fang, C.; Zhang, T.; Jiang, R.; Ohtake, H. Phosphate enhance recovery from wastewater by mechanism analysis and optimization of struvite settleability in fluidized bed reactor. *Scientific Reports*, **2016**, 6(August), 1–10.
- Soptrajanov, B.; Stefov, V.; Lutz, H. D.; Engelen, B. Infrared and Raman Spectra of Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate Hexahydrate (struvite) and its Isomorphous Analogues. *Spectroscopy of Emerging Materials*, **2004**, (I), 299–308.
- Berzina-Cimdina, L.; Borodajenko, N. Research of Calcium Phosphates Using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. *Infrared Spectroscopy - Materials Science, Engineering* and Technology, 2012.
- 38. Dubberke, W.; Marks, V. J. Thermogravimetric Analysis of Carbonate Aggregate. *Transportation Research Record*, **1992**, (1362), 38–43. Retrieved from
- 39. Crutchik, D.; Garrido, J. M. Struvite crystallization versus amorphous magnesium and

calcium phosphate precipitation during the treatment of a saline industrial wastewater. *Water Science and Technology*, **2011**, *64*(12), 2460–2467.

<u>Chapter 6</u>

Pilot-Scale Study of Phosphate Precipitation Process from Synthetic Aerobic Sludge

In preparation for further submission.

6. Pilot-Scale Study of Phosphate Precipitation Process from Synthetic Aerobic Sludge

Saba Daneshgar¹, Armando Buttafava², Arianna Callegari¹, Andrea G. Capodaglio^{1,*}

¹ Dept. Of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Pavia, 27100 PAVIA, Italy; saba.daneshgar@unipv.it, arianna.callegari@unipv.it, andrea.capodaglio@unipv.it

² UNECO srl, 27100 PAVIA, Italy, armando.buttafava@unipv.it

* Correspondence: and rea. capodaglio@unipv.it; Tel.: +39-0382-985591

Abstract

Struvite precipitation is an excellent method for phosphorus recovery. It leads to the production of a mineral that has high value as a fertilizer. However, this process is not widely used at full scale due to its economic limitation. This study covers a pilot-scale experimentation of the phosphate precipitation paying attention to the effect of pH and reactor retention time. The pH of the solution was controlled using a PID-Time Proportional control system inside the reaction zone to deal with the acidification of the solution due to the crystallization process. Three retention times of 30, 60 and 120 minutes were considered at two levels of pH; 8.5 and 9.0. the results show that phosphorus removal is being affected mainly by the pH of the solution and is not much dependent on the retention time of the reactor. It rapidly decreases at the start of the reaction and then reaches to a stable state. It is also demonstrated that 30 minutes retention time is not enough for the completion of the reaction since there is still a high amount of NaOH required at the end of the retention time for the reaction to be completed, while this amount for RT of 60 and 120 minutes is considerably lower. The weight of the precipitates was increasing in time for all the experiments that means the crystals are growing. The RT of 60 minutes was not enough for the crystals to grow despite being almost sufficient for the reaction to be completed since only after 60-90 minutes the crystals start to grow considerably. The FTIR result did not present direct evidence of struvite in the obtained preciptates, however, there is the possibility of having a calcium phosphate-rich product as an alternative fertilizer to pure struvite.

Keywords: Pilot, Phosphorus Recovery, PID Control, Retention Time, Struvite Precipitation

6.1. Introduction

The environmental concern of the high phosphorus (P) concentration in water bodies has raised the attention towards its removal technologies [1,2]. This is particularly a more critical issue in "sensitive areas" where more stringent regulations are present for nutrients removal [3]. In addition, the increasing trend of P consumption for food production because of population growth and its limited and finite resources around the world, have increased the need for developing new technologies for its recovery [4]. The most common approach for P recovery that has been studied during past years is chemical precipitation mainly in the form of struvite or calcium phosphate [5,6]. Struvite (MgNH₄PO₄.6H₂O) is a white crystalline mineral that was initially considered as a potential problem in wastewater treatment facilities because of its spontaneous precipitation in equipment such as pumps and pipes. However, due to its high nutrients content and low solubility it could be used directly as a fertilize [7,8]. The process of struvite precipitation could be affected by many chemical and physical factors such as pH, Mg:NH₄:P molar ratios, initial concentration of P in the solution, agitation rate and retention time (RT) [9-11]. However, probably the most critical factor is the presence of other competitive ions, particularly calcium (Ca). Calcium in the reactor could make reactions with phosphate and carbonate ions and precipitate in the form of different calcium phosphate compounds and calcium carbonate (calcite). This factor makes a considerable impact on the purity of the final product. Amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) is the most probable form of calcium phosphate that could precipitate in such a system [12,13]. It could then be transformed to more stable forms such as tricalcium phosphate (TCP) and hydroxyapatite (HAP) in long retention time. Although, the main purpose is to recover struvite as pure as possible, ACP could also be used in the fertilizer industries because of its high P content [14,15].

Struvite precipitation process has been studied for many years using anaerobic digestion sludge where the P content is sufficiently high to achieve efficient struvite precipitation. However, some studies suggest the possibility of using aerobic sludge for this aim [16]. Typically, the P concentration entering the activated sludge stage in a wastewater treatment facility is around 1-7 mg/l, which is not sufficiently high for struvite precipitation. Nonetheless, the presence of polyphosphate accumulating organisms (PAOs) in the anaerobic zone leads to a high P release that is followed by a luxury uptake in the aerobic zone [17,18]. This P release makes the condition suitable for achieving struvite precipitation because of the increases P content in sludge that could be up to 3-7 % (dry basis).

While many studies on the struvite precipitation have been published so far, few works have been done on the process in pilot scale [19-23] and to the best knowledge of the authors, there is no study on the pilot scale process of struvite precipitation using the aerobic sludge. This is basically because aerobic sludge was not considered suitable enough for efficient struvite precipitation because of low phosphorus content in the sludge.

This study is based on previous research on aerobic sludge taken from Nosedo wastewater treatment plant, which is the largest facility serving the city of Milan in North Italy. Previous studies were focused on investigating struvite precipitation condition based on lab-scale experiments (Chapter 4). The experiments were designed with different levels of pH and various Mg:NH₄:P molar ratios and an extensive analysis has been conducted on the obtained precipitates to study different solid phases precipitating in operating conditions. A chemical equilibrium modeling of the process in combination with a statistical optimization approach has been studied to achieve optimum conditions under which high P removal and struvite precipitation could be achieved (Chapter 5). This paper presents the study of this process in pilot scale taking advantage of the results of both previous experimental and modeling studies and investigates the effect of different reaction parameters on the process efficiency at larger scale. The preliminary objectives of this study were first to implement a pilot-scale reactor being able to perform a crystallization reaction at constant level of pH (using a pH control system) and second to investigate the possibility of obtaining struvite or alternatively calcium phosphate precipitates as the final product.

6.2. Materials and Methods

6.2.1. Synthetic Aerobic Sludge

For the aim of this study, a synthetic solution has been made based on the characteristics of aerobic samples taken from Nosedo WRRF. Different salts have been added to the tap water for making the synthetic solution including MgCl₂.6H₂O, NH₄Cl, KH₂PO₄, CaCl₂.2H₂O, MgSO₄.7H₂O, Na₃PO₄. The reported value of Ca concentration in tap water was considered for making synthetic solution. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.6, which was the average pH of the aerobic sludge samples taken from the plant. Based on the previous studies on the process of struvite precipitation for aerobic sludge (Chapter 4) the Mg and NH₄ were added to the synthetic solution to keep the Mg:NH₄:P molar ratio at 5:5:1, which was the best condition obtained for struvite precipitation in lab scale in which direct evidence of struvite precipitation was visible through FTIR spectra.

6.2.2. Pilot Setup

A reactor with 200 L capacity has been used for the pilot scale experiments. It has a coneshaped area to facilitate the sedimentation of the crystals. The reactor consists of two parts that are separated from each other using an internal cylinder. The inner part is where the influent enters, and the reaction occurs after dosing with NaOH, while the outer part is where the sedimentation of the crystals takes place.

The influent's flowrate was adjusted to around 4, 2, 1 L/min to set retention times of 30, 60 and 120 minutes respectively. The influent was pumped to the top of the reactor where it was

dosed with NaOH 5 M solution to adjust the pH level required for the experiment. The mixed solution then was fed to the bottom of the reaction zone. The aeration system was used for the agitation of the solution in the reaction zone using two aeration pumps. Inside the reaction zone, the pH of the solution is also controlled due to acidification occurring after the process of crystallization. Adding NaOH solution at the top of the reactor basifies the influent solution at the desired pH of 8.5 or 9.0 influencing the equilibriums of the reactions 1-4. However, inside the reaction zone after beginning of the crystallization process the solution also inside the reactor where the process of precipitation occurs. Adding NaOH in the reaction zone is with the purpose of compensating the acidification process due to the reactions 5-7 and allows to measure quantitatively the progress of these reactions. Inside the reaction zone a less concentrated NaOH solution (0.5 M) was used to keep the condition under control. Figure 6.1 shows the scheme of the pilot.

$$OH^- + NH_4^+ \quad \leftrightarrow \quad H_2O + NH_3$$
 (1)

$$OH^- + H_2 P O_4^- \quad \leftrightarrow H_2 O + H P O_4^{2-} \tag{2}$$

$$0H^- + HPO_4^{2-} \leftrightarrow H_2O + PO_4^{3-} \tag{3}$$

$$OH^- + HCO_3^- \leftrightarrow H_2O + CO_3^{2-} \tag{4}$$

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + HPO_4^{2-} + 6H_2O \iff MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + H^+$$
 (5)

$$Mg^{2+} + NH_4^+ + H_2PO_4^- + 6H_2O \leftrightarrow MgNH_4PO_4.6H_2O + 2H^+$$
 (6)

$$3Ca^{2+} + 2HPO_4^{2-} \leftrightarrow Ca_3(PO_4)_2 + 2H^+$$
 (7)





Figure 6.1. Scheme of the pilot plant.

6.2.3. Equipment and Analytical Tools

The influent flow rate was adjusted to 4,2,1 L/min. The solution of NaOH was added to the top of the reactor using STEPDOS FEM 08 chemically-resistant diaphragm metering pump, while for the pH control inside the reaction zone SHENCHEN BT100N peristaltic pump was used for NaOH dosage. The pH at both stations was monitored using DFROBOT Analog pH sensor/meter SEN0161.

The phosphorus measurements were conducted based on EPA 365.3 method [24] using Spectroquant PHARO 100 MERCK UV-VIS spectrophotometer. For the calcium measurements MERCK 111110 Titrimetric method was used [25]. The analysis of the precipitates was done using Fourier Transform Spectroscopy (FTIR) (Perkin Elmer 1600 series).

6.2.4. pH Control System

One of the most critical parameters in the study of struvite precipitation is the pH. It is also one of the hardest parameters to control due its nonlinear variations affected by many factors. Both pH measurements were monitored continuously using two pH probes. The probes were connected to an Arduino board through the analog input pins. The pH at the top of the reactor was controlled with a continuous flow of NaOH solution to keep the pH at desired value of the experiments.

In order to control the pH inside the reaction zone, a PID-Time Proportional control system was designed using the Arduino board. Proportional-Integral-Derivative (PID) controller is a widely used control loop feedback algorithm. PID system calculates an error value (ϵ), which is the difference between a set point (SP) and a measured value of a variable (y). Then it applies a correction factor based on proportional (K_P), integral (K_i) and derivative (Kd) terms. In the case of pH control, first the difference between desired pH value of the experiment and the measured value by the probe is calculated. The system then calculates the output of the PID control function. This output is a correction term of the error and thus it is still in the scale of the pH. However, this output needs to be converted to a time-domain format in order to be fed to the peristaltic pump used for the NaOH dosage. On the other hand, the output will tell the pump for how much time it needs to be open to have enough NaOH flowing to the system for pH adjustment. For this aim, a time proportional control algorithm was used. Time proportional control is a mathematical technique that is used to convert a continuous control output variable (pH control) to time-proportioned discrete output control variable (pump on/off time). Following equations demonstrate the basic functions of the PID controller system.

$$\varepsilon(t) = SP - y(t) \tag{8}$$

$$u(t) = K_p \varepsilon(t) + K_i \int_0^t \varepsilon(\tau) d(\tau) + K_d \frac{d\varepsilon(t)}{dt}$$
(9)

The equation (9) can also be parametrized in the following form:

$$u(t) = K(\varepsilon(t) + \frac{1}{T_i} \int_0^t \varepsilon(\tau) d(\tau) + T_d \frac{d\varepsilon(t)}{dt})$$
(10)

Where T_i and T_d are integral time and derivative time respectively.

By increasing the proportional gain, the error will decrease but the oscillation of the system will increase. Adding the integral term will improve the output signal by decreasing the steady-state error. However, by using a PI control, the system could still have a large overshoot, which is the distance between the maximum peak of the signal and the set point. By adding a derivative term this problem could be solved. Nonetheless, the value of these parameters needs to be obtained carefully. If the T_d is too large the derivative term does not help the system and it leads to high oscillation. Very large values of T_i will also increase the error [26].

The appropriate values of K_p , T_i and T_d could be obtained through different methods. One the most common approaches for tuning the parameters is the Ziegler-Nichols method developed in

1940s [27] which is used in this study. Based on this method, one first sets both integral and derivative terms to zero and increases the proportional term (K_p) until it reaches its ultimate gain (K_u). At this point, the output of the system has a constant oscillation. Then the ultimate gain as well as the oscillation period (T_u) are used to calculate the parameters according to the Table 6.1.

Control type	Kp	Ti	Td
Р	0.5Ku	-	-
PI	0.45Ku	Tu/1.2	-
PD	0.8K _u	-	T _u /8
PID	0.6Ku	Tu/2	Tu/8

Table 6.1. Ziegler-Nichols coefficients for Proportional, Integral, and Derivative terms.

The control system is programmed in the Arduino programming language, which is a set of C/C++ functions to be called inside the Arduino Integrated Development Environment (IDE). The Arduino is connected to the pH probes using specific pH sensors designed for converting the values measured by the probe to the analog input. Figure 6.2 shows the scheme of the pH control circuit using the Arduino board.



Figure 6.2. The scheme of the Arduino circuit used for pH control system.

6.2.5. Experimental Setup

The experiments have been conducted considering the variations of two parameters; pH level, and retention time of the reactor. All the experiments have been done using the Mg:NH₄:P molar ratio of 5:5:1 according to the best results of the previous studies. Table 6.2 shows different runs of the experiments with their corresponding pH and retention time values. For each experiment, 3 retention time is considered. The first one takes for the reactor to be filled with the solution, followed by two retention times in which the reaction is continuously happening inside the reactor. After this point the inflow is stopped, and the reaction is continued until its completion (Figure 6.3). At this point there must be no further change in the pH of the solution and there will be just the growth and aggregation of the crystals. The phosphorus concentration was measured every 7.5 minutes for the RT of 30 minutes and every 15 minutes for the RT of 60 and 120 minutes. At each point of sampling, a sample of crystal suspension have also been taken for the FTIR analysis and to check qualitatively the enlargement of the crystals through filtration with 2.5 µm filters. The filtered solids are dried at the room temperature.

Run	рН	Retention time (min)
1	8.5	30
2	9.0	30
3	8.5	60
4	9.0	60
5	8.5	120
6	9.0	120

Table 6.2. Experiments conducted in this study with their corresponding pH and RT.



Figure 6.3. Nucleation, growth and aggregation of the crystals inside reaction zone.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. pH control

The PID-Time proportional system showed a very decent control of pH in these experiments. The ultimate gain (K_u) obtained was 20 and oscillation period (T_u) was set to 20 seconds. Figure 6.4 shows the controlled value of the pH compared to the desired pH value as the set point of the control system. However, some small fluctuations are also visible that apart from the small error of the control system, could probably be due to the presence of air particles flowing around the pH probe.





6.3.2. Effect of pH

The most important effect of pH on the reaction is on the phosphorus removal percentage. Figure 6.5 shows the phosphorus concentration trend in time for all experiments. It is observed that phosphorus concentration decreases rapidly with the start of the reaction and then reaches to a nearly stable state. This means that phosphorus precipitation is mainly related to the pH of the system and not much depends on the retention time of the reaction. This can be noted also with the similar phosphorus concentration of the experiments with the same pH value but different retention times. As it is expected the P removal is higher at pH=9, however it needs more NaOH solution to be added to the system to keep the pH at higher level.



Figure 6.5. Phosphorus concentration trend with respect to the time of the reaction.

6.3.3. Effect of Retention Time

The experiments were conducted with the continuous influent flow rate for three retention times. Then the inflow was interrupted and the NaOH added inside the reaction zone was kept monitored afterwards. Figure 6.6 shows the cumulative mmol of NaOH added inside the reactor to control the pH of the reaction (data not available for the first 40 mins in the experiment with pH=9.0, RT30'). For all the experiments (except for experiments with RT of 30 minutes) the graph reaches a plateau approximately at the point where the inflow was interrupted, after three RTs. This mean that at this point the reaction is complete and the pH of the system is not decreasing anymore due the effect of reactions 5-7, thus no NaOH is added to the solution. However, in the experiments with RT of 30 minutes the NaOH flow inside the reaction zone continues after the interruption of influent (at pH=9.0 it reaches a plateau in 100 mins). It can be concluded that 30 minutes of retention time is not enough for the reaction to be completed, while it is done before 60 minutes. Comparing the experiments 2 and 3 (60 minutes of RT), there is a noticeable difference in the amount of NaOH required for completion of the reaction at pH=8.5 and 9.0. This difference is also visible between experiments 4 and 5 with RT of 120 minutes. more NaOH consumption means more progress of the reactions 5-7 at pH=9.0 with respect to pH=8.5 (more formation of precipitates).



Figure 6.6. Cumulative NaOH added to the system for pH control with respect to the time of the reaction.

Figure 6.7 demonstrates the mmol of NaOH added to the system after stopping the inflow (3 RTs). This could be interpreted as the amount of NaOH required for the reaction to be completed after the completion of the retention time of the reactor. It can be seen a large difference between three RTs used in this study at pH 8.5. This confirms that 30 minutes are not enough for the reaction to be completed since there is a big amount of NaOH added to the system after this point. This amount is considerably lower for experiments with RT=120 minutes and for the same RT is lower at pH=9.0., which could mean that the reaction at higher RT reaches to a greater degree of completion within the retention time and that the process is accelerated by a high pH level. Therefore, based on these results, a retention time of around 60-90 minutes could be enough for the reaction to be completed.



Figure 6.7. Amount of NaOH added to the solution after 3 retention times.

The weight of solids retained on the 2.5 μ m filters is presented in the Figure 6.8. For all the experiments the graph has an increasing trend, which could mean that the crystals are growing

in time. There is a clear differentiation between the growth of the crystals at pH=8.5, which obtained by filtration after 100 minutes, while at pH=9.0 they are already retained at 50-60 minutes. Moreover, the growth of the crystals, under the same pH condition, is greater at RT of 60 minutes than RT of 120 minutes as an effect of the higher quantity of reagents (higher influent flow rate and consequently more quantity of P in unit of time) that enter the system at lower RT (the one with pH=9.0 and RT of 30' has lower values due to the interruption occurred in the first 40 mins of the experiment).



Figure 6.8. Weight of the retained solids collected after the filtration.

6.3.4. Analysis of the Precipitates

The analysis of the precipitates using FTIR showed similar spectrum for all the experiments (Figure 6.9). On the contrary to what was expected there was no direct evidence of the presence of struvite based on the FTIR. The associated peaks of phosphate groups and H-bonds are visible around 1000-1100 cm⁻¹ and 3400-3500 cm⁻¹ respectively [28]. Although in the range of 1200 to 2000 cm⁻¹ the visible peaks could not be assigned certainly to the struvite. Two peaks at around 1400-1500 cm⁻¹ could be related to H-N-H bond in the struvite and to the carbonate group resulting from the precipitation of calcite [29]. The other peak at around 1650 cm⁻¹ could be associated to the amorphous calcium phosphate. This result is not in accordance with the labscale results in which direct evidence of struvite precipitation was observed for the experiments with 5:5:1 molar ratio. This could be because of the synthetic solution that was used in this pilot study instead of real aerobic sludge. There is a possibility of the presence of inhibitors for the precipitation of calcium phosphate could still be suitable for obtaining a product with a value to be used as fertilizer [30].



Figure 6.9. FTIR spectrum of one of the samples taken from the pilot reactor.

To have a better understanding, some experiments have been conducted using sodium alginate $((C_6H_7NaO_6)_n)$ to see its effect as an inhibitor for the calcium phosphate precipitation. The calcium concentration prior adding the alginate was measured as 100 mg/L. Then, 50 ml of 0.3% sodium alginate solution was added to 1 L of the synthetic solution. After 18 hours the calcium concentration was measured as 80 mg/L. Therefore, a 20% reduction in calcium concentration was observed. This could be a justification for the struvite precipitation observed from the real aerobic sludge, which might contain organic substances that could act as inhibitors for the calcium phosphate precipitation. These experiments also demonstrate the high potential of using alginate for blocking the calcium ions in wastewater to increase the possibility of struvite precipitation instead.

6.4. Conclusions

A pilot reactor for the process of struvite precipitation has been implemented in this study. The experimental setup of the study considered 5:5:1 molar ratio for Mg:NH₄:P, which was the one with the best results in the previous lab-scale studies. Three retention times of 30, 60, and 120 have been studied at two levels of pH; 8.5 and 9.0. the pH of the system was controlled using a PID-Time Proportional control system implemented by means of an Arduino microcontroller and pH sensors. For this study a synthetic solution was made based on the characteristics of the aerobic sludge samples used in the previous studies.

The results of pH control system showed an excellent pH control that was able to keep the desired pH level of the solution as constant as possible. The preliminary results of the pilot experimentation show that phosphorus removal is highly dependent on the pH of the solution and the retention time of the reactor does not have a great impact on that. The phosphorus concentration rapidly decreases after the start of the reaction and then reaches to a stable state. However, the retention time of the reactor was observed as an important factor. It was observed that 30 minutes of RT was not enough for the reaction to be completed, it is not long enough for

the crystal to grow substantially and only after 60-90 minutes they are large enough to be filtered in abundance.

The FTIR of the obtained precipitates did not show direct evidence of struvite precipitation. It is expected that the potential difference between characteristics of the synthetic solution used in this work with the real aerobic sludge resulted in calcium phosphate and carbonates to precipitate in the system. Adding sodium alginate to the synthetic solution resulted in a 20% reduction in calcium concentration that could confirm the potential of struvite precipitation in real aerobic sludge in presence of calcium phosphate inhibitors. Using sodium alginate also showed a potential for increasing struvite precipitation possibility by blocking calcium ions in the solution. Nonetheless, this result showed the possibility of having calcium phosphate in the final precipitate that could be a suitable alternative to pure struvite in fertilizer industry.

6.5. Future Studies

As the future study, two new sets of experiments will be conducted. First, the molar ratio of 3:3:1 for Mg:NH₄:P will be investigated to compare with the previous results obtained by the labscale experimental studies. Second, the possibility of using Ca(OH)₂ as an economic pH adjustment reagent will be studied in the pilot-scale. Based on the lab-scale studies, it is expected to obtain an ACP-rich precipitates using Ca(OH)₂, which could be a suitable alternative fertilizer to the pure struvite due to its high phosphorus content. In addition, an in-depth study on the analysis of the precipitates using FTIR, TGA-MS, ICP-AES and Elemental Analysis will be done to investigate the presence of different solid phases in the final precipitates obtained during the pilot study. All the results will be presented as a published work.

6.6. References

- 1. Bendoricchio, G.; Di Luzio, M.; Baschieri, P.; Capodaglio, A.G. Diffuse pollution in the Lagoon of Venice. *Water Science and Technology* **1993**, 28(3-5), 69-78.
- Capodaglio, A.G.; Muraca, A.; Becchi, G. Accounting for water quality effects of future urbanization: Diffuse pollution loads estimates and control in Mantua's Lakes (Italy). *Water Science and Technology* 2003, 47(7-8), 291-298.
- Council Directive 91/271/EEC, Official Journal of the European Communities, 1991, 135/40. Available online: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:31991L0271&from=EN (accessed on 20 April 2017).
- Daneshgar S.; Callegari, A.; Capodaglio, A. G.; Vaccari, D. The Potential Phosphorus Crisis: Resource Conservation and Possible Escape Technologies: A Review. *Resources* 2018a, 7(2), 37.

- Desmidt, E.; Ghyselbrecht, K.; Zhang, Y.; Pinoy, L.; Van Der Bruggen, B.; Verstraete, W.; Meesschaert, B. Global phosphorus scarcity and full-scale P-recovery techniques: A review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 2015, 45(4), 336–384.
- 6. Morse, G. K.; Brett, S. W.; Guy, J. A.; Lester, J. N. Phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. *The Science of the Total Environment* **1998**, 212, 69–81.
- Le Corre, K. S.; Valsami-Jones, E., Hobbs, P.; Parsons, S. A. Phosphorus Recovery from Wastewater by Struvite Crystallization: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 2009, 39(6), 433–477.
- 8. Rahaman, M. S.; Mavinic, D. S.; Meikleham, A.; Ellis, N. Modeling phosphorus removal and recovery from anaerobic digester supernatant through struvite crystallization in a fluidized bed reactor. *Water Research* **2014**, 51, 1–10.
- 9. Doyle, J. D.; Parsons, S. A. Struvite formation, control and recovery. *Water Research* **2002**, 36(16), 3925–3940.
- 10. Jaffer, Y.; Clark, T.A.; Pearce, P.; Parsons, S.A. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. *Water Res.* **2002**, *36*, 1834–1842.
- 11. Nelson, N.O.; Mikkelsen, R.L.; Hesterberg, D.L. Struvite precipitation in anaerobic swine lagoon liquid: effect of pH and Mg:P ratio and determination of rate constant. *Bioresource Technology*, **2003**, 89, 229-236.
- 12. Çelen, I.; Buchanan, J. R.; Burns, R. T.; Bruce Robinson, R.; Raj Raman, D. Using a chemical equilibrium model to predict amendments required to precipitate phosphorus as struvite in liquid swine manure. *Water Research* **2007**, 41(8), 1689–1696.
- Musvoto, E. V; Wentzel, M. C. M.; Ekama, G. a M. Integrated Chemical Physical Processes Modelling II. Simulating Aeration Treatment of Anaerobic Digester Supernatants. *Water Research* 2000 34(6), 1868–1880.
- 14. Muster, T.H.; Douglas G.B.; Sherman, N.; Seeber, A.; Wright, N.; Guzukara, Y. Towards effective phosphorus recycling from wastewater: Quantity and quality. *Chemosphere* **2013**, 91, 676-684,
- 15. Johnston, A.E.; Richards, I.R. Effectiveness of different precipitated phosphate as phosphorus source for plants. *Soil Use and Management* **2003**, 19, 45-49,
- 16. Angela, M.; Biscans, B.; Sperandio, M. Biologically induced phosphorus precipitation in aerobic granular sludge process. *Water Research*, **2011**, 45 (12). pp. 3776-3786.
- 17. Barnard, J. A review of biological phosphorus removal in the activated sludge process. *Water SA* **1976**, 2(3), 136-144.
- 18. Levin, G.; Shapiro, J. Metabolic uptake of phosphorus by wastewater organisms. *Journal of Water Pollution Control Federation*, **1965**, 37, 6, 800-821.
- 19. Le Corre, K.S.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Hobbs, P.; Jefferson, B.; Parsons, S.A. Struvite crystallization and recovery using a stainless-steel structure as a seed material. *Water Research*, **2007**, 41, 2449-2456.

- Song, Y.; Qiu, G.; Yuan, P.; Cui, X.; Peng, J.; Zeng, P.; Duan, L.; Xiang, L.; Qian, F. Nutrients removal and recovery from anaerobically digested swine wastewater by struvite crystallization without chemical additions. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **2011**, 190, 140-149.
- Pastor, L.; Mangin, D.; Barat, R.; Seco, A. A pilot-scale study of struvite precipitation in a stirred tank reactor: conditions influencing the process. *Bioresource Technology*, 2008, 99, 6285-6291.
- 22. Bowers, K.E.; Westerman, P.W. Performance of cone-shaped fluidized bed struvite crystallizers in removing phosphorus from wastewater. *American Society of Agricultural Engineers*, **2005**, 48(3), 1227-1234.
- 23. Suzuki, K.; Tanaka, Y.; Kuroda, K.; Hanajima, D.; Fukumoto, Y.; Yasuda, T.; Waki, M. Removal and recovery of phosphorus from swine wastewater by demonstration crystallization reactor and struvite accumulation device. *Bioresource Technology*, **2007**, 98, 1573-1578.
- 24. EPA, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Method 365.3: Phosphorus, all forms (colorimetric, ascorbic acid, two reagent), **1978**, accessible at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/.../method_365-3_1978.pdf (accessed on February 15th, 2016).
- 25. MERCK, MColortest, 111110, Calcium Test, information available at : http://www.merckmillipore.com/GB/en/product/Calcium-Test,MDA_CHEM-111110#anchor_PI (accessed on September 15th, 2018).
- 26. Astrom, K.; Hagglund, T. PID Controllers: Theory, Design, and Tuning. Second Edition, Instrument Society of America, Research Triangle Park, NC, USA, **1995**.
- 27. Ziegler, J.G.; Nichols, N.B. Optimum settings for automatic controllers. *Transactions of A.S.M.E*, **1942**, 759-768.
- Soptrajanov, B.; Stefov, V.; Lutz, H. D.; Engelen, B. Infrared and Raman Spectra of Magnesium Ammonium Phosphate Hexahydrate (struvite) and its Isomorphous Analogues. *Spectroscopy of Emerging Materials*, **2004**, (I), 299–308.
- 29. Berzina-Cimdina, L.; Borodajenko, N. Research of Calcium Phosphates Using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. *Infrared Spectroscopy Materials Science, Engineering and Technology*, **2012**.
- 30. Muster, T.H.; Douglas G.B.; Sherman, N.; Seeber, A.; Wright, N.; Guzukara, Y. Towards effective phosphorus recycling from wastewater: Quantity and quality. *Chemosphere* **2013**, 91, 676-684,

Chapter 7

Conclusions

7. Conclusions

The process of struvite precipitation for phosphorus recovery from wastewater sludge has been studied for many years so far. The dewatered sludge after the anaerobic digestion was mostly the main stream used for struvite precipitation due to its high phosphorus content. However, this thesis has focused on the possibility of using the aerobic sludge taken from the activated sludge stage of a wastewater treatment facility for this aim. Knowing the insufficient phosphorus content for struvite precipitation in the influent of typical municipal wastewater plants, the focus of the study was on the sludge inside the biological nutrient removal process. the anaerobic zone in the biological process is where the phosphorus release is happening, and it is followed then by a luxury uptake of phosphorus in the aerobic zone. Therefore, this sludge has enough phosphorus content for implementing the struvite precipitation if the required operating conditions are provided. This thesis has investigated this possibility through an indepth experimentation and optimization study of the struvite precipitation using the aerobic sludge.

First, a literature review on the importance of phosphorus and the need for its recovery was studied. The current situation for consumption and production of phosphate rock as the main source of phosphorus has been presented. It was concluded that the current trend of the population growth and its inevitable need for more food production will lead to the complete depletion of phosphate rock resources in the future (by 2300 for the best scenario). This fact, as well as phosphorus environmental concern due to its highly concentrated discharges in the water bodies, has raised the attention of scientists and engineers to developing new technologies for phosphorus removal and recovery. The state-of-art studies on different phosphorus recovery technologies have been presented and struvite precipitation as one of the most dominant methods for this aim has been reviewed. Some other more recent promising technologies such as assimilation and membrane bioreactors have also been presented.

In the next step, the process of struvite precipitation was studied through many experimentations considering different chemical parameters affecting the efficiency of the process. The effects of pH, Mg:NH₄:P molar ratio and presence of calcium (Ca) as a competitive ion in particular, have been taken into account. It was concluded that the pH was the most important factor that has a significant effect on process. The P removal percentage was increased with the increase of pH and up to 94% P removal at pH=9.5 was achieved using NaOH for the pH adjustment. However, the analysis of the final precipitates demonstrated that the pH level is also affecting the type of precipitates obtained. At pH levels above 9.0 there was no direct evidence of the presence of struvite in the final precipitates and the analysis suggested that the solids are the mixture of struvite, amorphous calcium phosphate (ACP) and calcite. The best results were

for the experimentation with 5:5:1 molar ratio of Mg:NH₄:P at pH=8.5 and 9.0. it was concluded that for significant struvite precipitation using the aerobic sludge both Mg and NH₄ needs to be added to the system in high amounts. The possibility of using Ca(OH)₂ as an economic pH adjustment reagent was also studied. As a result, Ca(OH)₂ did not show favorable results for struvite precipitation in spite of having higher P removal percentage (up to 99%). However, it was suggested that at pH=8.5 using Ca(OH)₂ could lead to obtaining precipitates containing a small amount of struvite and high amount of ACP. These precipitates can still be used in the fertilizer industry due their high P content as an alternative to pure struvite. For this aim the pH level needs to be kept less than 9 since after this point the calcite precipitation is significantly increased.

The process of struvite precipitation was also modeled using chemical equilibrium modeling and statistical optimization. PHREEQC chemical equilibrium modeling tools was used for this aim. The results of the PHREEQC were presented as the predicted P removal percentage and saturation index (SI) values for the possible solid phases precipitating in the operating conditions of the experiments. Based on the SI values obtained for struvite, it was concluded that using aerobic sludge, generally the possibility of having significant struvite precipitation is low. This could be due to the relatively lower P content in aerobic sludge compared to anaerobic one. High calcium content of the wastewater sludge is another important obstacle in the way of obtaining a pure struvite precipitate at the end of the process. The model confirmed the previous experimental results predicting the highest value of struvite SI for the experiment where both Mg and NH₄ was added to the system in high amounts.

Statistical optimization of the struvite precipitation process was conducted using Response Surface Methodology (RSM) implemented in R programming language. Three parameters were chosen as the predictor variables; pH, NH₄:P and Ca:Mg molar ratios. A Box-Behnken design was used in order to investigate the significant parameters impact on two response variables; struvite SI value calculated by the PHREEQC and P removal percentage observed for each experiment. The results of the statistical optimization suggested the optimum value of pH=9, Ca:Mg=0.8, NH₄:P>3.5 and pH=9.5, Ca:Mg=1.2, NH₄:P=2 for SI and P removal percentage respectively. It was concluded that in order to have higher struvite precipitation Ca:Mg ratio needs to be kept under 1 that was also aligned with the other literature works. It was also seen that above pH=9 the possibility of struvite precipitation is highly diminished, and the process was affected by ACP and calcite precipitation significantly.

Finally, a pilot study of the process of struvite precipitation was investigated to see the efficiency of the process in larger scale. A pilot reactor with 120 L capacity was used that was fed with a synthetic solution. For the aim of this study the synthetic solution was made based on the real characteristics of the aerobic sludge samples taken for the previous lab-scale studies. The

effects of pH and retention time of the reactor were studied. The experiments were conducted using 5:5:1 molar ratio for Mg:NH₄:P at pH=8.5 and 9.0. three retention time of 30, 60 and 120 minutes have studied in order to investigate the process. The pH of the system was controlled at two points of the reactor. One at the top of the reactor where the synthetic solution is mixed with a continuous addition of NaOH and the other inside the reaction zone of the system where the pH is constantly decreasing in the time of the reaction due to the acidification of the solution after crystallization. The control system of the pH was made using a PID-Time proportional control system implemented with an Arduino microcontroller connected to a pH sensor. The results of the PID-Time proportional control showed a very decent control of the pH inside the reaction zone and was able to keep the pH of the system at the desired level until the completion of the reaction. the preliminary results of the pilot study showed that P removal is highly affected by the pH of the solution is not much related to the retention time of the reactor. It showed a rapid decrease just after the reaction begins and then reaches to a stable phase. It was also concluded that RT of 30 minutes is not enough for the reaction to be completed since there is high amount of NaOH needed for the continuation of the reaction after this retention time. It was observed that 60 minutes of retention time could be sufficient for the completion of the reaction. However, it is only after 60-90 minutes that the crystals are growing considerably. In addition, the growth of the crystals, at the same level of pH, is higher for RT of 60 than 120 due to the higher quantity of reagents in unit of time for lower RT (higher influent flow rate). Although there was not a direct evidence of the presence of struvite in the final precipitates based on the FTIR spectra, there is a decent possibility of having a precipitate with high calcium phosphate content that could be an appropriate alternative to pure struvite in fertilizer industry. Furthermore, the use of sodium alginate as an inhibitor for the calcium phosphate precipitation showed the reduction of 20% in calcium concentration in the synthetic solution. This could explain the absence of direct evidence for struvite precipitation in pilot experiments due to the presence of organic substances acting as calcium phosphate inhibitors in the real aerobic sludge.

As a future work, the study of pilot scale experimentation will be continued with additional experimental setup. One set of experiment will be studied on the 3:3:1 molar ratio of Mg:NH₄:P to compare the results with the previous lab-scale studies. Another important set of experiments will include utilization of Ca(OH)₂ as the pH reagent instead of NaOH to study the effectiveness of that on the process of struvite precipitation. Based on the previous lab-scale studies, it is expected that an alternative precipitate mainly consisting ACP will be obtained that has a decent value to be used in the fertilizer industry, although not as good as pure struvite. An in-depth analysis of the obtained precipitates using FTIR, TGA-MS, ICP-AES and Elemental analysis will be also implemented to complete the preliminary FTIR results of the pilot study and identify the solid phases precipitating in the pilot reactor. All the results will be presented as a published paper.